

Macon-Bibb County Government

Policies and Procedures Manual

CONTENTS

SECT	ION 1: MACON-BIBB COUNTY GOVERNMENT	5
1.01	Introduction	6
1.02	Applicability of Policies	7
1.03	Constitutional Officers, Elected Officials and Their Employees	8
1.04	Election of Coverage by Constitutional Officers and Elected Officers	fficials9
1.05	Equal Opportunity Employment and Harassment	10
1.06	Code of Ethics	15
1.07	Open Door Policy	18
1.08	Emergency Procedures	19
1.09	Inclement Weather	21
SECT	ION 2: HUMAN RESOURCES	23
2.01	Classification of Employees	24
2.02	Employment At Will	26
2.03	Job Postings	27
2.04	Nepotism	29
2.05	Separation From Employment	31
2.06	Background Check	33
SECT	ION 3: LEGAL NOTICES	34
3.01	Americans With Disabilities Act (ADA)	35
3.02	Break Time For Nursing Mothers	39
3.03	Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA)	40
3.04	Limited English Proficiency Policy Statement	51
3.05	Privacy	53
3.06	Title VI Compliance	56
3.07	Whistleblowers	60
	Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013	MBCG Policies and Procedures

SEC	ΓΙΟΝ 4: PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT	61
4.01	Disciplinary Action	62
4.02	Employee Problem Solving Procedure	74
4.03	Evaluations and Compensation Decisions	85
SEC	ΓΙΟΝ 5: EMPLOYEE BENEFITS	91
5.01	Employee Assistance Program	92
5.02	Employee Service Awards	93
5.03	Health and Welfare Benefits	94
5.04	Holiday Pay	98
5.05	Retirement Benefits	100
SEC	FION 6: EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES	101
6.01	Arrest, Indictment, Conviction	102
6.02	Attendance and Absenteeism	104
6.03	Customer Service	107
6.04	Employee Dress Code	109
6.05	Health and Safety	110
6.06	On Call Policy	111
6.07	Second Jobs	112
6.08	Solicitation	113
6.09	Tobacco Use And Cessation	115
6.10	Travel	116
6.11	Work Place Violence	126
6.12	Zero Tolerance Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace	128
SEC	FION 7: COMPENSATION	140
7.01	Anniversary Date and Bridging of Service	141
7.02	Compensatory Time	142
	Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013	MBCG Policies and Procedures

7.03	Compressed Work Week and Timekeeping	.143
7.04	Deductions From Pay and Direct Deposit	.145
7.05	Overtime Pay	.147
7.06	Recording Hours Worked, Pay Periods	.154
7.07	Wage and Salary Administration	.155
SECT	ION 8: LEAVE	.161
8.01	Annual	.162
8.02	Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA)	.166
8.03	Funeral Leave	.172
8.04	Jury Duty	.173
8.05	Sick Leave Bank	.174
8.06	Military	.178
8.07	Sick Leave	.184
SECT	ION 9: USE OF MBCG PROPERTY	.186
9.01	Anti-idling	.187
9.02	Computer Usage	.189
9.03	Green Computing/Printer	.197
9.04	Personal Hand-Held Devices	.204
9.05	Social Media	.206
9.06	Telephone	.211
9.07	Use of Vehicles	.213
SECT	ION 10: ANNEXES	.227
10.01	Organizational Chart	.228
10.02	Request/Report Time Off	.229

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

SECTION 1: MACON-BIBB COUNTY GOVERNMENT

POLICY	NUMBER
Introduction	1.01
Applicability of Policies	1.02
Constitutional Officers, Elected Officials and Their Employees	1.03
Election of Coverage by Constitutional Officers or Elected Officials	1.04
Equal Opportunity Employment and Harassment Policies	1.05
Code of Ethics	1.06
Open Door Policy	1.07
Emergency Procedures	1.08
Inclement Weather	1.09

INTRODUCTION

General

This personnel policy manual is being provided to you as a source of information for a variety of human resources issues, programs, and policies. This manual is for informational purposes only and is not intended as an employment contract or guarantee of benefits. Macon-Bibb County Government (MBCG) reserves the right to alter, amend, modify, change, or delete any of the policies, practices, or benefits described in this manual at any time, with or without notice. When portions of this manual are revised or deleted entirely, department heads and supervisors will receive notification of the changes. In addition, notification of the changes will be posted on MBCG bulletin boards and the MBCG website's employee page. Once changes have been communicated, all employees are expected to comply with the changes.

This policy manual provides a summary of the rules and regulations that govern our relationship, and provides information on what is expected of you, guidance on how to resolve any work-related problems that may arise, and the standards by which performance is evaluated. We expect a lot from our employees. It is our belief that high standards, competitive compensation and benefits will inspire our employees to perform at their best at all times. Should you have any questions concerning any of the material in this manual, please contact the Human Resources Department.

Welcome

Welcome to the Macon-Bibb County Government. We are grateful for the opportunity to provide you with a good job and hope that your time here will be rewarding for you, your family, and the citizens of Macon-Bibb County. You are now part of a team that is devoted to serving its citizens with efficiency, integrity, and exemplary customer service, which is our highest priority.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

APPLICABILITY OF POLICIES TO THE OFFICES OF CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICERS AND INDEPENDENT ELECTED OFFICIALS

It is the policy of the MBCG that where Constitutional Officers and independent elected officials wish for the employees of their respective offices to be covered by this Policies and Procedures Manual, a written election form shall be completed by such officials and submitted to the Mayor and County Commission for consideration and approval.

If employees of Constitutional Officers or independent elected officials desire to determine whether a particular official has opted in to this Manual, they may do so by contacting the Human Resources Department.

CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICERS, INDEPENDENT ELECTED OFFICIALS AND THEIR EMPLOYEES

While applicants to positions under the jurisdiction of Constitutional Officers and independent elected officials, and employees of Constitutional Officers and independent elected officials are not covered under the MBCG Policies and Procedures Manual, unless such officer or official in accordance with this Manual has opted in to coverage for their employees, they are covered by all applicable federal and state laws, including those governing equal opportunity and non-discrimination. If applicants or employees of Constitutional officers or independent elected officials desire to determine whether a particular officer or official has opted in to coverage under this Manual, they may do so by contacting the Human Resources Department.

ELECTION OF COVERAGE BY A CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICER OR INDEPENDENT ELECTED OFFICIAL

I hereby make the following election regarding Manual (select ONE):	g the MBCG Policies and Procedures
☐ I elect to have the employees of my office of the MBCG Policies and Procedures Ma	
☐ I elect to have the employees of my off terms of the MBCG Policies and Proceeding to hiring, discipline, and the (grievance) Procedure; OR	edures Manual, EXCEPT the sections
☐ I elect NOT to have the employees of my electrons of the MBCG Policies and Proceduring this election, MBCG is not responsible and procedures of my office.	edures Manual. I understand that by
Signature	_
Printed Name	_
Elected Office	_
Date	_
Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013	MBCG Policies and Procedures

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT, NON-DISCRIMINATION AND UNLAWFUL HARASSMENT POLICIES

Equal Opportunity Employment

The MBCG is an Equal Opportunity Employer. Applicants and/or employees will be treated fairly in recruitment, hiring, promotions, transfer, compensation, job assignment, training opportunities, benefits, discipline and all other employment-related actions. Employees and applicants will not be discriminated against on the basis of race, color, sex, genetic information, religion, age, national origin, disability, veteran status, sexual orientation or political affiliation.

The MBCG has adopted a Non-Discrimination Policy (see below) to assure fair employment opportunities to all applicants and employees. Employees may seek informal resolution of alleged discrimination through the Human Resources Department. Employees may also file a grievance under MBCG's Employee Problem Solving Policy based upon a charge of unlawful discrimination, in response to a disciplinary action, or for any form of harassment (See *Employee Problem Solving Policy*).

It is the firm policy of MBCG that employees should be able to work in an environment free from all forms of discrimination; including sexual harassment and any other form of unlawful harassment covered under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act (see Unlawful Harassment Policy, below). Our goal is to provide uniform, consistent, and fair treatment of all similarly situated employees. We will not tolerate discrimination.

Equal Employment Officer

The Human Resources Director shall regularly review the implementation of the equal employment opportunity and personnel administration. His or her responsibility is to assure that equal employment opportunity is being actively practiced through reasonable performance related job requirements and standards. His or her findings shall be submitted to the Mayor and County Commission.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

The Human Resources Director shall serve as the Equal Employment Opportunity Officer and shall, in that capacity, be authorized to investigate complaints of discrimination or violations of this policy.

Managerial accountability for equal employment opportunity

In order to insure the accountability of supervisors, department heads, and directors in accomplishing equal opportunity employment, any willful or intentional violation of MBCG's policies on equal employment opportunity shall result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

Non-discrimination

The MBCG is firmly committed to a policy of non-discrimination in employment and to achieving equal opportunity for all applicants and employees. There shall be no discrimination exercised on the basis of race, national origin, color, genetic information, religion, age, disability, sex (except where age, sex, or physical condition is a bona fide occupational qualification), veteran status, sexual orientation or political affiliation with respect to the recruiting and examination of applicants, hiring of eligible applicants, or in any personnel transactions affecting employees, including but not limited to, training, promotion and fitness of the individual, and other conditions of employment.

If employees believe that they have been discriminated against or subjected to unlawful harassment, they should immediately address their complaint to their supervisor, department head or elected official, or the Human Resources Department. Once a complaint is received, the Human Resources Director or his/her designee will initiate an investigation.

Unlawful Harassment

The MBCG and all constitutional officers and elected officials are committed to a work environment that promotes equal employment opportunities and is free from discriminatory practices, including harassment.

It is illegal and against MBCG policy for persons to harass, threaten, or intimidate other employees on the basis of their sex, race, genetic information, religion, disability, national origin or age, or for any other reason.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Employees who believe that they have been the subject of such harassment must report the alleged act immediately to their supervisor, their department head, constitutional officer, independent elected official, or the Human Resources Department. A complaint will be immediately investigated by the Human Resources Department in conjunction, where appropriate, with the employees' department. Supervisors, agents or employees who have harassed other employees on the basis of their sex, race, genetic information, religion, disability, national origin or age will be subject to appropriate disciplinary action up to and including termination.

Employees who, in good faith, exercise their right to make a complaint about sexual or other unlawful harassment will not be subjected to any retaliatory act. Unlawful harassment in the workplace will not be tolerated and employees who believe they have experienced such harassment or have witnessed the harassment of others have an obligation to report such unlawful conduct immediately. Supervisors or employees who retaliates against individuals for exercising their right to report sexual or other unlawful harassment shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.

Sexual Harassment

Unlawful harassment in violation of this policy includes sexual harassment. Sexual harassment is defined as unwanted sexual attention which is considered offensive or persistent by reasonable standards from a person who knows, or reasonably should know, that such attention is unwanted. The definition includes creating an offensive or harassing environment; and offering, giving or withholding job benefits (assignments, promotions, salary adjustments, recognition, civility, etc.) when an employee does not accept or comply with the offensive behavior or sexual requests. Sexual harassment may apply to either sex, and includes same-sex harassment.

Sexual harassment can be physical and/or psychological in nature. An aggregation of a series of incidents can constitute sexual harassment, even if one of the incidents considered on its own would not be considered harassment.

While sexual harassment encompasses a wide range of conduct, some examples of specifically prohibited conduct may include, but are not limited to:

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- Unwanted sexual advances;
- Promising, directly or indirectly, a reward if the person complies with a sexuallyoriented request;
- Threatening, directly or indirectly, to retaliate against a person if the person refuses to comply with a sexually-oriented request or advance;
 - Denying, directly or indirectly, an employee an employment-related opportunity if the employee refuses to comply with a sexually-oriented request; denying a contract employees, vendors or citizens a normal service to which they are entitled if they refuse to comply with a sexually oriented request;
- Engaging in sexually suggestive physical contact, touching, impeding, assaulting, or blocking movements of another person;
- Displaying, storing, or transmitting pornographic or sexually-oriented material using MBCG equipment or facilities;
- Displaying pictures, posters, calendars, graffiti, objects, promotional materials, reading materials, computer websites, e-mails, mobile phone pictures or messages, or other suggestive materials that are sexually demeaning or pornographic;
- Possessing or bringing into the MBCG work environment any sexually demeaning, pornographic or other suggestive material to read, display or view at work;
 - 1. Indecent exposure;
 - 2. Visual conduct that includes making sexual gestures;
 - 3. Verbal conduct that includes making or using derogatory comments, epithets, slurs or jokes of a sexual nature; verbal commentaries about an individual's body; sexually degrading words used to describe an individual; suggestive or obscene letters, notes or invitations.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

This policy applies to employees while engaged in MBCG business or when representing MBCG on or off the workplace premises. Violation of this policy may subject the offender to civil damages or criminal penalties, as well as to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment with MBCG. Employees filing false, frivolous, or retaliatory claims of sexual harassment may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. A copy of this policy, along with reporting information, will be posted on bulletin boards throughout MBCG buildings. New employees will be informed of this policy during orientation training; supervisors and managers will be trained periodically to reinforce their awareness of the requirements of this policy.

CODE OF ETHICS

The Mayor and County Commission hereby adopt an ordinance establishing a code of ethics. The code of ethics establishes a standard of conduct for MBCG officials and employees who are expected to discharge their duties impartially and their affairs so as to foster public confidence in the integrity of MBCG. To that end, MBCG officials and employees are prohibited from attempting to realize personal financial gain through MBCG service or employment by conduct inconsistent with the proper discharge of their duties. Engagement in any business or transaction with MBCG or having a financial interest or private interest, direct or indirect, in any MBCG contract or proposed contract may be a conflict of interest adverse to the proper discharge of the duties of a MBCG official or employee and the best interest of the MBCG.

In addition, the following circumstances, though not an exhaustive list, are specifically deemed in conflict with and adverse to the proper discharge of official duties of MBCG officials and employees:

- Using public office for private gain;
- Giving undue preferential treatment to any business entity or person;
- Knowingly impeding government efficiency or economy;
- Receiving gifts, other than campaign contributions, complimentary services, free vacations or travel having more than a nominal value and which are calculated to influence the decision of the officers or employees as to any business dealing with the MBCG;
- Attempting to influence the actions or conduct of a MBCG official or employee on behalf of a business entity in which the MBCG official, employee, or family member has a financial or property interest;
- Obligating the MBCG without proper authority.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Participation, directly or indirectly, by any MBCG official or employee in any decision relating to any matter in which he or she has a substantial interest or involvement which reasonably may be expected to result in a direct financial benefit to the MBCG official or employee, or a business entity in which, he or she, or a member of his or her family has a financial interest;

The code of ethics further provides that unless independent judgment and impartiality of a MBCG official would be compromised, the receipt by a MBCG official of the following items is not a violation of the ethics ordinance:

- Meals and beverages given in the normal course of entertaining;
- An occasional, non-pecuniary gift from a single source of \$100.00 or less;
- Ceremonial gifts or awards;
- Gifts of advertising value only;
- Awards presented in recognition of public service;
- Reasonable expenses of food, travel, lodging, and scheduled entertainment of the official for a meeting which is given in return for participation in a panel or speaking engagement at the meeting;
- Courtesy tickets or free admission extended to an elected official for an event as a courtesy or for ceremonial purposes;
- Gifts from relatives, members of his household or personal friends;
- Honorariums or awards for professional achievement;
- Courtesy tickets or free admission to an elected official to educational seminars, educational or informational conventions or other similar events.

The MBCG ethics ordinance also prohibits kickbacks, employment by MBCG officials or employees by persons contracting or attempting to contract with the MBCG, and use of

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

confidential information for actual or anticipated financial gain; and requires disclosure of potential conflicts of interest or interests adverse to the MBCG.
The entire text of the MBCG ethics ordinance, including definitions and penalties for violation, is codified in Sections through of the MBCG Code of Ordinances.

OPEN DOOR POLICY

The MBCG strives to provide its employees with an excellent work environment. Although most problems may and should be resolved in discussion with employees and their immediate supervisor, it is MBCG's policy that MBCG employees may speak with their supervisors, follow the chain of command and any Human Resources Representative with concerns, complaints, or suggestions at any time. The purpose of this "open door" policy is to encourage open communication, feedback, and discussion of any matter of importance to our employees.

The Human Resources staff is dedicated to listening to employee concerns, investigating facts and circumstances surrounding a situation, and assisting employees and their managers with a solution that is acceptable to all parties. Where appropriate, another staff member may be assigned to address the issue brought to the attention of the Human Resources Department. In some instances, employee concerns may be eligible for the grievance procedure described in the Employee Problem Solving Procedure, Section 4.02.

While employees of Constitutional Officers and independent elected officials are not covered under this Policies and Procedures Manual, unless such officers or officials in accordance with this Manual have opted in to coverage for their employees, they are covered by all applicable federal and state laws, including those governing equal opportunity and non-discrimination. If applicants or employees of Constitutional Officers or independent elected officials desire to determine whether a particular officer or official has opted in to coverage under this Manual, they may do so by contacting the MBCG Human Resources Department.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

EMERGENCY PROCEDURES

The MBCG will make every effort to respond to emergency situations in a manner which protects employees, visitors, and the public. Procedures have been established for response to certain types of emergencies; details are available from your department head, MBCG security, or the Risk Management staff. Employees should familiarize themselves with those established procedures for specific emergency response. The following general guidelines apply to any emergency situation which may arise:

- All employees must respond to a building evacuation alarm immediately. Each department is assigned an area in which employees are to meet once they have evacuated the building. Each department head should designate a backup area for meeting in the event that the primary area is not safe.
- 2. All department heads should assign a "captain" for their respective department who will be charged with insuring that all employees in their department has evacuated the building. Once employees have left the building, the captain will account for all employees in their department. Employees should notify their department captain that they are exiting the building.
- 3. Should employees require assistance in exiting the building, they should notify their supervisor and department head in advance of any emergency. For MBCG employees, individuals who would require assistance on a long term or indefinite basis should be registered with MBCG security. Employees with temporary or short term injuries or other situations for which they would require assistance to exit the building should be reported to MBCG security if assistance is not available in their department.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 4. While MBCG security is responsible for visitors and others who may be present in a MCCG building at the time of an emergency, all employees should be aware of visitors in their respective areas and should assist them in evacuating the building.
- 5. In the event of an evacuation, only emergency response personnel may re-enter the building until authorities have signaled that re-entry of the building may safely be made.
- 6. Employees working in departments having employees deployed outside or away from their immediate department area should develop emergency procedures to accomplish the intent of this policy. Any employee involved in an emergency situation should notify his/her department head or supervisor of his/her status.

INCLEMENT WEATHER

1. Leave procedures during hazardous and inclement conditions

The safety of our employees is a primary concern of the MBCG. Toward this end, all employees are requested to exercise safety precautions when reporting to work during inclement and hazardous weather.

2. Payment for hazard and inclement conditions

Employees will be paid for days missed from work due to hazardous and inclement conditions when MBCG officials make an official decision to close MBCG buildings.

Employees reporting to work during hazardous conditions will be paid normal pay for hours worked. Employees who are not able to report to work due to situations beyond their control when MBCG buildings are open, will be required to take annual leave first and sick leave second (if no annual leave is available). This will also be the case for partial absences that are weather related.

If an MBCG building is open for part of the day, only employees who report to work during the time in which MBCG buildings are open will be paid for the portion of the day during which the MBCG buildings are closed. Employees who are absent from work for the entire day will be allowed to use annual leave, if such leave is available.

3. Use of leave time

Annual leave will be taken first and sick leave second (if no annual leave is available) if MBCG buildings are officially open and employees are unable to report to work. Employees who have banked compensatory time may use such time to be paid for time in which they are unable to report to work due to inclement weather or hazardous conditions. If accumulated leave is not available, employees who are unable to report to work due to inclement weather or hazardous conditions must take leave without pay.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

4. Communications

It is imperative that all department heads establish a departmental/notification system procedure for all employees to contact their immediate supervisor to determine whether they are scheduled to work.

Employees can always contact ______ to determine if MBCG buildings will be open. All employees are asked to watch the local television stations and Cox Communications, and/or listen to local radio stations (provided they are operational) to obtain updates as to whether MBCG offices and various departments will operate.

5. Critical positions during hazardous weather

Certain positions require mandatory coverage and on-call status because they provide a critical MBC service such as MBCG Law Enforcement personnel (i.e. civilian communications, animal control, maintenance department), Fire department, EMA, Tobesofkee (essential personnel), custodial & building maintenance, information and technology services, contract security and public works; other designated essential personnel. Departments employing essential personnel will develop departmental guidelines to ensure coverage for the department and/or on-call status to maintain critical coverage.

6. Utilization of Employees

If there is a power outage and/or damage to a work area that does not permit employees to work, please check with the Human Resources Director to see if work can be provided in other departments prior to sending employees home.

SECTION 2: HUMAN RESOURCES

POLICY	NUMBER
Classification of Employees	2.01
Employment At Will	2.02
Job Postings	2.03
Nepotism	2.04
Separation From Employment	2.05
Background Checks	2.06

CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYEES

The MBCG classifies employees based upon conditions of employment. Classifications are used for compensation and benefit purposes. The following classifications characterize all persons working for MBCG:

Full-time: Employees with a recurring work schedule of a minimum of thirty (30) hours per week; paid through MBCG payroll.

Part-time: Employees with recurring work schedule with designated hours totaling less than thirty (30) hours per week; paid through MBCG payroll. Part-time employees may be terminated at any time with no appeal rights under the employee problem solving procedure.

Probationary: An employee who is being considered for full-time status is classified as a probationary employee. The purpose of the probationary period is to provide a trial period for the employee to learn the job and for the supervisor to observe and evaluate the employee's performance. All probationary employees are excluded from the employee problem solving procedure and may be discharged without cause. Any new employee of MBCG shall be on a probationary period of employment for six (6) months. Any new employee of the Bibb County Sheriff's Office hired as a Deputy or Corrections Officer and any new employee of the Macon-Bibb County Fire Department shall be on a probationary period of employment for eighteen (18) months.

Transfer: An employee who transfers from one position to another position within MBCG. Transfer employees are subject to a six (6) month probationary period, but will be eligible to participate in MBCG's Employee Problem Solving Procedure during those six (6) months.

Seasonal: Employees hired on a temporary basis for a period of time to cover duties which only occur during parts of the year; paid through MBCG payroll or through temporary employment payroll service. Seasonal employees may be terminated at any time with no appeal right under the employee problem solving procedure.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Temporary or contract: Persons hired on a temporary basis to handle excess workloads, special projects, or to provide for a short-term need. These persons are generally hired by Human Resources through a temporary personnel agency. Contract employees must furnish an Employee Identification Number (EIN) with their invoices, and must meet all Internal Revenue Service (IRS) guidelines for contract employees.

EMPLOYMENT AT WILL

Nothing in these policies is intended to create or establish a contract for employment between MBCG and the employees covered by their terms, nor shall this manual constitute a promise to provide any benefits.

By accepting employment with MBCG, each employee acknowledges that the relationship established is that of employer and employee. To the extent provided for by law, employees of MBCG are at will employees except with respect to those matters governed by the MBCG Employee Problem Solving Procedure, as amended from time to time by the Mayor and County Commission and the MBCG Civil Service Code, MBCG Code Part I, Chapter 7.

Employees of any Constitutional Officer or independent elected official work at the pleasure of that elected official. Sworn personnel of the Bibb County Sheriff's Office are under the Civil Service System. The Macon-Bibb County Fire Department is under the Civil Service System and Board of MBCG, as set forth in Chapter 7, Article II of the MBCG Code of Ordinances, Part I, "Related Laws."

JOB POSTING

- 1. Only positions which are open and which have been duly approved and funded by the County Commission will be posted. All such positions will be posted by the Human Resources Department.
- 2. Positions will be posted on MBCG's web site, and may or may not be advertised in other ways. At the discretion of the department head, and with the concurrence of the Human Resources Department, a position may be posted as an "Internal Posting Only" such that the position is not open to applicants not currently working for MBCG. Similarly, a position may be posted as a "Department Posting Only" with the result that only applications from employees currently working in that department will be accepted.
- 3. Open positions will be posted for a minimum of seven (7) working days. This time period may be extended if an ample number of qualified applicants have not applied. MBCG only accepts applications and resumes for open, posted positions of employment. All applicant inquiries must be made either online or through the Human Resources Department.
- 4. MBCG reserves the right to not process an application from any person who does not meet the minimum requirements for the position. Current MBCG employees who are not probationary employees and who are not under any active corrective or disciplinary warning beyond a verbal warning may apply for any open position which is posted County-wide or on a public basis.
- 5. If a current employee of MBCG is selected for a posted position, the hiring manager and the employee's current manager will collaborate to determine a release date for the employee to transfer to the new position. If a release date has not been determined, or if the release date is more than two (2) weeks beyond the date the employee was selected for the new position, Human Resources should be notified.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 6. All information concerning and scheduling of interviews for posted positions must be arranged through the Human Resources Department. Current employees are not permitted to contact a hiring manager directly concerning an open, posted position.
- 7. If an insufficient number of qualified applicants are not received before the position closing date, the position will be re-posted.

NEPOTISM

The MBCG has proscribed and enforces the following conditions and restrictions to govern the hiring of relatives of full-time, part-time, and temporary MBCG employees:

For purposes of this policy, relatives include spouse, child, grandchild, great-grandchild, parent, grandparent, great-grandparent, brother, sister, nephew, niece, aunt, uncle, step-child, and step-parent. These relationships shall also include half or adoptive relatives, and relatives of spouse.

- Relatives of Macon-Bibb Mayor and County Commission
 Unless otherwise provided herein, relatives of the MBCG Mayor and County
 Commission are excluded from employment in any MBCG department.
- Relatives of staff of the Mayor, County Commission, County Manager, Assistant County Manager, Finance Department, Risk Management Department, Information Technology Services, Purchasing Department, and Human Resources Department

Unless otherwise provided herein, relatives of employees in the departments listed above are not eligible for employment in any MBCG department. Relatives of employees in other MBCG departments are excluded from employment in the above-listed departments.

Relatives of supervisory employees

Relatives of MBCG employees who work in any supervisory capacity shall not be employed in any capacity in the department in which the supervisory employee works; these individuals may be employed in other Macon-Bibb County departments where all other requirements of this policy are satisfied.

Relatives of non-supervisory employees

Relatives of non-supervisory employees shall not be promoted or hired into a supervisory position in the same department in which their relative works.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Employees who become related subsequent to employment

The restrictions on hiring of relatives stated in this policy also apply to the continued employment of persons who become relatives as that term is defined in this policy subsequent to their employment with MBCG unless otherwise approved by the County Commission.

• Employee transfers

The restrictions regarding the hiring of relatives specified in this policy also apply to the transfer of an employee into a department where a supervisory relative is employed.

• Summer employment

Relatives of staff of the Mayor, County Commission, County Manager, Assistant County Manager, Finance Department, Risk Management Department, Information Technology Services, Purchasing Department, and Human Resources Department shall not be eligible for summer employment with MBCG.

Special notes

- Relatives presently employed by MBCG who would be in violation of this policy at the time of its adoption; and relatives already employed by Macon-Bibb County at the time of appointment of department heads, supervisors, or election to office shall be eligible to remain in the employment of MBCG as long as all other requirements under this policy—including restrictions on transfers—are met.
- o Elected officials hiring policies are also governed by O.C.G.A. § 45-10-80.

SEPARATION FROM EMPLOYMENT

All separations of employees from positions of employment with MBCG shall be designated as one of the following types, and should be accomplished in the manner indicated:

- 1. Resignation
- 2. Disability
- 3. Retirement
- 4. Reduction in force
- 5. Dismissal
- 6. Death

1. Resignation:

All employees of MBCG who wish to terminate their employment with Bibb County should provide their department head with a minimum of two (2) weeks' notice of their intention to resign, unless the department head has established a policy requiring a longer notice period where work is of a technical nature in the department. The resignation should be forwarded to the Human Resources Director or Assistant Director of Human Resources. An employee who does not provide the required two (2) weeks notification shall have recorded on his/her service record that he/she resigned without giving proper notice, unless the department head approves a shorter notice requirement.

After an employee's resignation has been submitted, if the employee's general attitude, punctuality, and overall job performance levels decline, the department head will make the resignation effective immediately. In accordance with MBCG's attendance policies, three (3) consecutive days of unreported or unauthorized absence from work will be deemed as compulsory resignation due to job abandonment.

2. Disability:

An employee may be separated from his/her employment for disability when the employee is not able to perform the required job duties because of a physical

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

or mental impairment. Request for disability retirement may be initiated by the employee or by MBCG, but in all cases it must be supported by certified medical evidence so specified by a licensed, competent physician. MBCG has discretion to require an examination at its expense by a designated physician of the MBCG's choice. Before an employee may be separated for disability, the department head and Human Resources Director should make reasonable efforts to locate an alternative position of employment for which the employee may be suited; determine eligibility for long-term disability benefits under MBCG's health and welfare plan; or determine eligibility for disability retirement under MBCG's pension plan.

3. Retirement:

Employees may choose to retire under (a) normal retirement, (b) early retirement, or (c) disability retirement. The Human Resources Department should be consulted when an employee requests retirement so that all options and details of MBCG's retirement system can be fully explained. An employee who wishes to retire must notify the Human Resources Department at least 30 days, when possible, prior to the date of retirement.

4. Reduction in Force:

The Mayor and County Commission will establish the extent and application of any reduction in force. Such decree will be issued in compliance with current federal and states laws (if applicable) and provide sufficient notification to employees who are potentially affected by such decree. (See appropriate Pension Code)

Department heads will conduct an analysis of departmental operations to ensure the division is operating efficiently and to identify areas in which excess positions could be eliminated. The Department Head is responsible for following this policy and shall identify the effect of a reduction in force on the respective department.

The Human Resources Department shall consult with the MBCG Attorney to ensure that the policy is in compliance with applicable laws.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

BACKGROUND CHECKS

The MBCG requires a criminal background check for all full-time, part-time, and temporary employees, including interns upon hire once a conditional offer of employment has been extended by the Employment Officer.

Although a disqualification is possible, in accordance with federal and state laws, a previous conviction does not automatically disqualify an applicant from consideration for employment with MBCG. Depending on a variety of factors (for example, the nature of the position, the nature of the conviction, age of the candidate when the illegal activity occurred), the candidate may still be eligible for employment with MBCG.

However, if an applicant attempts to withhold information or falsify information pertaining to previous convictions, the employee will be disqualified from further employment consideration in a position with MBCG due to falsification of an application.

An offer of employment may be extended to an applicant prior to the completion of the criminal conviction check. However, the applicant's first day of work in the position must not be prior to the satisfactory completion of the criminal background check.

NOTE: Bibb County Sheriff's Office applicants are required to complete a background check at the time of completion of the application and an internal affairs background investigation will be completed before employment consideration is offered.

SECTION 3: LEGAL NOTICES

POLICY	NUMBER
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA)	3.01
Break Time for Nursing Mothers	3.02
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability (HIPPA)	3.03
Limited English Proficiency	3.04
Privacy	3.05
Title VI Compliance	3.06
Whistleblowers	3.07

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT

Nondiscrimination Statement, Grievance Procedure & Effective Communications
Pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990,
Section 504 of Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and ADA Amendments Act of 2008

In accordance with the requirements of Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 ("ADA"), Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and the ADA Amendments Act of 2008, MBCG will not discriminate against qualified individuals on the basis of disability in the areas of employment, public accommodations, State and local government services, and telecommunications. Subtitle A of title II of the ADA protects qualified individuals with disabilities from discrimination on the basis of disability in the services, programs, or activities of all State and local governments. Consistent with the final rule, MBCG has designated a responsible employee and has adopted a grievance procedure for those individuals wishing to file a grievance.

Section 35.170 provides that any individual who believes that he or she or a specific class of individuals has been subjected to discrimination on the basis of disability by a public entity may, by him or herself or by an authorized representative, file a complaint under this part within 180 days of the date of the alleged discrimination. Filing the complaint with any Federal agency will satisfy the requirement for timely filing.

The MBCG has designated an employee of the Human Resources Department to coordinate its efforts to comply with and carry out its responsibilities under subtitle A, including any investigation of any complaint communicated to it alleging its noncompliance with this part or alleging any actions that would be prohibited by this part.

(Compliance Officer Name) (Physical Address) (City, State, Zip Code) (Telephone) (Email Address)

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Complaints should be addressed to the Compliance Officer, (Address), (City, State, Zip Code), who has been designated to coordinate ADA compliance efforts.

- A complaint should be filed in writing, contain the name and address of the person filing it, and briefly describe the alleged violation of the regulations.
- If the complainant wishes to have an in person meeting to verbally file their complaint, an appointment should be made with the Compliance Officer by calling ______.
- A complaint should be filed within 180 days after the complainant becomes aware of the alleged violation.
- An investigation, as may be appropriate, shall follow a filing of complaint. The
 investigation will be conducted by the Compliance Officer or appropriate
 designee. These procedures contemplate informal but thorough investigations,
 affording all interested persons and their representatives, if any, an opportunity to
 submit evidence relevant to the complaint.
- A written determination as to the validity of the complaint and a description of the resolution, if any, shall be issued by the Compliance Officer or designee and a copy forwarded to the complainant no later than 30 days after conclusion of the investigation.
- The right of a person to a prompt and equitable resolution of the complaint filed hereunder shall not be impaired by the person's pursuit of other remedies such as the filing of an ADA complaint with the responsible Federal department or agency. Use of this grievance procedure is not a prerequisite to the pursuit of other remedies.
- These procedures shall be construed to protect the substantive rights of interested persons to meet appropriate due process standards and to assure that MBCG complies with the ADA and the implementing regulations.

In addition to or in lieu of filing a complaint with MBCG's Compliance Officer, an individual may submit a written complaint within 180 days of the date of the alleged violation to a Federal agency. Complaints filed with the Department of Justice may be

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

sent to the Coordination and Review Section, P.O. Box 66118, Civil Rights Division, U.S. Department of Justice, Washington, D.C. 20035-6118. Complaints may also be filed with the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 200 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20201.

Any citizen who elects to first file a complaint with MBCG's Compliance Officer is advised that the above 180-day deadline for filing a written complaint with a Federal agency still applies.

In compliance with the ADA and related laws and regulations, MBCG will ensure that communications with individuals who have hearing, speech, vision, communication, and cognitive limitations are as effective as communications with others in the delivery of its programs, services, and activities. Upon the request of a qualified individual with a disability affecting hearing, vision, speech or cognitive limitations, MBCG will furnish appropriate auxiliary aids and services where necessary to afford such an individual an equal opportunity to participate in and have access to MBCG programs, services, and activities.

A qualified individual who anticipates participation in any MBCG program, service, or activity should make a request for an auxiliary aid or service within 48 hours of the time the aid or service is needed. The qualified individual's authorized representative may make the request for aid or service on his/her behalf. MBCG may make reasonable requests for documentation regarding the disability and the appropriateness of, or need for, a specific auxiliary aid. MBCG will evaluate each request for an auxiliary aid or service on a case-by-case basis. Decisions for granting or denying an auxiliary aid or service will not be based on any generalized rules or broad policies, but may include evaluation of whether another equally effective means of communication is available.

Auxiliary aids and services may include:

- 1. Information presented in visual formats produced in 18 point print, audio tape format, or Braille for the visually impaired;
- 2. Qualified readers for the visually impaired;
- Telecommunications devices for the hearing or speech impaired;

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 4. Telephone handset amplifiers;
- 5. Assistive listening devices;
- 6. Qualified sign language interpreters for hearing impaired or deaf individuals;
- 7. Computer-aided real time reporting;
- 8. Illustrative communications for individuals with cognitive disabilities;
- 9. Audio tapes;
- 10. Computer disks.

The MBCG is not required to provide an auxiliary aid or service if such would "result in a fundamental alteration in the nature of [MBCG 's] program, service, or activity or in an undue financial and administrative burden." 28 CFR 35.150(a) (3).

Notification of this policy will be provided to MBCG employees and to applicants, participants, and members of the public who have hearing, speech, vision, and cognitive limitations in a manner determined by the County Manager, including making the policy available in large print and audio format. A Human Resources Department staff member may also read this policy to a qualified individual upon request.

BREAK TIME FOR NURSING MOTHERS

It is the policy of MBCG to comply with the provision of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act ("PPACA") which amended Section 7 of the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") to require reasonable break time for an employee to express milk for her nursing child for one (1) year after the child's birth each time such employee has need to express the milk. In addition, the PPACA requires the provision of a place, other than a bathroom, which is shielded from view and free from intrusion by co-workers and the public, and which may be used by an employee to express breast milk.

While the FLSA does not require that break periods taken for the purpose of expressing milk be compensated, where an employer already provides compensated break periods, an employee who uses that break time to express milk must be compensated in the same way that other employees are compensated for break time. In addition, the FLSA's general requirement that the employee must be completely relieved from duty or else the time must be compensated as work time applies. (Refer to definition of "hours worked," MBCG Personnel Policy Manual, "Overtime pay").

The MBCG provides a dedicated space for use of nursing mothers. While the Federal law mandates break time to express milk only for employees who are not exempt from overtime pay requirements under FLSA, MBCG recognizes the importance of this act of nurture for maternal and infant health, and will provide breaks to all nursing mothers irrespective of their status under FLSA.

Questions regarding application of this policy should be directed to the Human Resources Department.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT ("HIPAA")

Under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act ("HIPAA"), MBCG is required to have in place appropriate administrative, technical, and physical safeguards to protect the privacy and security of Protected Health Information ("PHI"). MBCG is required to reasonably safeguard PHI from any intentional or unintentional use or disclosure in violation of the law, and to provide for notification in the case of any breach of unsecured PHI.

Protected Health Information ("PHI") is all individually identifiable health information held or transmitted by an entity covered by HIPAA or its business associate, in any form or media, whether electronic, paper, or oral. Individually identifiable health information is information, including demographic data that is related to (1) the individual's past, present or future physical or mental health or condition; (2) the provision of health care to the individual; or (3) the past, present or future payment for the provision of health care to the individual and which identifies the individual or for which there is a reasonable basis to believe it can be used to identify the individual.

This policy applies to all MBCG employees, including, but not limited to, full-time employees, part-time employees, temporary employees, retirees, spouses, eligible family members, trainees, volunteers, interns, vendors, and contractors.

The MBCG Human Resources Director is the designated Privacy Officer for HIPAA purposes. The privacy officer is responsible for the development and implementation of policies and procedures required for HIPAA compliance. The privacy officer also serves as the individual to whom complaints related to HIPAA should be communicated, and who can provide additional information about matters covered by the privacy notice.

HIPAA Definitions

- Covered Entity is a health plan, health care clearinghouse, or health care provider that transmits any health information electronically in connection with a covered transaction.
- **2. Breach** is the unauthorized acquisition, access, use, or disclosure of protected heath information which compromises the security or privacy of such information.

Exceptions: Disclosures where the recipient of the information would not reasonably have been able to retain the information, unintentional acquisition, access, or use of the information by employees or persons acting under the authority of a covered entity or business associate, inadvertent disclosures among persons similarly authorized to access protected health information.

3. Business Associate is a person who performs functions or activities on behalf of, or certain services for, a covered entity that involve the use or disclosure of individually identifiable health information.

Examples: third party administrators or pharmacy benefit managers for health plans, claims processing or billing companies, transcription companies, and persons who perform legal, actuarial, accounting, management, or administrative services for covered entities and who require access to protected health information.

- **4. Protected Health Information** is the individually identifiable health information held or transmitted in any form by HIPAA covered entities and business associates.
- 5. Unsecured Protected Health Information is protected health information that is not secured through the use of a technology or methodology specified by the Secretary of HHS.

Covered entities and business associates that implement the specified technologies and methodologies with respect to protected health information are not required to provide notifications in the event of a

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

breach of such information as the information is not unsecured. Technologies and methodologies utilized should include encryption and/or destruction techniques that render protected health information unusable, unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals.

Encryption which will constitute securing of electronic PHI for HIPAA purposes involves the use of an algorithmic process to transform data into a form in which there is a low probability of assigning meaning without use of a confidential process or key. Electronic PHI is secured if it has thus been encrypted and if the confidential process or key has not been breached.

PHI is considered secure if the media on which the PHI is stored or recorded has been destroyed by one of the following methods:

- 1. Paper, film, or other hard copy media have been shredded or destroyed such that the PHI cannot be read or otherwise cannot be reconstructed
- 2. Electronic media have been cleared, purged, or destroyed consistent with NIST Special Publication 800-88 Guidelines for Media Sanitization such that the PHI cannot be retrieved.
- **6. Workforce Member** is an employee, volunteer, trainee, and other person whose conduct, in the performance of work for a covered entity, is under the direct control of such entity, whether or not they are paid by the covered entity.

HIPAA Breach and Notification

The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health ("HITECH") Act requires HIPAA covered entities to provide notification to affected individuals and to the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS") following the discovery of a breach of unsecured protected health information. In the event of a breach of unsecured protected health information at or by a business associate of a covered entity, HITECH requires the business associate to notify the covered entity. Breach notification requirements are also imposed upon vendors of personal health records and their third party service providers.

Procedure

In the event of a breach of unsecured PHI which compromises the security or privacy of the PHI, MBCG must make the following determinations, and adhere to the following procedure to notify affected individuals and HHS, where appropriate, that a breach has occurred.

- Determine whether notification is necessary by determining whether a use or disclosure of unsecured protected health information violated HITECH.
 - o Was the information secured?
 - Was the disclosure of the information incident to an otherwise permissible use or disclosure?
- Determine whether the violation compromises the security or privacy of the protected health information.
 - Does the disclosure pose a significant risk of financial, reputational, or other harm to the individual?
- Determine who impermissibly used or to whom the information was impermissibly disclosed.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- Was the information disclosed to another entity governed by HIPAA rules?
- Did the recipient of the information give assurances that the information will not be further used or disclosed or will be destroyed?
 - Is the recipient of the information willing to agree to a confidentiality agreement or a similar agreement?
- Determine if the information was returned prior to the information being accessed for an improper use. Example: A stolen laptop returned before the information stored on the laptop has been accessed. However, notification of a breach is not to be delayed in hopes of securing the information before the information is accessed for an improper use.
- Determine the type and amount of protected health information involved in the impermissible use or disclosure.
 - Does the information pose a significant risk of financial, reputational, or other harm?
 - Does the protected health information include individually identifying information (i.e., name, address, birthday, Social Security number)?

If MBCG determines that a breach of unsecured protected health information has occurred and notification is necessary, the Privacy Officer must ensure that the following steps are adhered to:

 Notify each individual whose unsecured protected health information has been, or is reasonably believed by the covered entity to have been, accessed, acquired, used, or disclosed as a result of a breach.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- A covered entity shall send the required notification without unreasonable delay and in no case later than sixty (60) calendar days after the date the breach was discovered by the covered entity.
 - A breach is discovered on the first day that the covered entity learns of the breach, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence would have been known to the covered entity.
 - A covered entity may take a *reasonable time* to investigate the circumstances surrounding the breach, in order to collect and develop the information that is required to be included in the notice to the individual.
 - Where an investigation is completed earlier than sixty (60) days, the covered entity must provide notice as soon as reasonable.
 - Where an investigation is completed and the covered entity determines that a breach did not occur, notification is not required.
- The notice to each individual shall include:
 - A brief description of what happened, including the date of the breach and the date of the discovery of the breach, if known;
 - A description of the types of unsecured protected health information that were involved in the breach (i.e., whether full name, Social Security number, date of birth, home address, account number, diagnosis, disability code, or other types of information were involved);
 - DO NOT INCLUDE A LISTING OF THE ACTUAL PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION THAT WAS BREACHED (e.g., a list of individual Social Security numbers);
 - Any steps individuals should take to protect themselves from potential harm resulting from the breach;

- A brief description of what the covered entity involved is doing to investigate the breach, to mitigate harm to individuals, and to protect against any further breaches:
- Contact procedures for individuals to ask questions or learn additional information, which must include a toll-free telephone number, an e-mail address, a web site, or postal address.
- The following methods may be utilized to give notice to each individual affected by a breach of unsecured protected health information:
 - First-class mail to the last known address of the individual:
 - Electronic mail, provided the individual agrees to receive electronic notice and such agreement has not been withdrawn;
 - If the covered entity does not have contact information for the individual, the entity may provide substituted notice by:
 - In the case in which there is insufficient or out-of-date contact information for fewer than 10 individuals, then such substitute notice may be provided by an alternative form of written notice, telephone, or other means;
 - In the case in which there is insufficient or out-of-date contact information for 10 or more individuals, then such substitute notice shall:
 - Be in the form of either a conspicuous posting for a period of 90 days on the home page of the primary web site of the covered entity involved, or conspicuous notice in major print or broadcast media in geographic areas where the individuals affected by the breach likely reside; and
 - Include a toll-free phone number that remains active for at least 90 days where an individual can learn whether the individual's unsecured protected health information may be included in the breach.

- Additional notice in urgent situations may be needed and should be completed by:
 - If the breach involves 500 or more individuals of a state or jurisdiction, the covered entity must provide notice to prominent media outlets. Notice to the media outlets is used to supplement notice to each individual and may not be used as substituted notice.
 - Notice must be made to the prominent media outlets in the same time frame as written notice to each individual as discussed above.
- Notification to the Secretary of HHS must be completed:
 - When the breach involves 500 or more individuals (without regard for whether the individuals are in the same state or jurisdiction);
 - THIS NOTICE MUST BE DONE IMMEDIATELY. Immediately under HITECH means the covered entity must notify the Secretary of HHS concurrently as to when each individual is notified.
 - When the breach involves less than 500 individuals the covered entity may keep a log of such breaches and submit them to the secretary annually.
- A business associate must notify the covered entity to which the breached information relates.
 - If the information relates to more than one covered entity, the business associate must notify all possible covered entities that may have been affected.
 - A business associate shall send the required notification to the covered entity without unreasonable delay and in no case later than sixty (60) calendar days after the date the breach was discovered by the covered entity.
 - A breach is discovered by a business associate on the first day that the covered entity learns of the breach, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence would have been known to the covered entity.

- For the covered entity's notification purposes: If the business associate is an agent for the covered entity, the covered entity is said to have discovered the breach on the same day as the business associate. If the business associate is an independent contractor, the covered entity is said to have discovered the breach on the day the business associate notified the covered entity of the breach.
- The business associate must provide the covered entity, to the extent possible, the identity of each individual whose unsecured protected health information has been, or is reasonably believed to have been, breached; a description of the types of unsecured protected health information that were involved in the breach; any steps individuals should take to protect description of what the covered entity involved is doing to investigate the breach, to mitigate harm to individuals, and to protect against any further breaches.
 - The business associate may provide the covered entity immediate notification of the breach and follow up with additional information on the identity of each individual before the sixty (60) day deadline.
- O In cases involving vendors of personal health records and their third party service providers, it is appropriate for these vendors to provide the same notice as required of covered entities to each of individuals affected by the breach. Although the vendors' rules under the Federal Trade Commission may be different from the rules governing the covered entities, the vendors must follow the same rules as the covered entities.

Notice to Minors or Incapacitated Individuals

If an individual affected by the breach is a minor or otherwise lacks legal capacity due to a physical or mental condition, a covered entity may provide notice to the parent or other person who is the personal representative of the individual. If the individual is deceased, the covered entity may provide notice to the next of kin or the personal representative of the individual.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Appropriate notice of breach

Although there is not a page limitation on the notice, the notice should be written at an appropriate reading level and use clear language and syntax. The notice should not include language that distracts the individual from the purpose of the notice.

The covered entities who are obligated to comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and/or the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 should take steps that those with limited English proficiency and disabilities are able to read and understand the notice and be willing to provide the notice in alternate mediums to ensure the individuals understand the implications of the notice.

Delay of notice to support criminal investigation

If a law enforcement official determines that notice of a breach of unsecured protected health information would impede a criminal investigation, notice can be delayed for up to thirty (30) days.

Administration

- a. The MBCG will train its workforce concerning this policy and MBCG's procedures regarding the privacy of PHI as necessary and appropriate for the workforce member to carry out his/her duties and specific job functions.
- b. Then MBCG will refrain from intimidating or retaliatory acts against any individual for the exercise of rights established in the breach notification.
- c. The MBCG will mitigate, to the extent practicable, any harmful effect that is known by MBCG to have occurred as a result of a use or disclosure of PHI in violation of HIPAA privacy rules.
- d. The MBCG will maintain documentation required to meet the burden of proof of MBCG in the event of a use or disclosure of PHI in violation of HIPAA, and will retain such documentation for a period of not less than six (6) years.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

e. Any MBCG employee who violates the provisions of HIPAA or this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

LIMITED ENGLISH PROFICIENCY

The MBCG recognizes the importance of effective and accurate communication between its personnel and the citizens of Macon-Bibb County. Language barriers can impede effective and accurate communication in a variety of ways. Language barriers can sometimes inhibit or even prohibit individuals with Limited English Proficiency ("LEP") from accessing and/or understanding important rights, obligations, and services, or from communicating accurately and effectively in difficult situations. Ensuring meaningful communication ability between MBCG personnel and all segments of the Macon-Bibb County community serves the interest of both.

The purpose of this policy is to establish effective guidelines for communication with LEP persons in compliance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and Executive Order 13166. MBCG is committed to ensuring compliance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and all related regulations and directives. MBCG assures that no person shall on the grounds of race, color, national origin, gender, age, genetic information, or disability be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination under any Macon-Bibb County-provided or Macon-Bibb County supported service, program, or activity. MBCG also assures that every effort will be made to prevent discrimination through the impacts of its programs, policies, and activities on minority populations. Accordingly, MBCG will take reasonable steps to provide meaningful access to services for person with LEP.

As a normal part of the conduct of county government, MBCG has committed to ensuring that LEP citizens conducting business with MBCG, participating in services provided by or supported by MBCG, or appearing in judicial proceedings will be able to engage in those activities, where appropriate, while speaking the Spanish language. MBCG is prepared to add other languages when they meet the required LEP threshold.

"According to U.S. Census Bureau information estimates for 2011, MBCG's population is 155,753. Of that total, an estimated 2.9 percent is comprised of persons of Latino or Hispanic origin. An estimated 5.2 percent of MBCG's population speaks a language other than English at home. While MBCG has not maintained data to formally

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

document the frequency of contact by LEP persons with its services, there is some available information to support an estimate of frequency of contact by various MBCG offices and departments. "

While generally, identifying any community where the LEP population equals 5 percent or more in a given language automatically triggers providing language assistance services as a mandatory and normal part of operations, MBCG is mindful of the growing Hispanic population in Georgia and Bibb County, and has committed to provide language assistance services when needed. In response to the needs of the Spanish-speaking population--the largest language-minority population served by MBCG --various MBCG agencies and departments have taken steps to provide language assistance services when LEP citizens have need of essential government services.

These efforts include: (1) hiring of bilingual staff in the Bibb County Tax Commissioner's tag office(s) and Bibb County Sheriff's Office; (2) adhesion to the policies of the Administrative Offices of the Courts and/or the Georgia Supreme Court rules for use of interpreters for non-English speaking persons for judicial proceedings; (3) use of the Language Line Personal Interpreter Service and/or Spanish-speaking advocates for persons with limited English proficiency by Bibb County Crisis Line & Safe House; (4) special scheduling of judicial proceedings where LEP citizens must appear and provision of qualified interpreters to LEP individuals for those proceedings; (5) availability of language identification flashcards in MBCG departments; (6) provision of language access statements to inform LEP citizens of their rights; (7) posting of signs regarding language access rights at public counters and waiting areas; and (8) posting of language access information on MBCG 's web site.

Where necessary, language assistance will be provided through use of competent bilingual staff, contracts or arrangements with certified interpreters and/or translators, or technology and telephonic interpretation services. MBCG employees will be provided notice of this policy and procedure, and staff that may have direct contact with LEP citizens will be trained on use of language identification materials and how to obtain an interpreter if needed.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

PRIVACY

It is the policy of MBCG to comply with all laws and regulations with respect to privacy and protection of confidential and personal information including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), as well as with standard professional practices of protection of confidential and personal information. Employees are expected to be sensitive to confidentiality and privacy issues and to perform job duties in a manner consistent with legal and standard practices.

The following procedures with regard to employee privacy apply to all MBCG employees:

- a. Personal information such as home address and telephone numbers, names of family members, health conditions of employees or family members, personal financial information, and personal identity information, i.e., Social Security Number or Federal Identification Number shall be protected and shall not be released to any individual, vendor, or agency without a legitimate need to know, without express written permission from the employee or affected individual, or unless required by law.
 - Records containing personal information shall be secured as appropriate. In no circumstance shall records containing personal information be left open or unattended where unauthorized persons may access the information.
 - Individuals requesting personal information should provide personal identification, i.e., photo identification, government credentials, badge, etc. and legitimate proof of authority, i.e., warrant, court order, signed authorization from person whose information is requested.
 - If there is any doubt as to whether personal information or documents containing personal information should be released, employees should contact the Department Head, Human Resources Department, or the legal staff.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- b. Information related to operations of MBCG is covered under the Georgia Open Records Act and may be subject to copying or examination by anyone requesting such information. Department heads and managers will, with the assistance of the Macon-Bibb County Attorney or his designee, determine the parameters of obligations under the Georgia Open Records Act for their area of responsibility, and will train employees of their departments on the handling of Open Records Act requests. Employees should be aware that salary information, redacted personnel files, as well as other information concerning their positions of employment with MBCG may be subject to the Georgia Open Records Act.
- c. Special care should be taken to protect medical information about any employee, any employee's family member(s), and any citizen, vendor or other person connected with MBCG.
 - In the absence of express permission from the affected person, or from their legal guardian or holder of a lawful power of attorney, information concerning any of the following should not be released or revealed, verbally or in writing:
 - 1. That a person is ill, hospitalized, or under a physician's care
 - Description of a person's symptoms, unless specifically work-related, i.e., to process leave under the Family Medical Leave Act, worker's compensation, return to work following leave, fitness for duty documentation, drug/alcohol investigation, etc.
 - Description of the condition of a person beyond that which is officially given by a healthcare provider, i.e., "serious," "critical," "stable," etc.
 - 4. Diagnosis or prognosis

- Even where permission has been granted to reveal medical information, casual conversations and gossip concerning the person should be avoided.
- Upon receiving notification that an employee or employee's family member has a serious illness or is hospitalized, the manager or supervisor should inquire as to what information the employee would like for co-workers or other employees to know. As long as the employee gives permission for release of information, it is appropriate for co-workers or other employees to send cards, notes, or flowers. Visiting the person or preparing meals for his/her family may also be appropriate, but must be authorized by the affected employee in advance.

TITLE VI COMPLIANCE

The MBCG assures that no person shall on the grounds of race, color, national origin, as provided by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving federal financial assistance. MBCG further assures every effort will be made to ensure nondiscrimination in all of its programs and activities, whether those programs and activities are federally funded or not.

The MBCG Compliance Officer and Departmental Title VI Coordinators are responsible for initiating and monitoring Title VI activities, preparing required reports, and other responsibilities as required by Title VI.

For additional information about MBCG's non-discrimination obligations under Title VI, or to file a Title VI Discrimination Complaint, please send your written request or complaint to:

(Compliance Officer Name) (Address) (City, State, Zip Code)

> With a copy to: (Name) (Email Address)

Title VI Complaint Procedure

A complaint alleging discrimination against a department or entity within MBCG should be filed with the Compliance Officer. The Compliance Officer is primarily responsible for receiving and acknowledging complaints, investigating the basis for the complaint, and reporting the findings. Complaints are preferred in writing, using the Complaint Form which follows this policy, and sent to the MBCG Compliance Officer; however, verbal complaints will be accepted, transcribed by the Compliance Officer or his designee and signed by the complainant. The complainant or his/her representative may complete the Complaint Form.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

The MBCG Compliance Officer will keep the original and forward a copy to the respective Title VI coordinator of the department against whom the complaint is filed. The complainant may be represented by an attorney or other representative of his/her own choosing and may bring witnesses and present testimony and evidence in the course of any subsequent investigation.

All complaints must be filed with the MBCG Compliance Officer unless complaints are filed with external entities first. The Compliance Officer will notify the respective Title VI department coordinator of the filed complaint. The complaint must be filed no later than 180 calendar days after the alleged discriminatory incident.

The Compliance Officer will investigate complaints against all other departments, in conjunction with and under the advice of MBCG's Attorney or his designee, and will make a finding based on the investigation. The investigation may include a discussion of the complaint with all affected parties to determine the problem.

The Compliance Officer will maintain a Title VI Complaint Log detailing the type and status of each complaint. The Complaint Log shall be maintained in a locked filing cabinet and shall be maintained for a period of three (3) years. The log shall include a case file number and shall indicate the date of receipt; nature of complaint; and disposition of the complaint.

Complaint files shall include a copy of the written complaint or a summary of the oral complaint; a record of contacts made and information obtained during the investigation; and other related correspondence from the complainant, agency or organization against whom the complaint was made. Complaints shall be held strictly confidential to the extent allowable by law.

When the investigation is concluded, the Compliance Officer, in cooperation with MBCG's Attorney or his designee, will prepare a written report of findings. Should this report include a finding of Title VI violation, proposed remedial action shall also be included in the report.

The final report will include the following:

1. The written complaint containing the allegation, basis, and date of filing

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 2. Summarized statements taken from witnesses
- Finding of facts
- 4. Opinion (based on all evidence in the record) that the incident is substantiated or unsubstantiated
- 5. Remedial action(s) for substantiated cases

The Compliance Officer will retain a copy of the report on permanent file and the findings will be communicated to the complainant within ten (10) business days of the finding. The complainant may also file a complaint with the Regional Division of the U.S. Office of Civil Rights in Atlanta, Georgia. To allow for sequential filing with external entities, the report shall be released no later than sixty (60) calendar days of the date on which the complaint was received. Any complainant unsatisfied with the finding may choose to appeal the finding to an external entity such as the Regional Division of the U.S. Office of Civil Rights in Atlanta, Georgia.

Should a complaint be filed with MBCG and an external entity simultaneously, the external complaint shall supersede the MBCG complaint and MBCG's complaint procedures will be suspended pending the external findings.

If corrective action(s) are recommended, the alleged discriminatory contractor or subcontractor will be given thirty (30) calendar days to inform the MBCG Title VI Coordinator of the actions taken for compliance. Corrective actions can be in the form of actions to be taken at a future date after the initial thirty (30) days with projected time period(s) in which action will be completed. All corrective actions must be made within sixty (60) days from the date of the actual recommendation.

If the recommended corrective action(s) have not been taken within the sixty (60) days time period allowed, the contractor or sub-contractor will be found to be in non-compliance with Title VI rules and regulations, and a plan will be undertaken for enforcement action.

Appeal Procedures

1. The complainant has the right to appeal all written reports to the Compliance Officer in writing within fourteen (14) days of receipt of the final report of findings.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 2. The appeal must specifically cite the portion(s) of the finding with which the complainant disagrees and his/her reason(s) for disagreement.
- 3. The Compliance Officer will forward this appeal within seven (7) days to the MBCG Civil Rights Unit for review.
- 4. The review of the finding by the Civil Rights Unit will be based on the entire record.
- 5. The Civil Rights Unit must complete the appeal review within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of the appeal.

The Civil Rights Unit will forward written findings to the complainant, the Compliance Officer, MBCG's Attorney, MBCG's Mayor and County Commission.

GEORGIA WHISTLEBLOWER ACT

To comply with the Georgia Whistleblower Act and O.C.G.A. 45-1-4, the MBCG County Commission encourages employees to report information concerning the possible existence of any activity constituting fraud, waste, and abuse in or relating to any program, function, or operation of MBCG. In furtherance of this policy, the County Commission has designated the County Manager as the individual to receive whistleblower complaints. In addition to the County Manager, employees may also make complaints to their department head.

O.C.G.A. 45-1-4 (a) (5) prohibits the discharge, suspension, demotion or any other adverse employment action by a public employer against a public employee for disclosing a violation of or noncompliance with a law, rule, or regulation to either a supervisor or government agency, unless the disclosure was made with knowledge that the disclosure was false or with reckless disregard for its truth or falsity.

Disclosure of the identity of a "whistleblower" employee is prohibited without the employee's written consent, unless the employer determines such disclosure is necessary and unavoidable during the course of the investigation. In such event, the public employee shall be notified in writing at least seven (7) days prior to such disclosure.

SECTION 4: PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

POLICY	NUMBER
Disciplinary Action	4.01
Employee Problem Solving Procedure	4.02
Evaluation of Employee Performance and Compensation Decisions	4.03

DISCIPLINARY ACTION

It is the philosophy of MBCG that effective supervision and employee relations and commitment by employees to adhere to Macon-Bibb County and department policies in conscientious performance of job duties will avoid most matters which necessitate disciplinary action. Supervisors and managers are encouraged to work with Human Resources staff for guidance and assistance in applying disciplinary action. The purpose for Macon-Bibb County and departmental policies and for disciplinary action imposed for infraction of such policies is to ensure the rights of all and to secure cooperation, productivity, and orderliness throughout the County for the benefit of the citizens and taxpayers of Macon-Bibb County.

This written disciplinary action policy, and the guidelines and forms of disciplinary action detailed herein, shall not limit, in any way, the absolute discretion of the authorized department head, supervisor, or other official to terminate employment at will except as otherwise limited by law, nor shall the opportunity to impose disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment, be interpreted as creating a requirement for the specific reason for termination.

Employees of independent elected officials work at the pleasure of the elected official. Employees of Constitutional officers and independent elected officials are not covered by this policy unless the official in whose office they are employed has opted in to full coverage for his/her employees under this Manual by execution of an Election Form by an Elected Official contained herein. If any employee of a Constitutional officer or independent elected official desires to determine whether a particular official has opted in to this Manual, he/she may do so by contacting the MBCG Human Resources Department.

Sworn Bibb County Sheriff's Office personnel are under the Bibb County Police Civil Service System and Board, created by an act of Georgia Law and as outlined in the MBCG Code of Ordinances.

Employees who are members of the Mayor's executive staff are not covered by this policy, and shall work at the pleasure of the Mayor.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Disciplinary Action

- A. Disciplinary action shall be taken as expeditiously as possible and as soon as a final determination is made that a violation has occurred. This normally should not require more than five (5) days after the occurrence is established or after a determination is made that discipline is to be based on multiple disciplinary actions which have occurred over a five year period of time. If disciplinary action is delayed for administrative review or investigation purposes, the employee should normally be notified and advised that the imposition of disciplinary action is being considered.
- B. A department head, subject to the procedural rights of employees stated herein, shall have the following options for disciplinary action:
 - 1. Verbal warning with documentation to file;
 - 2. Written reprimand;
 - 3. Reduction of compensation/rank within the range provided in the pay plan;
 - 4. Suspension without pay for up to 30 working days;
 - 5. Demotion of one or more pay grades, including possible transfer;
 - 6. Discharge.

The department head shall consult with the Human Resources Director or his/her designee before suspending, reducing pay, demoting or terminating an employee.

C. Employees may not be disciplined for exercising their civil rights guaranteed by the constitution and laws, and to that end shall not be disciplined for such things as:

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 1. Becoming a member of a political club or organization and enjoying complete freedom from all interference in casting their vote;
- 2. Seeking signatures to any initiative or petition directly affecting their rates of pay, hours or work, working conditions, retirement or other benefits on their own time:
- Publicly criticizing Mayor and County Commission or other Macon-Bibb County officials as long as such criticism is not obscene, defamatory, unlawful or made with reckless disregard for truth or falsity and does not undermine discipline or confidential relationships necessary to the proper functioning of MBCG.
- D. The Human Resources Director or his/her designee is available to department head and employees alike who seek advice regarding what activities or conduct may or may not be an offense against the employment relationship and the application and interpretation of this guideline.

Review For Disciplinary Action

Before any disciplinary action is initiated, the department head will:

- 1. Review the charges and any applicable department rules or regulations.
- 2. Review the evidence (documentation, statements of witnesses, etc.) that substantiates the validity of the charged violation to include any mitigating factors.
- Review previous disciplinary actions taken to insure that the action considered is consistent with previous disciplinary actions taken under the same or similar circumstances.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Applying Disciplinary Action

Disciplinary action can range from a verbal warning up to and including termination of employment, depending on the severity of the offense and the employee's past record of job performance and/or any prior disciplinary actions. It is the responsibility of all managers and supervisors to apply this policy with consistency. If a supervisor or manager is contemplating disciplinary action, he or she should contact Human Resources for guidance. A Human Resources representative may make recommendations or provide guidance in applying disciplinary action; the ultimate determination of the level of disciplinary action to be imposed, however, remains with the manager/supervisor.

The MBCG reserves the right to apply or begin disciplinary action at any level. Active previous disciplinary action will be taken into account when considering disciplinary action, whether the new incident is similar in nature to the previous incident(s) or not. Managers and supervisors will also consider the severity and nature of the offense, repeat violation, and the overall circumstances of the incident when evaluating application of disciplinary action.

The guidelines, lists of offenses, and suggested penalties set forth below are not to be considered absolute, but as guidelines dependent on the severity of the offense and the employee's past record of job performance. The lists represent some, but not all, offenses which will result in disciplinary action. The Human Resources Department will assist supervisors and department heads in investigation of incidents and in determining the appropriate disciplinary action to be applied.

Group I Offenses

- 1. Failure to work assigned hours, including overtime, and including working overtime without permission of the supervisor or manager
- 2. Taking more than the specified time for meal or rest periods
- 3. Chronic tardiness (6 times in a 6 month period.)
- 4. Chronic absenteeism (6 days in a 6 month period.)
- 5. Absence without permission or leave
- 6. Quitting work, wasting time, loitering or leaving assigned work area without permission
- 7. Disregarding job duties as evidenced by loafing or neglect of work during working hours
- 8. In continuous operations, leaving the work post at the end of the scheduled shift with no relief available
- 9. Failure to meet required standards of productivity or quality
- 10. Continual careless mistakes
- 11. Violation of a safety rule or practice
- 12. Failure to report an accident or injury incurred on the job, or falsely reporting an on-the-job accident
- 13. Engaging in horseplay or other malicious mischief, catcalling, harassment or other disorderly conduct on the job
- 14. Creating or contributing to unsafe or unsanitary conditions on the job
- 15. Use or possession of another employee's tools or equipment without that employee's consent
- Interference with or disruption of another employee's performance of their job duties

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 17. Discourteous treatment of the public, visitors, or other employees
- 18. Failure to follow any internal or departmental policies and procedures
- 19. Failure to cooperate in any way in an administrative investigation conducted by any department, elected office, or by the Macon-Bibb County Attorney or his/her designee. This includes, but is not limited to, providing false or incomplete information, withholding information, failure to be available for an interview, refusal to be interviewed, failure to maintain confidentiality when instructed, and any conduct that hinders or interferes with the investigation.
- 20. Violation of computer usage, social media, or telephone usage policy
- 21. Violation of the anti-idling policy

Generally, commission of a Group I offense will result in a documented verbal warning, unless the offense is a repeat violation or the incident is determined to be intentional or severe enough to warrant a higher level of disciplinary action. In such instances, Group I offenses may result in a written warning or final warning, with or without suspension from employment without pay, or in a paid suspension from employment pending discharge investigation.

Group II Offenses

- 1. Threatening, intimidating, coercing or using abusive language toward fellow employees, supervisors, or the public
- 2. Sleeping during working hours unless otherwise provided for certain jobs, and with permission of the supervisor
- 3. Consumption or possession of alcohol or other intoxicants on the job
- 4. Gambling or engaging in games of chance on the job
- 5. Leaving the job during regular work hours without permission

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 6. Careless mistakes that affect the safety of Macon-Bibb County personnel or bystanders
- 7. Vending, commercial soliciting, or engaging in for-profit activities
- 8. Job-related careless mistakes damaging material, parts or equipment
- Commission of any unethical act prohibited by the MBCG Ethics Ordinance, as amended
- Creating or causing unrest, division or collusion among employees; having or promoting a negative attitude that tends to undermine the mission or goals of an office or department
- 11. Violation of computer usage, social media or telephone usage policy for malicious or fraudulent purpose
- 12. Repeat violation of the anti-idling policy

Generally, commission of a Group II offense will result in a written warning and a two (2) day suspension from work without pay, unless the offense is a repeat violation or the incident is determined to be intentional or severe enough to warrant a higher level of disciplinary action. In such instances, Group II offenses may result in a written warning or final warning, with unpaid suspension from employment of up to five (5) days, or in a paid suspension from employment pending discharge investigation.

Group III Offenses

- 1. Wanton and willful neglect in performance of assigned duties
- 2. Deliberate misuse, destruction, damage, sabotage or pilferage of Macon-Bibb County property or property of an employee or citizen
- 3. Falsification of Human Resources or any Macon-Bibb County records,

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

including, but not limited to, employment applications, accident records, purchase orders, time records, work records, expense reimbursement requisitions and administrative records

- 4. Sexual, race, gender, or other harassment in violation of Macon Bibb County's harassment policies
- 5. Making false claims or misrepresentations in an attempt to obtain sickness or accident benefits, worker's compensation benefits, or unemployment compensation benefits
- 6. Insubordination through discourtesy, including, but not limited to, the use of abusive language to anyone with whom employee may have contact on the job, including citizens, vendors, other employees, or management employees
- 7. Insubordination through the refusal to perform work assigned or to comply with written or verbal instructions of the supervisor or Macon-Bibb County officer
- 8. Unauthorized possession of any weapon, firearm, or explosive on the job (possession of explosive must be job-related and authorized by the County Commission or the supervising Macon-Bibb County officer)
- 9. Theft, attempted theft, or unauthorized removal of property belonging to Macon-Bibb County, a co-worker, or a citizen
- 10. The use, possession or sale of any illegal drugs or hallucinogens while on the job or on Macon-Bibb County property
- 11. Habitual inefficiency, incompetence, or inadequate performance
- 12. Use or attempted use of political influence or bribery to secure an advantage in any matter

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 13. Concerted curtailment or restriction of production or interference with work in or about Macon-Bibb County work stations, including, but not limited to, leading or participating in any walkout, strike, slowdown, or other work stoppage or refusal to return to work when scheduled
- 14. Fraud in securing employment
- 15. Conviction of a felony or misdemeanor offense that would adversely affect performance of duties; conviction of a crime of moral turpitude; or a plea of guilty or *nolo contendere* (no contest) to any of the above
- 16. Reporting to work under the influence of any intoxicant or in an impaired state
- 17. Provoking or instigating a fight on the job, fighting at any time on Macon-Bibb County property, or actions which result in bodily harm to others while on the job
- 18. Bullying
- 19. Aiding or abetting the commission of a fraudulent act by another employee
- 20. Repeated commission of Group II offense(s)

Generally, commission of a Group III offense will result in a paid suspension from employment pending a discharge investigation.

It is the policy of MBCG to make certain to the fullest extent possible that each employee and all citizens conducting business with MBCG at public buildings and facilities is provided with a safe environment which is free from violence or anti-social conduct. In order to achieve this goal, MBCG operates under a policy of zero tolerance for violence or any conduct which threatens the safety or well-being of its employees and visitors to its facilities. Accordingly, the following acts will result in termination of employment:

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 1. Breaches of any security procedure implemented by MBCG or any official or employee under its authority;
- 2. Divulging information which threatens the security of MBCG personnel or property;
- 3. Sabotage of any property or equipment of MBCG through intentional misconduct or gross negligence;
- 4. Committing or threatening to commit an act of violence against any employee, supervisor, elected official, appointed official, or any other agent of Macon-Bibb County;
- 5. Sexual or racial harassment of an employee or citizen conducting business with Macon-Bibb County;
- 6. Reporting to work in possession of or under the influence of intoxicants;
- 7. Intentionally discriminating against an applicant or employee in the terms or conditions of his/her employment or harassing a person on the basis of race, handicap, age, national origin, genetic information, or sexual orientation;
- 8. Retaliation against an employee for exercising rights under these policies or any state or federal law; opposing any practice made unlawful by Title VII; making a charge, testifying, assisting, or participating in a Title VII proceeding or investigation; or engaging in any action which dissuades a reasonable employee from making or supporting a charge of discrimination.

Discharge Investigation

Upon the commission of a Group III offense, the supervisor or department head shall immediately contact the Human Resources Department. The Human Resources Director or Assistant Director will, with the counsel of the Macon-Bibb County attorney or his designee, conduct an investigation of the offense. Employees accused of commission of an offense warranting discharge will be suspended from employment with pay while the charge is under investigation. The supervisor or department head will notify the employee, in writing, within five (5) business days of the outcome of the investigation and the status of his/her employment. If the employee is discharged, the notification shall indicate such and shall provide the date of the discharge. The paid suspension pending discharge investigation should not exceed ten (10) business days except in extraordinary circumstances.

Failure in Performance of Duties

An employee whose work is unsatisfactory over a period of time should be notified by the supervisor of the deficiencies in his/her work, and of what must be done to bring the work to a satisfactory level. Unless the employee's actions are of a severe nature requiring immediate disciplinary action, the employee should be warned either orally or in writing at least once before the employee is dismissed, demoted, or separated from employment.

In most cases where the employee's actions are not of a severe nature requiring immediate disciplinary action, a three (3) step procedure can be a helpful and constructive guideline to follow: First, one or more verbal warnings should be issued by the supervisor; second, the supervisor should issue a written warning, to be signed by the employee and setting forth the points covered in correcting the performance deficiency. This written warning provides notice to the employee that corrected performance must take place immediately to avoid application of more stringent disciplinary action. Third, a written warning to the employee, which may be styled as a final warning, outlining further failure to correct performance or repeat infraction of policy or performance standards. This warning should indicate what disciplinary action will be applied in the instance of any future infraction.

Verbal warnings, written warnings, actions and directions should all be documented on forms provided by the Human Resources Department.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Record of Disciplinary Action

In **all cases** of disciplinary action, **including verbal warnings**, the Notice of Disciplinary Action form or a disciplinary memorandum/letter shall be completed, and will include the following information:

- 1. Nature of the Offense-circumstances, date, time, etc.
- 2. Previous applicable discussions/training or active warnings in file
- 3. Future expectations for the employee's performance
- 4. Consequences of future infractions

The employee will be provided with a copy of the completed form or disciplinary memorandum/letter and will be asked to sign to acknowledge receipt of the copy. The employee shall be provided with an opportunity to respond in writing to the disciplinary action. Such written response must be provided within five (5) business days and will be placed in the employee's personnel file.

Right of Appeal

Any employee who has received disciplinary action, including termination of employment for a stated cause, shall have the right to appeal the disciplinary action by filing a grievance in accordance with the MBCG Employee Problem Solving Procedure, provided that (1) the appeal meets the definition of a grievance as provided in the Employee Problem Solving Procedure; (2) the employee is a covered employee as provided by the Employee Problem Solving Procedure; (3) the appeal does not fall into one of the "non-addressed" issues as defined by the Employee Problem Solving Procedure; and (4) all other requirements of the Employee Problem Solving Procedure are met.

This appeal provision shall not give any employee legitimate expectation of continued employment.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

EMPLOYEE PROBLEM SOLVING PROCEDURE

Purpose

In order to provide an orderly process for resolving concerns of employees, MBCG has instituted and adheres to a written procedure for communication of employee concerns aimed at reaching a fair and equitable resolution of the issue in a timely manner. Efforts should be made by the employee and his/her supervisor or manager, with the assistance of the Human Resources Department if needed, before a formal procedure is instituted.

This policy and procedure may be amended at any time by the MBCG County Commission. In the event of termination of employment or other disciplinary action governed by this policy, the policy then in effect shall govern. This procedure is not meant to constitute, nor shall it be deemed to constitute, any expectation of continued employment.

The following regulations concerning covered employees shall govern the problem solving procedure:

- 1. All non-probationary, full-time and part-time employees with MBCG are entitled to utilize this procedure. Probationary employees and temporary employees are excluded from the employee problem solving procedure.
- 2. Appointed officials work at the pleasure of the Mayor and are not covered under this procedure.
- 3. Law enforcement employees of the Bibb County Sheriff's Office shall address issues covered by this policy in accordance with the Bibb County Police Civil Service System and Board, set forth in the MBCG Code of Ordinances.
- 4. Employees of Constitutional officers and independent elected officials are not covered by this policy unless the official in whose office they are employed has opted in to full coverage for his/her employees under this Manual by execution of an Election Form by an Elected Official contained herein. If any employee of a

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Constitutional officer or independent elected official desires to determine whether a particular official has opted in to this Manual, he/she may do so by contacting the MBCG Human Resources Department.

Employees who are members of the Mayor's executive staff are not covered by this policy, and shall work at the pleasure of the Mayor.

Non-addressed Issues

The following issues are not covered by this procedure, and are not subject to the filing of any employee grievance:

- 1. Issues which are pending or have been concluded by other administrative or judicial procedures;
- 2. Work assignments which do not result in a demotion or salary reduction unless the complainant alleges unlawful discrimination in the making of such assignment;
- 3. Budget allocations and expectations in organizational structure, including the person or number of persons assigned to particular jobs or units;
- 4. The content or rating of a performance appraisal except when the employee alleges unlawful discrimination in the making of the appraisal;
- 5. The selection of an individual by the Mayor and County Commission to fill a position through appointment, promotion or transfer except when the employee alleges that the appointment, promotion or transfer was characterized by unlawful discrimination;
- 6. Any matter which is not within the jurisdiction or control of the appointing authority;
- 7. Internal security practices established by the appointing authority or the Mayor and/or County Commission;
- 8. Decisions, policies, practices, resolutions or ordinances made or passed by the

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

County Commission or the appointing authority which are not job or work related and which do not contradict these policies;

- 9. An adverse action against the employee where the disciplinary action is limited solely to an oral or written warning;
- 10. Pay for a job or job classification.

Responsibilities / Efforts to Avoid Formal Employee Grievances

Macon-Bibb County Employee

Within five (5) working days of a complaint addressed by this problem solving procedure, the employee must notify his or her first-line supervisor in an attempt to resolve the matter. This first notification may be made orally or in writing.

Supervisor

It is the responsibility of the supervisor to treat all employees fairly and equitably under MBCG rules, regulations, policies and procedures. As problems are often caused by misunderstandings and/or disagreements, it is important that the supervisor immediately enter into an open discussion of the issues with the employee in order to reach a fair, amicable and workable agreement or solution as soon as possible. Supervisors who refuse to counsel with an employee who presents a concern may be subject to disciplinary action.

Department Head

It is the responsibility of each department head to continuously review how MBCG departmental rules, regulations, policies and operating procedures are being implemented and carried out within their respective department to ensure that all employees are receiving fair and equitable treatment. The department head is responsible for reviewing complaints stated orally or in writing by employees in their department and for assisting in arriving at the most satisfactory agreement or solution based on the facts and conditions that exist. Where the department head is also the immediate supervisor, the department head will have the same duties and responsibilities of a first-line supervisor as stated above.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Human Resources Department

It is the responsibility of the Human Resources Director and the Human Resources staff to assist Macon-Bibb County employees at all levels of management, and to assist elected officials who have opted in to coverage for his/her employees under this manual by execution of an Election Form by an Elected Official contained herein, in the interpretation and application of procedures in order to prevent unfair or inequitable treatment of employees through improper application of policies, rules and procedures. If any employee of a MBCG elected official desires to determine whether a particular elected official has opted in to this Manual, he/she may do so by contacting the MBCG Human Resources Department.

• Human Resources Representative or Staff Member

The Human Resources representative or staff member will assist the complainant in the interpretation of this policy; assist the complainant in resolving his or her complaint and/or request for hearing; and generally advise the complainant, if requested, during the problem solving process. If the complainant retains an attorney to represent him or her during the course of the procedure, the Human Resources representative or staff member will refer that attorney to the office of Macon-Bibb County's attorney for assistance.

Procedural Requirements

Step 1: Discussion with Supervisor

An employee who in good faith believes that he/she has a complaint under this policy should first discuss the problem with the employee's immediate supervisor within five (5) working days after the occurrence of the event. The supervisor should attempt to resolve the problem promptly, and in a fair and amicable manner. Within five (5) working days after the employee brings a complaint to the supervisor's attention, the supervisor, having obtained all of the facts, shall give the employee a decision along with a full verbal explanation of the reasons for the decision. If no solution is readily apparent, if the five (5) day deadline for a decision cannot be met, or if the outcome is not satisfactory to the employee, the employee should proceed to Step 2 of the problem solving procedure.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Step 2: Employee Problem Solving Form

If the employee gets no satisfaction from, or for good reason prefers to bypass the immediate supervisor, such employee shall complete an Employee Problem Solving Form. The Employee Problem Solving Form must be submitted to the employee's department head, and a copy of the form must be submitted to the Human Resources Assistant, within fifteen (15) working days after the occurrence of the event or incident which forms the basis for the grievance. If the employee desires, the Human Resources representative will assist the employee in submitting the employee problem solving form.

An employee is entitled to retain the services of an attorney to represent him/her in connection with his/her grievance, but such representation shall be at the employee's own expense. Either the Human Resources Director/Assistant Director or the department head may request assistance from the Macon-Bibb County attorney or his designee to assist with the complaint on behalf of Macon-Bibb County.

The Human Resources representative shall conduct an investigation into the complaint and present the department head and Human Resources Director/Assistant Director a summary of the findings of the investigation. After receipt of the problem solving form, the department head should then notify the employee and the immediate supervisor in writing of his or her decision within five (5) working days after receipt of the employee problem solving form. If the employee is dissatisfied with the decision of the department head, the employee may make a written request for a hearing.

In cases where the employee alleges unlawful employment discrimination or sexual harassment, the employee may by-pass any step which requires the employee to communicate with a supervisor or department head where such individual is accused of the unlawful employment discrimination or the harassment if the employee has the reasonable belief that he or she will face adverse employment consequences if such communications are made. Such claims should be reported immediately to the EEO Officer for MBCG (Human Resources Director).

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

While employees of MBCG Constitutional officers and independent elected officials are not specifically covered under this Personnel Policy Manual unless such elected official has opted in to full coverage for his/her employees under this manual by execution of an Election Form by a Constitutional Officer or Elected Official contained herein, they are covered by all applicable federal and state laws, including those governing equal opportunity and non-discrimination.

Step 3: Request for Hearing

- **Time for filing**: An employee must file a request for a hearing with the Department of Human Resources within ten (10) working days after receipt of the written decision by the Department Head made pursuant to Step 2 above.
- Contents of request: The request for hearing shall contain a statement describing what is being appealed; the request shall be filed on a form provided by the Department of Human Resources.
- Hearing Officer: Upon receipt of the employee's choice of strike, the Human Resources Department will, within three (3) business days, furnish the Macon-Bibb County attorney with the list of the remaining panel members. The Macon-Bibb County attorney or his/her designee, upon receipt of the list, will have five (5) business days to notify the Human Resources Department in writing which panel member, he/she chooses to strike.
- Referral to Hearing Officer: Within five (5) business days after receipt of the Macon-Bibb County attorney's strike from the hearing officer panel of attorneys, the Department of Human Resources will refer the request for hearing to the hearing officer. The hearing officer will determine if the case is covered under the MBCG Employee Problem Solving Procedure and if all procedural requirements have been met. If the request for hearing has been properly filed, the hearing officer will notify the employee of the date, time and place of the hearing. The hearing officer will also notify the Macon-Bibb County attorney of the date, time

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

and place of the appeal hearing and the Macon-Bibb County attorney or his/her designee shall represent the department head or Macon-Bibb County, as the case may be. The hearing will be conducted in accordance with the procedures set forth below.

 Waiver: The employee's failure to comply with these procedures including but not limited to the employee's failure to give timely notice, will result in a waiver of the employee's right to pursue a complaint under this procedure.

Step 4: Hearing

Conduct of Hearing: With regard to the conduct of the hearing, the hearing officer shall:

- 1. Administer oaths and affirmations;
- 2. Regulate the course of the hearing;
- 3. Set the time and place for continued hearings and pre-hearing conferences;
- 4. Fix the time for filing written arguments as deemed appropriate;
- 5. Adjudicate motions pertaining to preliminary, jurisdictional and ancillary matters as set forth by the parties;
- 6. Provide for, where applicable, the taking of testimony by deposition, interrogatories or other written statements;
- Reprimand or exclude from the hearing any person for any indecorous or improper conduct committed in the presence of the hearing officer;
- 8. Make informal disposition of any case by stipulation, agreed settlement, consent order or default, if appropriate and not otherwise precluded by law;

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 9. Require the attendance of witnesses/employees. Employees appearing as witnesses shall be released from their duty without loss of pay and without effect on their service rating. An employee who is designated as a witness by either the department head or by the employee may be disciplined for failure to appear at the hearing. No person shall directly or indirectly use or threaten to use an official authority or other influence which would tend to discourage a person from testifying;
- 10. Arrange a pre-hearing conference for the purpose of reviewing the matter being appealed and establishing stipulations and agreements to expedite the hearing.
- **Hearing Procedures**: In the hearing of a complaint, proceedings shall be informal but orderly. The following procedures shall prevail:
 - 1. The hearing officer shall read or cause to be read the complaint and specifications as contained in the employee problem solving form.
 - 2. The stipulations as to any facts not in dispute shall be entered into the record.
 - 3. Each party shall be given the opportunity to make a brief opening statement identifying the issues and stating what is to be proven.
 - 4. All witnesses shall testify under oath or affirmation.
 - 5. Each party may conduct such examination of the witnesses as shall be required for a full and true disclosure of the facts. This includes the right to cross-examine witnesses adverse to any party's position. In addition, the hearing examiner may examine the witnesses.
 - 6. Official notice may be taken of facts generally recognized by the public. In addition, official notice may be taken of technical facts within any specialized knowledge of the hearing officer. Parties shall be notified either before or during the hearing of the material officially noted, and they shall be afforded an opportunity to contest the material so noticed.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 7. MBCG shall provide at its expense a certified court reporter, who will take down the testimony at the hearing. In the event that the hearing officer requests that the hearing be transcribed, such transcription will be at the expense of Macon-Bibb County. In the event that either of the parties request that the hearing be transcribed, such transcription cost shall be at the expense of the party so requesting the transcript.
- 8. An employee may represent himself/herself at the hearing or he/she may retain the services of an attorney to represent the employee at the hearing. A member of the Human Resources staff may reasonably assist the employee and/or his/her attorney. In the event that the employee does retain the services of an attorney to represent him/her, the MBCG County Commission will reimburse the employee for said employee's attorney's fees and expenses in an amount not greater than five hundred (\$500.00) dollars, if the hearing officer renders a final decision in favor of the employee.
- 9. Before closing the hearing, the hearing officer shall allow both parties the opportunity to make brief oral or written closing arguments.
- 10. The hearing officer who presided shall, within fifteen (15) working days from the close of evidence, issue a written decision with findings of fact and reasons for the hearing officer's recommended decision. Provided, however, for good cause, the hearing officer may extend the time for rendering a decision for an additional fifteen (15) working days. The hearing officer's decision will be final and binding, and a copy shall be immediately transmitted to all parties, the Mayor and County Commission.
- 11. The hearing shall be open to the public as required by law, provided that the hearing may be closed at the request of the employee if such closures are authorized by law. Likewise, any documentary and other evidence shall be available for public inspection as required by law.

- Evidentiary Rules: With respect to all hearings before the hearing officer, the following rules regarding the evidence shall govern:
 - Formal, legal rules of evidence shall not be strictly applied. Evidence may be admitted if it is of a type commonly relied upon by reasonably prudent persons in the conduct of their affairs. The hearing officer shall follow the Georgia Rules of Evidence regarding privileges recognized by state law.
 - 2. Irrelevant, immaterial or unduly repetitious evidence may be excluded. Objections to evidentiary offers shall be made and ruled upon by the hearing officer.
 - 3. When a hearing will be expedited and the interest of the parties will not be prejudiced thereby, any part of the evidence may be received in written form, including but not limited to the use of depositions, interrogatories, and affidavits or written statements.
 - 4. The burden of proof shall be on the party requesting the hearing. That party shall have the right to open and conclude the hearing.
 - 5. Documentary evidence may be received in the form of copies. However, upon request and at the discretion of the hearing officer, parties shall be given the opportunity to compare with the original document.
 - 6. The hearing officer's decision should be supported by substantial evidence. Substantial evidence is that degree of relevant evidence that a reasonable mind, considering the record as a whole, might accept as adequate to support a conclusion that the matter asserted is true.

• Appointment and Compensation of Hearing Officers

An independent, impartial hearing officer shall be selected to hear the case and conduct the hearing set forth herein. The Mayor or County Commission shall provide a list of three (3) attorneys, each of whom shall have been licensed and a member of the State Bar of Georgia for at least ten (10) years. The employee and Macon-Bibb County attorney, or his/her designee, shall each strike one name from the list and the remaining name shall be appointed as the hearing officer.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

• Time Requirement

Failure of the employee to comply with the time limits specified in this employee problem-solving procedure shall be deemed to be an abandonment of the procedure and the complaint will be dismissed. However, if the supervisors involved fail to answer in a timely fashion any of the procedural steps involved in Steps 1 and 2, the employee, if he or she desires, may proceed to the next procedural step as outlined, provided that such failure to answer within the prescribed time limits shall not amount to an admission by the supervisor in question that an employee's complaint has merit. The time limits may be extended in writing by mutual agreement of the parties.

• Final Written Disposition

Written and satisfactory dispositions of employee complaints shall be kept in a special file in the Human Resources Department and will not be placed in any employee or supervisor's personnel file.

EVALUATION OF EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE AND COMPENSATION DECISIONS

This policy applies to all full-time and part-time MBCG employees.

The MBCG has established a uniform method of evaluating an employee's job performance for the purpose of employee development and any merit step increase(s) to which the employee may become entitled. Official performance appraisals for both full-time and part-time employees will be completed after an employee has completed six (6) months of service with Macon Bibb County, or after completion of six (6) months in a new position. All employees will receive official performance appraisals annually thereafter.

New employees who have completed six (6) continuous months of service (probationary period) may receive their first merit step increase at the end of this six (6) month period with a satisfactory performance evaluation, provided that the County Commission have approved merit increases for that fiscal year.

Managers or supervisors may choose to delay an employee's official performance appraisal if the employee has been absent or on leave for a significant period of time during the relevant review period. Any such decision to delay a performance appraisal should be communicated to the Human Resources Department.

Merit step increases are given for salary advancement as a means of compensating employees for achievement, to encourage careers with Macon Bibb County, and to provide employee incentive. Merit increases are not automatic, but are based upon formal performance appraisals by supervisors and are granted only when the quality of work performance meets or exceeds standards, and when the County Commission authorizes salary increases.

Each year the Mayor and County Commission may determine whether to implement a market adjustment, based upon wage and salary surveys of benchmark positions, the economic marketplace, the local cost-of-living index, and economic/budgetary factors.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

When market adjustments are approved, all employees will receive the increase as a percentage of their salary or wage. Decisions regarding the availability of merit increases and market adjustments are made by the County Commission on an annual basis, and any such decision is subject to change in the sole discretion of the County Commission.

Employees of Constitutional officers and independent elected officials are not covered by this policy unless the official in whose office they are employed has opted in to coverage for his/her employees under this Manual by execution of an Election Form by an Elected Official contained herein. If any employee of a Constitutional officer or independent elected official desires to determine whether a particular official has opted in to this Manual, he/she may do so by contacting the MBCG Human Resources Department.

Employees are evaluated on work-related performance including quantity and quality of work, general work habits, and other factors directly relating to individual task performance. The performance appraisal must be signed by the employee, the supervisor preparing the appraisal, and must continue through the chain of management to the department head, elected official, or designee.

The employee performance appraisal is intended to be and must be an honest and complete assessment of an employee's job performance. The supervisor must use the performance appraisal to make note of both the positives and the negatives related to an employee's performance, and should make specific note of any challenges and deficiencies in performance. The performance appraisal should also set forth a plan for improvement of employee performance where appropriate. Failure by the supervisor and/or department head to honestly assess and record an employee's job performance during a performance appraisal can give rise to difficulties where disciplinary action is later warranted or where disciplinary action is challenged by an employee under Macon Bibb County's Employee Problem Solving Procedure.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

DEFINITIONS

- **Employee**: All full-time permanent and part-time permanent employees on the payroll of Macon-Bibb County.
- MBCG Performance Review Form: The performance evaluation form to be completed on each MBCG full-time and part-time employee.
- Merit Step Increase: The pay increase granted per salary increase schedule if an employee's performance has met satisfactory or above performance standards and if the Mayor and County Commission have approved such increases for the requisite fiscal year.
- Pay Change Period for Merit Step Increase: Merit increases will be made effective
 during the pay period in which the merit step date falls if the department head has
 the MBCG Performance Review form completed and turned in to the Human
 Resources Department by the first day of the month in which the merit step date
 falls. This period occurs after successful completion of the requisite six (6) month
 probationary period and annually thereafter, unless the employee is promoted into a
 new position or the merit increase is held.
- Satisfactory Performance Standard: When an employee is performing the duties and responsibilities for his or her job at the level of efficiency for which he or she is being paid to perform.
- **Unsatisfactory Performance**: When the employee is not meeting the performance standards required for the compensation being paid.
- **Above Satisfactory Performance**: When an employee is exceeding the performance standards of a satisfactory performer. The type of performance should be noted in the comments section of the MBCG Performance Review form.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Performance Evaluation Procedures

Each party involved in the process of evaluating an employee's job performance has specific responsibilities, which are outlined below:

- Evaluating supervisor: The immediate supervisor is responsible for determining and apprising the employee of the performance requirements established for the position, assigning work to the employee, developing the employee's capabilities on the job and evaluating the employee's overall performance. The supervisor establishes and/or monitors the performance requirements and (a) compares the employee's actual performance with the performance requirements of the job and pay received for performing the duties spelled out in the position description, (b) discusses the results of the employee performance evaluation with the employee, (c) plans with the employee for needed improvements or job development of activities that will help the employee grow in the position, (d) completes the MBCG Performance Evaluation form before the employee step date and (e) forward completed evaluation form to the next level supervisor or to the department head.
- Department head: (a) Directs the implementation of the employee performance evaluation plan within their department, (b) reviews the performance evaluation submitted for consistency and adherence to this employee performance guideline, (c) follows up to see that each employee is evaluated and that the evaluation has been discussed with the employee and (d) maintains the discipline necessary to ensure the employee's performance evaluation is meaningful and that employees who are in disagreement with their evaluation are given an opportunity to discuss it with not only the supervisor but their department head. Employee evaluations cannot be changed without the concurrence of the evaluating supervisor. "Department head" includes elected officials, appointed officials, and other MBCG officials.
- **Employee**: The employee is responsible for (a) working cooperatively and diligently to perform his or her job to the best of his or her ability, (b) requesting clarification of his or her evaluating supervisor if any work requirements or standards are not understood by the employee, (c) informing the evaluating supervisor of any special

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

factors or circumstances that should be considered in evaluating his or her performance, (d) accepting constructive suggestions given by the evaluating supervisor or department head for the improvement of the employee's overall performance.

• **Human Resources Department**: Reviews all evaluations for conformity to guidelines; processes merit step increase requests provided that a performance in which merit step increase is eligible for consideration.

Evaluation Period

Evaluations are normally based on observation of actual performance on the job for a one-year period, with the exception of the performance evaluation conducted after completion of the first six (6) months of service with Macon Bibb County, or first six (6) months of working in a new position.

Evaluations should be completed before the end of the evaluation period no later than fifteen (15) days before the step increase is due.

Because of such events as shift assignment, new supervisor, etc., the employee may have been under the direction of more than one (1) supervisor during the evaluation period. In this instance, the involved supervisors should jointly evaluate (if possible) and sign the evaluation form.

New employees who have completed six (6) continuous months of service (probationary period) are eligible to receive their first merit step increase at the end of this six (6) month period, provided the Mayor and County Commission have approved merit increases for that fiscal year and their performance has been rated as satisfactory or above.

SPECIAL NOTE: It is the responsibility of all supervisors to constantly work with, correct and advise their employees of their performance status. The rating received and the comments made on the employee evaluation form should not come as a surprise to the employee. It is a responsibility of the supervisor and./or department head to assist his or her employees in developing to their fullest potential.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Failure to Perform

Employees who do not meet Macon-Bibb County's performance standards must be verbally counseled and warned in writing, either by completion of a MBCG Performance Review Form or by writing a warning letter, to inform them that their failure to perform must be corrected. The supervisor should discuss with the employee the areas where the improvements are needed, set time schedules and goals for improvement and then review with the employee at that time his or her job performance. If the employee consistently fails to come up to standards, he /she should be warned in writing that he/she has a designated time period to improve performance or they will face disciplinary action or termination from employment.

Supervisors must maintain records on all employee discussions, agreements, time schedules, disciplinary action, etc., with copies to be sent to the Human Resources Department for the employee's personnel file. These supervisor practices reflect good management, constructive oversight of employee performance, and good labor relations.

Termination Based on Failure to Perform:

Before an employee is terminated based on failure to perform, the supervisor and/or department head should review all facts and agree that such action has been thoroughly documented and is permissible under the regulations of local, state and Federal law. At this point, it is advisable that the department head should consult the Human Resources Director for his/her concurrence on the termination action.

SECTION 5: EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

POLICY	NUMBER
Employee Assistance Program	5.01
Employee Service Awards	5.02
Health and Welfare	5.03
Holiday Pay	5.04
Retirement	5.05

EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (EAP)

The MBCG government provides, free of charge to its employees, a <u>confidential</u>, professional counseling service. This service is outside of MBCG, and is available to all MBCG employees and their covered dependents. The EAP provides counseling on a variety of issues, including personal problems, family relationships, parental concerns, financial concerns, stress, as well as treatment for alcohol and drug abuse.

The MBCG is not aware of who utilizes the EAP or of anything that is discussed between an EAP counselor and the employee. An employee's job security and promotional opportunities will not be jeopardized as a result of a request for assistance with his/her problems. The goal of the EAP is to provide effective assistance to employees who are currently experiencing, or are at risk of experiencing, personal problems and to help Macon-Bibb County deal more effectively with employees experiencing personal problems which are causing deterioration of job performance. Each employee and dependent is entitled to a set number of visits with a counselor per incident. If the EAP counselor feels the employee would benefit from longer-term counseling, a referral will be made to a provider within MBCG's Preferred Provider network under MBCG health and welfare plan.

If employees' personal problems are causing performance problems at work, the employee's supervisor or manager may request that the employee see an EAP counselor as a condition of continued employment. If this is the case, the employee will sign a release to allow the EAP counselor to confirm to the supervisor or manager that the employee is attending the scheduled sessions and is contributing to solution of his/her problems. The EAP counselor will not reveal the nature of the employee's problems or any issues discussed in the EAP sessions. Employees are encouraged to seek help before their problems affect job performance.

Nothing in this policy shall be interpreted as constituting a waiver of a supervisor or department head's right to take disciplinary action, nor shall the EAP be interpreted as a waiver of the right for any employee to utilize MBCG's Employee Problem Solving Procedure. Brochures about contacting the EAP are available from Human Resources, as well as in various locations throughout the MBCG buildings.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

EMPLOYEE SERVICE AWARDS

Because government services in MBCG are enhanced by the professionalism and productivity of its employees, it is the policy of MBCG to recognize years of service of its employees in five (5) year increments. Employees who reach a five (5) year milestone will receive a pin and a certificate from the County Commission. Department heads have discretion in choosing how to recognize the service time of their respective employees. Options include individual recognition within the department, recognition at a department staff meeting, recognition at a special event meeting, or recognition by the County Commission at a regularly scheduled Commission meeting.

Department heads are encouraged to recognize contributions and achievements of employees not related to duration of service through both informal and formal recognition programs. Examples of such achievements include contributions which improve department processes, display outstanding customer service, result in cost savings for the Macon-Bibb County, and other work-related successes.

HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS

The MBCG believes that the health and welfare of employees is the key to having a strong and dependable workforce to serve the Macon-Bibb County community and tax payers. The health and welfare programs promote healthy employees and a healthy work environment. Routine health care is a major factor for employees living free of disease and injury prevention. The MBCG health and welfare benefits programs are designed to help employees and their families to live healthy and be productive, thereby strengthening individuals, families and community. Our health and welfare benefits programs provide both choice and value to meet the needs of our diverse workforce.

As healthcare costs continue to rise at alarming rates, employees increasingly cite health care coverage as one of the primary considerations for accepting employment and staying at a job. In order to attract and retain the best workforce possible MBCG strives to offer an attractive health and welfare benefit package to employees. The following health and welfare package is available to employees classified as full-time:

- a. Health Insurance
- b. Dental Insurance
- c. Vision Insurance
- d. Disability Insurance
- e. Life Insurance
- f. Supplemental Life Insurance
- g. Flexible Spending Accounts
- h. Various vendor-provided specialty programs

These programs may be paid for by the MBCG and the employee; by MBCG only; or by the employee only. Deductions for employee costs will be made from employees' pay. Only employees classified as full-time are eligible for the MBCG health and welfare benefits. Waiting periods apply for eligibility for some programs. See the "Employee Page" of the MBCG website for details, or call the Human Resources Department at *(telephone)*.

Employees must enroll each year during an open enrollment period for benefits for the following year. This open enrollment period is generally held in the fall. Contributions, plan offerings, plan benefits and vendors may change from year to year. For each program in which they are enrolled each year, employees will have a Summary Plan Description ("SPD)") for each MBCG program available on the Employee Page of the MBCG website. All claims will be paid in accordance with the terms outlined in the SPD.

Each year, a list of approved vendors and health/welfare products for the upcoming plan year will be provided. Supplemental life insurance products, and products purchased through outside vendors may be added or discontinued from official MBCG offerings during annual open enrollment. Employees who wish to continue coverage with a vendor who is no longer approved by the County Commission to offer the product may choose to continue the coverage with that vendor. The contributions will continue to be deducted from the employee's pay for the coverage in effect at the time of the discontinuation. Any new products purchased by an employee which are not on the approved product and vendor list will not be eligible for payroll deduction for the premium on that product.

Elections made by employees during the open enrollment period will go into effect January 1 of the following year. Changes may not be made during the year to many of the programs unless the employee has a "Major Life Change," or a change in condition which necessitates a change in persons covered under the respective plan. Events which constitute a "Major Life Change" include:

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- · Start of a job
- Loss of a job
- Birth or adoption of a child
- Divorce
- Marriage
- Death of a spouse or covered child

Contributions for any health-related program will be submitted through the Cafeteria Plan by the Finance Department. Claim information is available from the various vendors. Customer service phone numbers for all programs and links to most vendors are provided on the MBCG website. Employees are encouraged to work directly with the appropriate vendor if there is a question or problem about a claim. Human Resources will be glad to show employees how to use the contacts provided and how to "interpret" what the vendor tells them.

Because of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act ("HIPAA") regulations and privacy concerns, the Human Resources Department is not permitted to become involved with individual employee claims. If the employee has worked with the vendor to solve his or her problem without results, Human Resources may be able to refer the employee to another contact with the vendor who will work with the employee to solve or explain the problem.

CONSOLIDATED OMNIBUS BUDGET RECONCILIATION ACT ("COBRA")

Employees and their covered family members who are participating in any healthrelated benefit are eligible for continuation of benefit(s) through MBCG if they become ineligible for any of the following reasons:

- Termination of employment from MBCG
- 2. Divorce from a spouse covered by MBCG health-related plan
- 3. Covered Adult Child reaching the age of 26

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Only employees or family members who are currently participating in the program which they wish to continue are eligible for continuation of benefits. However, eligible persons may choose to take less coverage than they had previously.

Eligible persons may continue their benefits by electing to do so within sixty (60) days of the date that they become ineligible for regular coverage. Full costs for the coverage must be paid each month by the covered individual, including the amount formerly contributed by Macon-Bibb County, plus a 2% administrative fee. Failure to pay contributions on a timely basis may result in loss of coverage going forward.

Information on continuation of benefits will be mailed by the vendor which administers the MBCG health plan to the eligible person following loss of regular coverage. Questions should be addressed to the Human Resources Department.

HOLIDAY PAY

The MBCG employees classified as full-time are eligible for holiday pay. Appointed officials are likewise eligible for holiday pay.

It is the policy of the MBCG that employees must work their last scheduled work day before an official holiday and their first scheduled work day after the holiday in order to receive holiday pay for the official holiday. If an employee has **approved**, paid time off from work, e.g. annual leave, sick leave, he/she must be paid for the last scheduled work day before the **approved** time off from work and the first scheduled work day after the pre-approved time off from work to receive holiday pay for the official holiday. Employees who are out of work under the Family Medical Leave Act ("FMLA") will receive holiday pay only if they use accrued or donated leave for the day before and the day after the holiday.

Official Holidays

The MBCG recognizes the following holidays as official, paid holidays for eligible employees:

•	New Year's Day	January 1
		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •

New Year's Eve December 31

Martin Luther King, Jr. Birthday
 Third Monday in January

Memorial Day
 Last Monday in May

• Independence Day July 4

Labor Day
 First Monday in September

Veteran's Day
 November 11

Thanksgiving Day
 Fourth Thursday in November

Day after Thanksgiving
 Fourth Friday in November

• Christmas Eve December 24

Christmas Day
 December 25

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

The MBCG County Commission may declare other holidays during the year from time to time. Holidays falling on Saturday or Sunday will be observed either on the preceding Friday or following Monday as determined by the County Commission. Employees required to work on an official holiday will be granted a day off with pay at a time convenient to the department.

Employees who are required to work on a holiday shall be granted a day off with pay at time convenient to the department. All holiday "days" off are to be used during the calendar year in which they fall with exception of the Christmas holiday which must be taken within 60 days following Christmas day. The following exceptions shall apply:

- Employees who work shift work with a variable work week, and who have worked their normal work time
- Employees on authorized paid vacation or paid sick leave the day before or the day after the holiday
- Public Works employees who are required to work on a holiday shall be paid holiday pay and additional pay for hours worked
- Public Works employees who are required to work on a regularly scheduled off day due to the holiday shall be paid holiday and additional hours for the time worked
- Part-time and temporary employees are not eligible for holiday pay.

NOTE: Employees who work a compressed work week will be scheduled for four (4) eight-hour days during the week in which the holiday falls. Department heads will assign staggered work hours for employees in order to maintain department extended hours if needed.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

RETIREMENT PLAN

The MBCG provides a defined retirement benefits package to employees who retire from employment with MBCG after becoming vested under the plan. Details and provisions of the retirement plan are found in the MBCG Code of Ordinances, Chapter Two, Article IV, Division 6, which is the sole, controlling legal authority. Specific information concerning the various benefits and services available to vested MBCG retirees are outlined in the appropriate Summary Plan Description ("SPD") for the product or coverage extended.

Questions concerning Macon Bibb County's retirement benefits should be directed to the Human Resources Department. The MBCG Mayor and County Commission reserves the right to modify, amend or close the MBCG retirement plans at any time.

SECTION 6: EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITIES

POLICY	NUMBER
Arrest, Indictment, Conviction	6.01
Attendance and Absenteeism	6.02
Customer Service	6.03
Employee Dress Code	6.04
Health and Safety	6.05
On Call Policy	6.06
Second Jobs	6.07
Solicitation	6.08
Tobacco Use and Cessation	6.09
Travel	6.10
Workplace Violence	6.11
Zero Tolerance Drug and Alcohol Policy	6.12

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

ARREST, INDICTMENT OR CONVICTION

This policy applies to all full-time, part-time, and temporary employees of MBCG, and is provided to establish rules and guidelines concerning action taken when an employee of MBCG is arrested, indicted, and/or convicted of a misdemeanor or felony criminal offense.

Obligation to Report

Any MBCG employee shall notify his/her immediate supervisor as soon as possible, but in no event less than 48 hours after any arrest, conviction, no contest or guilty plea, or other adjudication of the employee for any felony or misdemeanor criminal offense.

The requirement to report a conviction or deferred adjudication shall not apply to minor traffic offenses. However, an offense of operating a motor vehicle under the influence, revocation or suspension of driver license, or driving after a revocation or suspension of driver license must be reported in accordance with this policy if the employee drives or operates a vehicle owned by MBCG or piece of mobile equipment owned by MBCG.

Failure to report under this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. Such report shall be made as soon as possible, but in no circumstance less than 48 hours after the event giving rise to the duty to report. This reporting requirement applies to both on and off duty conduct.

Disciplinary Action

An arrest, indictment, or conviction of a crime shall not be an automatic basis for termination of employment. MBCG shall consider the following factors in determining what action, if any, should be taken against an employee who is convicted of a crime during his/her employment with MBCG:

Nature and Gravity of the Offense/Conduct

MBCG will carefully consider the nature and gravity of the offense or conduct to determine whether a specific offense may be relevant to risks in a particular position of employment. The nature of the offense may be assessed with reference to the harm caused by the crime, (e.g., theft causes property loss), and to the legal

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

elements of a crime (e.g., whether the elements of the offense are substantially related to job duties, whether intent is a legal element of the offense). With respect to the gravity of an offense, offenses classified as misdemeanors may be less severe than those classified as felonies.

Date of the Offense and the Individual

MBCG will consider the length of time that has passed since the offense, conduct, and/or completion of sentence as probative of the risk the employee poses in his/her particular position of employment. Where possible, this assessment will include consideration of recidivism data and studies. MBCG will also consider the number and type of pending charges and convictions, the employee's participation in or completion of programs of a rehabilitative nature, the employee's probation or parole status, and the employee's ability to perform or continue to perform the job consistent with the safe, efficient, and effective operation of MBCG.

Nature of the Job Held

MBCG will conduct an individualized assessment to determine whether the employee's continued employment poses an unacceptable level of risk to MBCG. This factual inquiry will begin with identifying the job title of the employee, but will also consider the nature of the job's duties, essential functions of the job, (e.g., extent to which successful job performance requires public trust), the circumstances under which the job is performed (e.g., level of supervision, level of oversight, interaction with co-workers and/or the public, opportunity the job presents for the commission of an offense), and the environment in which the job's duties are performed (e.g., outdoors, on MBCG property, access to or opportunity for access to private property).

Termination of employment based on a conviction may be imposed where a demonstrable relationship between the offense or underlying conduct and prejudice to MBCG's interest(s), the public trust, or to successful performance of the position of employment held by the affected employee exists.

Nothing herein shall prohibit MBCG from placing an employee on administrative leave based upon an arrest, indictment or information, or conviction.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

ATTENDANCE / ABSENTEEISM

Good attendance is critical to successful employment with MBCG and to the services provided by MBCG to the public. All employees are expected to be present and on time to perform the duties for which they were hired. Absence or tardiness places an extra burden on coworkers and may result in disciplinary action. Absence is defined as failure to report for and remain at work as scheduled. This includes late arrival to work and leaving early.

The following rules concerning attendance and absenteeism apply to all MBCG employees:

- A. Each employee is expected to be at work on time each scheduled day and in a fit condition to work.
- B. An employee who is unable to report to work as scheduled must contact his/her supervisor immediately and within the time limit established by the department. Normally, the notification should be within thirty (30) minutes from the employee's scheduled starting time.
- C. Each department will determine the method to be used to report call-offs or tardiness.
- D. The employee who is absent or tardy must inform the supervisor the date and/or time that he/she expects to report to work.
- E. The supervisor has discretion to require documentation for the reason for the attendance incident, e.g. doctor's note, court order, receipt for tire change or repair, etc.
- F. Three (3) consecutive days of unreported or unauthorized absence from work will be deemed compulsory resignation due to job abandonment.
- G. If the employee is out sick for more than two (2) consecutive days, the employee must provide a doctor's excuse on the third day, unless the department head requires a doctor's excuse sooner.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- H. Excessive absenteeism or tardiness may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination from employment.
- I. Absences due to illness or injury may require written verification from a physician, or the employee's supervisor may request the employee undergo a physical examination by a certified physician of the MBCG's choice, at the MBCG's expense. Written verification by a physician must state the general nature of the employee's illness and that the employee was unable to work on the day or days of absence.
- J. Attendance records will be considered in performance appraisals. Excessive absenteeism or tardiness may result in an unsatisfactory rating.
- K. An employee who is absent for more than five (5) consecutive days for personal or family illness should contact the Human Resources Department to determine his/her rights under the Family Medical Leave Act.
- L. No employee who is out of work for six (6) consecutive months may remain under MBCG active payroll, except where the employee has applied for and been approved for long term disability. Where an employee has applied and been approved for long term disability, his/her position of employment will be protected for twelve (12) months.
- M. If an individual who is out of work for more than six (6) consecutive months other than Long Term Disability (see #12, above) is later able to return to work, he/she will be given consideration based upon:
 - 1. Length of time he/she has been off MBCG payroll (refer to Anniversary Date and Bridging of Service, policy 7.01.)
 - 2. Whether an open position for which the individual is qualified is available.
 - 3. Prior work record.

If these conditions are satisfactory, re-hiring of the individual will be in the sole discretion of the hiring manager.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- N. Supervisors and department heads are responsible for administering prompt and consistent disciplinary action for repeat offenders.
- O. Because MBCG must have reliable employees who can perform their duties as expected on a regular schedule, excessive absences, whether excused or unexcused, including absences caused by illness can result in termination of employment. Six (6) or more absences within a six (6) month period will be considered excessive.
- P. Absences for which an employee is granted leave under the Family Medical Leave Act shall not be counted for purposes of enforcement of MBCG's attendance policy.

The following definitions relating to attendance and absenteeism govern this policy:

- 1. **Absence**: The failure of an employee to report for work when scheduled regardless of whether the failure to report is legitimate or unpreventable.
- 2. **Excused Absence**: A prearranged absence for which the employee obtained prior approval from his/her supervisor or department head, or an absence which in the opinion of the supervisor is due to illness, an unforeseen need or problem which requires being away from the job.
- 3. Unexcused Absence: Any absence without leave or proper authorization or leave taken under false pretenses is an unexcused absence. Failure to call in for what might otherwise be an unexcused absence constitutes a separate violation of this policy for which disciplinary action may be taken.
- 4. **Tardiness**: Arriving for work later than the scheduled starting time or returning from lunch or break periods beyond the time allotted.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

CUSTOMER SERVICE

All MBCG employees are expected to serve the public, business associates, suppliers, and other employees with courtesy, professionalism, and respect for the basic human dignity of all people, regardless of their station in life. Providing good customer service is a primary responsibility for everyone employed by MBCG, as well as, for MBCG's elected officials, contract employees and agents, State or Federal employees doing business or working with MBCG, visitors, and any person doing business for or with MBCG.

Citizens of Macon-Bibb County and fellow employees are the customers we serve each day. Employees are expected to treat one another and members of the public with respect, courtesy, and dignity, even when there is a disagreement or conflict. Employees are expected to remember the following principles and conform behavior to these standards in the course of their everyday duties:

- 1. Be respectful of all persons with whom you come into contact, without consideration for their appearance, race, gender, national origin, orientation, disability or frame of mind.
- 2. Citizens of Macon-Bibb County are our customers; their tax dollars pay our salaries.
- 3. Co-workers in our departments and other employees of MBCG are our internal customers, who are equally entitled to respect and good customer service.
- 4. Behavior speaks as loudly as words. A pleasant expression, eye contact, and a sincere interest in each request go a long way toward fostering public confidence and projecting the integrity of MBCG.
- 5. Professional appearance goes hand in hand with employee behaviors.
- 6. Employee behavior in each interaction with the public is an assessment of the employee's performance and MBCG's performance.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

7. Nothing projects a negative image more than inattention, not being engaged in work activities, and chatting with other employees while dealing with a customer. Citizens of Macon-Bibb County are entitled to the full attention of its employees when addressing an issue that prompted a visit to a MBCG facility.

Behavior not meeting these standards may result in corrective action in accordance with MBCG's Performance Management policies.

EMPLOYEE DRESS CODE

The MBCG considers it very important that employees be well-groomed, neat, and dressed appropriately for their respective job functions. While the members of the County Commission trust each employee's common sense and good judgment, a dress code must be followed which is appropriate to the work environment MBCG has generally adopted a business casual dress code, but emphasizes that some positions of employment may call for more professional level attire. Appropriate dress and hygiene are important in promoting a positive image to our customers, both internal and external.

- 1. MBCG expects employees to be well groomed, clean, neat and professionally dressed at all times. Work attire should complement an environment that reflects an efficient, orderly and professionally operated organization.
 - Under no circumstances may employees wear halter tops, strapless tops, spaghetti straps, tank tops, cropped tops, clothing with offensive wording, clothing that shows undergarments (sheer), torn clothing, clothing with holes, or tight fitting, revealing, or oversized clothing, flip flops, or sandals. All clothing must be clean, neat, and proper fitting. Moreover, MBCG expects its employees to dress professionally every day.
- 2. Employees required to wear uniforms due to the nature of their work will have uniforms furnished by MBCG. If uniforms are provided, employees are expected to keep them cleaned, press and in good repair.
- 3. Proper personal hygiene is essential to and for all employees.

This policy applies to all MBCG employees, appointed officials, contract employees and agents, and to state or federal employees doing business or working on MBCG premises.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY

People are our most important asset and their safety is one of our greatest responsibilities. It is the policy of MBCG that each employee is entitled to a safe and healthful place to work.

When someone enters the employ of MBCG, he or she has the right to expect to be provided with a proper place in which to work, as well as proper machines, equipment, and tools with which to do the job, and that the employee will be able to devote his or her energies to the work without undue danger. Only under such circumstances can the association between employee and employer be mutually profitable and harmonious.

It is the desire and intention of the County Commission to provide a safe workplace, safe equipment, proper materials, and to establish and insist on safe methods and practices at all times.

It is the basic responsibility for each member of the MBCG family to make the safety of all employees and persons a part of their daily, hourly concern. This responsibility must be accepted by each one of us who conducts the affairs of MBCG, regardless of the capacity in which he or she functions.

Employees are expected to use all safety equipment provided. Rules of conduct and rules of safety shall be observed. Safety equipment must not be destroyed or abused.

As new employees join our workforce, we will ensure that each of them participates in a safety orientation program as a part of the new employee introduction program. The joint cooperation of employees and management in the observance of this policy will provide safe working conditions and accident-free performance to the mutual advantage of all.

We consider the safety of our personnel to be of paramount importance, and we expect your full cooperation in making this policy effective.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

ON CALL (Standby) POLICY

The MBCG may require certain employees to be placed on call (standby) for emergency response after normal duty hours. Employees who are placed on call in any department may be required to be on-call on a weekly rotation. On call status is assigned on a rotating basis and should be assigned by a supervisor with prior approval of the department head. Employees who are scheduled to be on leave (vacation, sick or other scheduled leave) cannot be scheduled for on call (standby) duty.

When an employee is on call, MBCG will provide a pager and/or cell phone, which must be carried by the employee at all times inclusive of evenings, holidays and weekends. During the on call week, the supervisor will also be provided with a MBCG vehicle to drive to and from his/her residence; however, such MBCG vehicle may not be used for any personal use other than transportation to and from work. In the event of a call, the employee should be able to respond to any occurrence within the territorial boundaries of Bibb County within thirty (30) minutes of the call being received.

The supervisor will be responsible for determining whether there is a need for additional employee assistance for a particular call, and for securing that assistance. However, the supervisor is not permitted to impose his/her requirement to be on call to other employees of his/her crew.

As for compensation for the on-call time, the employee will be paid their regular hourly rate for two hours for each day on which he/she is on call and four hours for each Saturday, Sunday or Holiday he/she is on call regardless of whether he/she is actually required to respond to a call. On-call time is not time actually worked and will not be included when calculating overtime.

The rate of pay for actual work time while on call shall be in accordance with MBCG pay policy regarding overtime pay. Employees who have not met the threshold for required overtime shall be paid regular rate until he/she meets the required threshold.

In the event the on-call supervisor must respond to a call during the on-call time, he/she will be paid for any time actually worked inclusive of the on-call time (Ex. An employee is on call during the work week, receiving two hours on-call pay, and is called into work. The employee works 3 hours. The employee will be paid for 3 hours worked.)

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

SECOND JOBS

It is the policy of MBCG that no full-time or part-time employee will be allowed to work part-time for any other MBCG department. This prohibition is intended to comply with Internal Revenue Service (IRS) guidelines governing contract employees.

The MBCG employees are permitted to work part-time for other employers outside of MBCG in addition to their full-time or part-time position of employment with MBCG so long as the second job does not interfere with, or create a conflict of interest with, their position of employment with MBCG. Employees who either have a second job or who are considering a second job should contact a Human Resources representative to ensure that no conflict of interest exists.

This policy applies to all full-time and part-time employees of MBCG.

SOLICITATION

While MBCG recognizes the worthiness of many causes and organizations, in the interest of a productive and harmonious work environment, the following regulations shall apply to solicitation of donations, fundraising sales, and distribution of literature:

- Solicitation and/or distribution of literature by non-employees in non-public areas
 of MBCG property is prohibited at all times. Solicitation and/or distribution of
 literature by non-employees on MBCG property which interferes with the work of
 MBCG employees is prohibited.
- 2. Solicitation and/or distribution of literature by employees on MBCG property during working hours which in any way interferes with the work of the employee soliciting or the work of other employees are prohibited. If a supervisor believes that the solicitation or literature distribution is interfering with work, he/she shall request that the employee immediately cease the disruptive activity and return to work activities.
- 3. Employees who wish to post an announcement of interest to employees in or on MBCG property must obtain permission from the Human Resources Department. Employee posted announcements must be removed from MBCG property by the posting employee when the information becomes outdated.
- 4. Distribution of literature by employees on MBCG property in non-public working areas, as designated by the Human Resources Department, is prohibited at all times.
- 5. Unless otherwise authorized by the Mayor and Commission, or their designee, MBCG buildings may not be used for activities unrelated to MBCG outside of normal business hours. This provision shall not be interpreted as applying to MBCG property that is leased to other parties.
- 6. This policy does not prevent any official MBCG solicitation or distribution of literature, open benefits enrollment, and in no way affects the annual charity drive(s) authorized by the Mayor and Commission or County Manager.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

As used in this policy the term "non-public area" shall mean areas of MBCG property that is not open to members of the general public and access is typically limited to MBCG employees and invitees on official business.

This policy is not intended and shall not be interpreted as applying to non-employee activity, or off duty employee activity, occurring on public streets, sidewalks, public areas of parks, and other traditional public forums. This policy is not intended and shall not be interpreted as governing the ability of non-employees or employees to comment, speak, and present information to the Mayor and Commission during open meetings of the governing authority, and the Mayor and Commission reserve the right to establish rules and policies governing the time, place, and manner of public comments during Commission or committee meetings.

TOBACCO USE

Both Georgia law and the MBCG Code of Ordinances prohibit smoking in public buildings by both employees and visitors. Use of tobacco products, i.e., smoking and use of smokeless tobacco, in areas other than those designated as smoking areas in any MBCG building is strictly prohibited. For purposes of this policy, MBCG buildings include all buildings and structures owned or operated by MBCG.

This policy applies to all employees, elected and appointed officials, contract employees and agents, State or Federal employees doing business or working in MBCG facilities, visitors, and any person doing business for or with MBCG.

Failure to adhere to this policy may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

Incentive for Cessation of Tobacco Use

Incentives are available to full-time employees who would like to stop using tobacco and tobacco products. MBCG provides smoking cessation classes and offers a discount on health insurance premiums to employees covered by the MBCG health care plan. Screening for tobacco use may be part of the annual wellness screening for employees covered by MBCG's health care plan. Participation in annual wellness screening is required to receive the full incentive of premium reduction for the next plan year. Employees who are interested in tobacco use cessation should contact a Human Resources representative for more information.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

TRAVEL

Applicability

The provisions of this policy shall apply to all MBCG officers--whether elected or appointed—as well as to all MBCG employees and to those acting as authorized representatives of MBCG, Georgia.

Authorized Travel and Expenses

Travel and related expenses shall be authorized when an officer or employee is engaged in the conduct of official MBCG business, which shall include the following:

- Travel to and from the location of a conference, seminar, school or training program which is held either inside or outside the territorial limits of Bibb County and which enhances an officers or employees ability to complete his/her functions or duties.
- 2. Travel to and from any location to conduct operations of the MBCG.
- 3. Travel to and from any location for the purpose of extraditing or transporting a prisoner as may be required by the courts.

Travel Request, Approval and Reporting

All travel by department personnel requires prior approval of the department head or designee. It is, therefore, the department head's responsibility to remain within the travel allocation of the budget.

Travel Advances

A travel advance for travel related expenses may be made by written request on such forms as may be prescribed by the Finance Department. Such request should be made no less than five (5) working days prior to the date the advance will be needed. Travelers who fail to submit the advance request in sufficient time to receive an advance will be responsible for travel expenses and will be reimbursed after the travel event has been completed. Travel advance payments will be made in the form of a

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

check and will not be available before two (2) working days prior to the scheduled date of departure. No advance will be made for less than \$25.00. For reimbursement of travel expenses of less than \$25.00, the traveler must submit a travel expense report after the travel event has been completed.

Registration, lodging and transportation payments

Registration fees and fares for common carrier transportation will be paid in advance by the Finance Department by check made payable to the vendor providing the service. The employee shall be responsible for submitting the request for payment (along with the registration form, invoice or bill) in sufficient time for the payment to be processed and mailed prior to any deadline. Whenever possible, lodging accommodations should be paid for in advance in the same manner as registration fees and fares for common carrier transportation.

Reimbursement of expenses and final settlement of advances

If the sum advanced to a traveler exceeds actual reimbursable expenses, the traveler shall reimburse the excess to the MBCG Cash Manager in the Finance Department. If the amount advanced was not sufficient to cover the reimbursable expenses or in cases where the traveler used personal funds to pay travel expenses, a voucher will be processed to cover the difference. Reimbursement will be issued within four (4) working days of the receipt of an accurately completed and approved request for reimbursement.

A request for reimbursement of expenses and settlement of advances shall be submitted to the Finance Department within 72 hours following the date of the employee or officer's return to work. Such request and settlements shall be made on such forms as prescribed by the Finance Department. The forms must be signed by the employee's department head.

If a request for reimbursement of expenses is not filed within ten (10) calendar days following the date of the employee or officer's return to work, the Finance Director shall be authorized to void the reimbursement claim.

Should a report for final settlement of advances not be filed within then (10) calendar days following the date of the employee or officer's return to work, the employee's

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

name will be placed on a list which makes the employee ineligible for future advances. When the reports are submitted, the employee's name will be removed from the list and they will then be eligible for future advances. Should a final settlement of advances not be filed within fifteen (15) calendar days following the date of the employee or officer's return to work, the Finance Director shall be authorized to withhold any such cash advance or direct payment from the employee's paycheck. Any expenses incurred over and above the advance will not be reimbursed after this period.

Documentation of Expenses

Receipts or other documentation shall be required for all expenses with the exception of the following: meals, toll charges and tips.

Allowable transportation expenses:

Common carrier

A common carrier shall be any scheduled airline, train, or bus and the authorized rate shall be limited to the minimum fare available (economy or tourist). Reservations should be made far enough in advance to permit procurement of proper reservations and to take advantage of any special saving plans offered by the carrier.

Travel by Auto

A traveler driving either a private auto (including rental vehicles) or a MBCG-owned auto must possess a current valid Georgia driver's license. Travelers using privately owned vehicles must provide, at their expense, collision and liability insurance in at least the statutory minimum insuring themselves, their passengers, and others in the use of their private auto while on MBCG business.

When more than one MBCG official and/or employee is attending an event, separate vehicle allowances will not be approved if one vehicle is sufficient for transportation, unless separate arrival and departure times are required by other MBCG business or approved by the department head. Thorough documentation of the circumstances requiring deviation from this policy must be submitted with the request for reimbursement.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Travelers will be reimbursed for actual cost of incidental expenses incurred in the use of private, rental or MBCG-owned vehicles such as parking fees, bridge and toll road fees, etc.

MBCG-owned Vehicle

If the department for which the traveler works is assigned a MBCG-owned vehicle, the traveler should, if at all possible, use the MBCG-owned auto rather than his personal vehicle.

If a MBCG-owned vehicle is used, the traveler will not be reimbursed for mileage, but will be reimbursed for the actual cost of purchased gasoline and oil. In addition, small emergency repair expenses such as flat tire, battery charges, fan belt replacement, etc. will be reimbursed, provided that appropriate receipts are furnished. Automotive breakdowns requiring repairs in excess of \$200 should be reported to the appropriate department head for instructions.

Personal Auto

The use of private autos or rental vehicles for MBCG business will be reimbursed at the current IRS rate. Reimbursable travel expenses do not include trips from the traveler's place of residence to a MBCG building or visa-versa. Travelers electing to use a private auto in lieu of travel by common carrier, where common carrier is practical, will be reimbursed the vehicle mileage expense or the amount of Economy Air Fare, whichever is less. Travelers who elect to use a rental vehicle in lieu of travel by common carrier, where common carrier is practical, will be reimbursed at the cost of the auto rental, not including mileage expense, or the amount of Economy Air Fare, whichever is less.

Ground Transportation

Ground transportation by taxi, bus, or limousine is an allowable expense when actually incurred in conjunction with common carrier transportation to and from terminals, hotels, restaurants, and meeting locations, if necessary. The most economical means of grounds transportation should always be used.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Points of Departure and Return

The points of departure and return for travel status shall be either the office at which the employee carries out his/her duties or his/her residence; whichever is more practical under the circumstances. All travel should be by the most direct route. However, an expressway route which involves more total mileage may result in savings in personnel time and therefore would be considered the more direct route in most circumstances. Travel to restaurants and other locations after reaching the initial destination should be kept to a minimum. Reason and good judgment should be exercised in this determination. It will be the responsibility of the department head to monitor the reasonableness of mileage reimbursement request.

Lodging

When lodging accommodations are not available at the conference or class site, travelers should choose the most reasonably convenient and economical hotel accommodations possible. Travelers requiring overnight accommodations should inquire about the hotel's government rate. The rate is usually lower than special conference or group rates, and always less than regular rates.

When traveling within the State of Georgia, officials and/or employees can exempt both sales and local hotel/motel excise tax. When reserving accommodations, please inform the hotel staff that the accommodations will be paid for by MBCG so that they can accurately calculate the charges if an advance payment is to be made. Also, inquire as to whether the forms necessary to obtain this exemption should be sent with the advance payment or presented at the time of check-in. If the forms are to be sent with the payment, it shall be the responsibility of the traveler to attach these forms to the payment request. Forms may be obtained from the Finance Department.

Reimbursement for lodging will cover only those nights during which an event occurs. If an employee arrives early or leaves late from an event, the MBCG will not pay for extra nights of lodging accommodation. However, if travel and event schedules require that an employee arrive the evening before or leave the morning after an event, the MBCG will pay for reasonable extra accommodations.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Travelers sharing a room with a traveling companion (other than an authorized MBCG traveler) will be reimbursed for the single occupancy rate.

Travelers requesting additional amenities including, but not limited to, suites, kitchenettes or a fireplace will be reimbursed for the standard single room rate. Travelers must pay for additional amenities.

Meals

Travelers are allowed a per diem meal allowance while traveling on MBCG business. The per diem allowance is based on the IRS Standard Meal Allowance and varies depending on the particular city to which the official or employee is traveling. The per diem rate for the city to which you are traveling may be obtained from the department head or from the Finance Department.

The following breakdown will apply for partial days of travel:

Breakfast

20% of the daily per diem allowance when travel begins prior to or at 7:00 a.m. and extends to 9:00 a.m. or beyond.

Lunch

30% of the daily per diem allowance when travel begins prior to or at 12:00 noon and extends to 2:00 p.m. or beyond.

Dinner

50% of the daily per diem allowance when travel begins prior to or at 5:00 p.m. and extends to 7:00 p.m. or beyond

Tips are included as part of the daily per diem allowance and will not be reimbursed as a separate expense.

Meals Within Bibb County

Expenses associated with meals for officials and/or employees occurring within the territorial limits of Bibb County may be reimbursed if one or more of the following conditions are met:

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- A. The official and/or employee attended a seminar or conference at which the meal is an integral part of the seminar;
- B. The official and/or employee must participate in a meeting with an out-of-Bibb County individual or group whose principal purpose in Bibb County is to conduct business with the MBCG. Extreme discretion should be used in spending travel funds for this purpose;
- C. There is a meeting involving an elected official who is devoting his/her time to conducting MBCG business.

The meal cost reimbursement for the above circumstances will not exceed the IRS per diem allowance rate for MBCG in effect at that time.

Registration Fees

Registration fees in connection with an authorized conference or training class shall be an allowable expense and payment shall be made by the Finance Department. The employee shall be responsible for submitting the request for payment, along with the registration form, in sufficient time for payment to be processed and mailed prior to any registration deadline. The MBCG will issue a check payable as directed by the sponsor of the conference or training class.

In unusual circumstances, travelers may take the check and deliver it at the time of the conference or pay the registration fee themselves and then request reimbursement on the travel expense form, if approved by the department head. Optional assessments such as special events or personal memberships which are charges in addition to the class or conference fees are not allowable expenses.

Communications

Telephone and facsimile messages directly pertaining to official MBCG business shall be an allowable expense. Claims for payment of such charges shall be itemized and shall include location, the person contacted, and the justification for the communication. One personal call to confirm the safe

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

arrival of the individual shall be an allowable expense. Expenses for all other personal calls will not be reimbursed.

Tips and Gratuities

Tips and gratuities in conjunction with an authorized expense (other than meals) shall be allowable if they are determined to be reasonable by the Finance Director. The per diem meal allowance includes all tips and gratuities for meal expenses.

Parking Fees

Expenses for parking shall be allowable if documented by paid receipt, except however, that no payment shall be made for charges in connection with any illegal parking violation.

Credit Cards

Whenever allowable expenses are purchased or paid by the employee with a credit card, the receipt shall include an itemization of expenditures, or, in the alternative, a separate receipt must be obtained for each expense. A credit card receipt showing only an aggregate of charges, unless itemized, shall not constitute sufficient documentation and shall not be the basis for reimbursement of expenses.

Spouses

Reimbursable expenses for spouses include any registration fee in cases when spouses are invited to and considered part of the function or when protocol requires the attendance of spouses. Meals for spouses and/or traveling companions are not reimbursable.

Other Expenses

Upon justification, the Finance Committee of the County Commission may authorize reimbursement to officials and/or employees for expenses of the limitations prescribed in this policy where the Finance Committee finds that the expenses were reasonable and proper under the circumstances.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Unallowable Expenses

The following expenses are specifically unallowable for payment:

- Expenses incurred by any person other than the official or employee unless otherwise provided for in this policy or prior written approval has been granted by the Finance Director.
- Expenses for entertainment, including but not limited to in room movies and mini-bars.
- Alcoholic beverages.
- Laundry service.
- Personal articles, toiletries, souvenirs, etc.
- Direct expenses for operating a personal vehicle, such as gasoline, oil, parts or repairs.
- Travel and related expenses incurred from an employee's residence to his designated work site.
- Any expenses for per diem allowances not required to ensure the employee's performance of official MBCG business. Scheduling or extending travel periods in order to increase per diem allowances is specifically not allowable.
- Any expenses incurred that are unrelated to official government business or activities as determined by the Finance Director.

Distribution of Travel Policy

It is the responsibility of the department head and/or others approving travel for employees to ensure that the traveler reads and understands the travel policy prior to incurring any charges which he/she might expect to be reimbursed by MBCG.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Information and Forms

Employees and/or officials who have questions concerning this policy or the application of this policy should contact the MBCG Finance Department. The Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") schedule of per diem rates by location for meal expenses, along with the MBCG Travel Advance Requisition Form and MBCG Travel Expense Requisition Form, can be found on the MBCG website, under the tab for Finance Department—Finance Forms.

Final Authority

The County Manager has final authority for interpreting, applying, and considering any appeals from, this policy.

WORKPLACE VIOLENCE

The MBCG is committed to providing a safe environment for working and conducting business. MBCG will not tolerate acts of violence committed by MBCG employees or members of the public on MBCG property or between MBCG employees whether or not on MBCG property. Any unlawful violent actions committed by employees or members of the public while on MBCG property or while using MBCG facilities will be prosecuted as appropriate. MBCG intends to use reasonable legal, administrative, and disciplinary procedures to secure the workplace from violence and to reasonably protect employees and members of the public.

The MBCG remains committed to providing a work environment that is free of violence or intimidation. MBCG operates under a policy of zero tolerance for violence or any conduct which threatens the safety of well-being of its employees and visitors to its facilities. Accordingly, acts of violence will result in termination of employment. (See Disciplinary Action, Section 4.01.)

Threats or Acts of Violence

Threats or acts of violence include, but are not limited to, behavior or actions that a reasonable person would perceive as a threat against oneself, another person, or property. Persons who engage in actions or behavior that are sufficiently severe, offensive, or intimidating and/or which alters employment conditions will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

Procedures for Dealing With Threats or Acts of Violence in the Workplace

If a threat or violent act occurs:

• If the situation constitutes an emergency, CALL 911. If the situation constitutes an emergency and occurs in a MBCG building, contact (*telephone*). After 911 or (*contact person*) has been contacted, contact an immediate supervisor and the Human Resources Department at (*telephone*).

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

• If the situation does not constitute an emergency, contact your immediate supervisor, the appropriate department director, and the Human Resources Department.

All reports of threats or violence will be evaluated immediately and appropriate action will be taken in order to protect employees and the public from further violence. Appropriate disciplinary action will be taken when it is determined that a MBCG employee has committed an act of violence. Where MBCG employees exhibit such behavior, MBCG reserves the right, under the direction of the Director of Human Resources, to determine fitness for duty. Employees may be suspended with or without pay pending this fitness for duty evaluation.

Where issues of employee safety are of concern, department directors and supervisors should evaluate the workplace and make appropriate recommendations regarding a reasonable response. Additionally, supervisors are encouraged to consult with the Director of Human Resources and /or Employee Assistance Program concerning appropriate resolution of instances of workplace violence. Each employee of MBCG and every person on MBCG property are encouraged to report threats or acts of physical violence of which he/she is aware.

Workplace violence shall constitute a violation of MBCG policies and procedures. Violation by an employee of any provision of this policy will result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

ZERO TOLERANCE DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE WORKPLACE

It is the policy of the MBCG County Commission to provide a safe, healthy, and secure work environment for all employees. It is also the policy of the MBCG County Commission to ensure that all employees perform their job duties in a safe, efficient, and productive manner. In an effort to ensure that department heads, managers, supervisors, Mayor and members of the County Commission continue to be informed and educated on the MBCG's drug and alcohol policies, updated training will be required every three (3) years. Any employee who is hired or promoted into a supervisory position must receive training on this policy within one (1) year of hire or promotion.

Finally, it is the policy of the MBCG County Commission to ensure that its equipment and facilities are maintained and utilized appropriately so as not to pose a risk of harm. The use of drugs and the misuse of alcohol are inconsistent with these policies. Accordingly, to protect the health, safety, and welfare of employees, citizens, visitors, and persons who interact with MBCG employees during the course and scope of their employment, MBCG has adopted this Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace Policy which shall be strictly enforced.

Applicability of Policy

Unless otherwise provided, this policy applies to all safety sensitive and non-safety sensitive MBCG employees, part-time employees, contract employees, and contractors when they are on MBCG property or when conducting any MBCG business in any location. This policy also applies during off-site lunch periods or breaks when an employee is scheduled to return to work. Visitors, vendors, and contract employees are governed by this policy while on MBCG premises and will not be permitted to conduct any MBCG business if found to be in violation of this policy.

• Prohibited Conduct

The following violations of the Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace Policy constitute gross misconduct and shall result in termination of employment. Where criminal activity is suspected, Bibb County law enforcement shall be notified.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 1. Unauthorized use, manufacture, possession, sale, or solicitation for the purpose of purchase/sale of drugs or alcohol on MBCG property, while the employee is on duty, or while wearing a MBCG uniform or insignia. Any MBCG employee—regardless of sensitivity of position or duties—who is reasonably suspected of being intoxicated, impaired, under the influence of a prohibited substance or not fit for duty shall be suspended from job duties pending an investigation and verification of condition. Employees found to be under the influence of a prohibited substance or who fail to pass a drug or alcohol test shall be terminated. A drug or alcohol test is considered positive if the individual is found to have a quantifiable presence of a prohibited substance in the body above the minimum thresholds defined in 49 CFR Part 40, as amended.
- 2. Hindering, obstructing, or refusing to cooperate or participate in any investigation involving suspected violations of this policy. This includes, but is not limited to, providing false, misleading, or incomplete information in response to any inquiry from a supervisor related to a suspected violation of this policy. It also includes refusing to undergo a drug or alcohol test(s). Refusal to undergo testing can include an inability to provide a sufficient urine specimen, saliva sample, or breath sample without a valid medical explanation, as well as a verbal declaration, obstructive behavior, or physical absence resulting in the inability to conduct the test.
- 3. Hindering, delaying, or obstructing a drug or alcohol test(s), including but not limited to, tampering with a sample or interfering in any way with the chain of custody. Any employee who is suspected of providing false information in connection with a test, or who is suspected of falsifying test results through tampering, contamination, adulteration, or substitution will be required to undergo an observed specimen collection.
- 4. Reporting to work or engaging in any work activity whatsoever on behalf of MBCG in a condition which could pose a threat of harm to the

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

employee or to any other person, or reporting to or engaging in any work on behalf of MBCG in a condition which could impair the ability to satisfactorily perform any essential function of the job due to the use of drugs or misuse of alcohol. The presence of any detectable amount of drugs, or the presence of alcohol in a concentration of 0.04 breath alcohol content (BAC) or greater, creates a presumption that the employee is in violation of the MBCG Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace Policy. No CDL employee shall perform their safety-sensitive job functions within eight (8) hours after using alcohol. All employees are prohibited from using alcohol while on duty, while in uniform or when wearing MBCG insignia, while performing any job function, or just before or just after performing any safety-sensitive function.

5. Abusing or misusing prescription drugs or over-the-counter medications. This includes, but is not limited to, the use, possession, sale, or solicitation for the purpose of purchase or sale of any prescription medication for which the employee lacks a valid prescription.

Prohibited Substances

- "Illegal drugs" refers to marijuana, cocaine, amphetamines, methamphetamines, opiates (including heroine and codeine), phencyclidine, and all other "controlled substances" as defined in Title 16 of the Official Code of Georgia. Use of any illegal drug or any substance identified in Title 16 of the Official Code of Georgia is prohibited at all times unless a legal prescription has been written for the substance.
- "Alcohol" includes any beverage or substance containing alcohol manufactured for the primary purpose of personal consumption. Use of beverages or other substances containing alcohol while on duty or engaged in MBCG business is prohibited. Concentration of alcohol is expressed in terms of alcohol per 210 liters of breath as measured by an evidential breath-testing device.
- "Prescription drugs" means any substance which is attainable only by lawful prescription from a physician. Appropriate use of legally prescribed

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

drugs and over-the-counter medication is not prohibited. However, the use of any substance bearing a warning label which indicates that mental function, motor skills, or judgment may be adversely affected must be reported to the employee's immediate supervisor. If an employee obtains a performance altering prescription, he/she must also obtain a written release from the attending physician which states that the employee can perform his/her job duties while using the medication as prescribed. A lawful prescription must include the patient's name, name of the substance, quantity/amount to be taken, and the period of authorization. Misuse or abuse of prescription drugs while performing MBCG business is prohibited.

"Over-the-counter medication" includes any substance which does not require
a prescription but which has the capacity to affect a person physically,
mentally, or emotionally or which could otherwise affect a person's ability to
safely perform any essential job function.

• Safety-Sensitive Employees

Safety sensitive employees are those who perform safety-sensitive functions. Safety-sensitive functions include all time from the time an employee begins work or is on call for work and all responsibility for performing work. Safety-sensitive functions include, but are not limited to, any duty related to inspecting equipment; driving or operating, in any manner, a motor vehicle; driving or operating, in any manner, a commercial motor vehicle; loading or unloading a vehicle, supervising or assisting in the loading or uploading, remaining in readiness to operate a vehicle, or in giving or receiving receipts for shipments loaded or unloaded; repairing, obtaining assistance, or remaining in attendance upon a disabled vehicle; maintenance of any motor vehicle or motorized equipment; maintenance and custodial functions. Safety-sensitive employees also include dispatch personnel; security personnel; law enforcement personnel; any employee who holds a commercial driver's license; and employees of the parks and recreation department who work closely with families and children of Macon-Bibb County.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

When Drug Testing Is Required

- 1. Pre-employment: Applicants for all positions of employment with MBCG must undergo pre-employment drug testing after a conditional offer of employment has been extended. This requirement also applies to seasonal employees, interns, and any other persons who will be working in any MBCG facility. A negative drug test result is a prerequisite for employment with MBCG. Failure of a pre-employment drug test disqualifies an applicant for employment with MBCG.
- 2. Random testing: All safety-sensitive employees shall be subject to random drug testing under MBCG's policies for ensuring a safe working environment, promoting employee efficiency, protecting the MBCG from liability, and protection of the MBCG's assets, other employees, and the public.

MBCG employees in positions requiring CDL shall be required to undergo random drug testing in accordance with regulations of the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA) of the U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT). Refusal to comply with random testing shall result in removal from duty and termination of employment. Refusal to undergo testing can include an inability to provide a sufficient urine specimen, saliva sample, or breath sample without a valid medical explanation, as well as a verbal declaration, obstructive behavior, or physical absence resulting in the inability to conduct the test.

Tests will be ordered on a random, unannounced basis from the pool of identified CDL and safety sensitive employees throughout the year.

A random number table or computer-based random number generator will be used to select employees for random drug and alcohol testing, thereby allowing each employee an equal chance of being tested each month.

At least 25% of the employees in the CDL random testing pool will be selected for substance abuse testing, and at least 25% of such employees for breath alcohol testing. Actual percentages will be as determined by the FMCSA. At least 2% to 10% of safety-sensitive employees per department will be selected and tested for drugs and alcohol each year.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

An employee's name will remain in the pool after being selected so that every employee will have an equal chance of being tested each time selections are made. Therefore, it is possible that any employee who is randomly selected may be randomly selected again during the same year.

Any employee with a confirmed positive drug or alcohol test will be removed from his/her position and referred to a substance abuse professional for assessment at the employee's expense. A confirmed positive drug or alcohol test will result in termination of employment.

3. After care testing: Persons in safety sensitive positions returning to work from an approved, self-referred treatment program for drug or alcohol abuse will be subject to frequent, unannounced urine and/or breath testing following return to duty. Follow up testing will be performed for a period of one (1) to five (5) years with a minimum of six (6) tests to be performed during the first year following return to duty.

Employees who re-enter MBCG's work force following self-referral to a drug or alcohol treatment program or facility must agree to a re-entry agreement with MBCG. The agreement may include, but is not limited to:

- A. A release to work statement from the substance abuse professional;
- B. A negative test for alcohol and/or drug use;
- C. An agreement to submit to unannounced and frequent follow-up testing for a period of one (1) to five (5) years with a minimum of six (6) tests to be administered during the first year following return to duty;
- D. Statement of work-related behaviors;
- E. An agreement to follow specified after-care requirements with the understanding that violations of the re-entry agreement shall be grounds for termination of employment.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 4. **Return to duty testing**: CDL and safety-sensitive employees who are absent from work on any leave for more than thirty (30) days shall be tested for drugs immediately prior to returning to work and before performing any job duties.
- 5. **Position testing**: Employees who are transferred, promoted, or demoted into a CDL or safety-sensitive position from a non-safety sensitive position will be tested for drugs before performing any job duties in the new position.
- 6. **Reasonable suspicion testing**: All employees will be subject to testing when there is reasonable suspicion that the employee has used drugs or misused alcohol in violation of this policy. Grounds for reasonable suspicion testing shall include, but not be limited to:
 - Personal observation of the employee's job performance appearance, behavior, speech or odor creating a reasonable suspicion that the employee has used drugs or alcohol in violation of this policy; or
 - Personal observation of the employee's job performance, appearance, behavior, speech or odor which causes reasonable suspicion that the employee (i) is impaired by drugs or alcohol; (ii) has used drugs or alcohol while on duty; (iii) or poses a threat to the safety of himself or others due to the use of drugs or misuse of alcohol in violation of this policy;
 - Specific and objective facts indicating that an employee's drug or alcohol use may have caused or been a contributing factor to an on-duty motor vehicle accident. An alcohol test(s) should be completed within two (2) hours of the accident and a drug test(s) within thirty-two (32) hours of the accident. The following facts, if present, may independently or collectively, depending on the circumstances, give rise to reasonable suspicion:
 - A. The appearance, behavior, speech, or odor of the employee immediately prior to or after the accident;
 - B. The employee left the scene or attempted to leave the accident scene without legal authority or permission to do so;

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- C. The employee acted contrary to a safety rule, established safety practice, or otherwise engaged in demonstrably unsafe behavior for which there is no reasonable explanation;
- D. The employee was arrested or received a traffic citation;
- E. The employee or any person received medical attention as a result of the accident;
- F. The employee has been involved, as a contributing factor, in a pattern of repetitive on-duty motor vehicle accidents whether or not they involved actual or potential injury.
- Drugs, drug paraphernalia, alcohol or containers indicating the presence of drugs or alcohol are observed or discovered in a location in which the employee had primary control or access, including but not limited to, desks, lockers, equipment, machines, or vehicles. The employee must have accessed the location within twelve (12) hours prior to the discovery of such items.
- Specific and objective facts showing the employee diluted, tainted, tampered, or interfered with any breath, blood, or urine sample, or any test(s) required under this policy, or that the employee attempted to do the same.
- 7. **Post-accident Testing**: When an employee is involved in an on-duty motor vehicle collision or an off-duty motor vehicle collision while operating a MBCG vehicle, or is injured during the course of their employment, alcohol and drug testing will be performed. Alcohol test(s) should be administered within two (2) hours of the accident and drug test(s) should be administered within thirty-two (32) hours of the accident. This testing is to be performed in addition to any drug or alcohol test(s) ordered by law enforcement authorities.
- 8. **Consent Testing**: When any employee has consented to a drug or alcohol test(s), the consent must be signed by the employee and a supervisor from the employee's department, or an authorized person from the Human Resources Department.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Testing Procedure

- Whenever there is reasonable suspicion to require a drug or alcohol test(s) under this policy, the department head or his/her designee shall be notified of the circumstances necessitating the test(s) as soon as possible.
- All circumstances causing reasonable suspicion to require a drug or alcohol test(s) shall be fully documented by the supervisor(s) and all appropriate witnesses as soon as possible.
- All MBCG-issued equipment, property, and facilities, including but not limited to, desks, lockers, and vehicles (collectively "materials") are subject to inspection at any time and for any reason. No employee shall have any privacy interest whatsoever in any MBCG-issued materials. No personal property may be searched unless the owner of the property has consented or a search is otherwise legally permissible.
- Alcohol screening will be conducted using a federally approved testing device operated by a trained technician. An initial screening will be conducted first. If the initial test indicates an alcohol concentration of 0.02 or greater, a second test will be performed to confirm the results of the initial test. The confirmatory test will be performed using a federally approved evidential breath testing device operated by a trained breath alcohol technician.
- Any tested employee with a confirmed alcohol concentration of 0.02 or greater but less than 0.04 will be removed from duty for 24 hours without pay. This removal from duty will be treated as an unexcused absence subject to termination of employment for a second offense. A confirmed alcohol concentration of 0.04 or greater shall constitute a positive alcohol test in violation of this policy and a violation of the federal requirements for safety sensitive employees set forth in 49 CFR Part 654.
- Ordinarily, drug test(s) will screen for marijuana, cocaine, amphetamines, methamphetamines, opiates (including heroine and codeine), barbiturates, benzodiazepines, and phencyclidine (PCP). Testing will involve an initial screening test(s) of a urine specimen. If a sample is found to be "not negative", a confirmation

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

test by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) analysis will be conducted. Test results will be certified, to the fullest extent possible under the circumstances, by a laboratory approved by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS). The confirmation test will be considered as having a positive result of the amounts present are above the minimum thresholds established by 49 CFR Part 40, as amended.

- In any instance in which there is reason to believe an employee is abusing a substance other than the seven (7) drugs listed above, MBCG reserves the right to test for additional drugs under its own authority using standard laboratory testing protocols.
- All positive drug test results will be interpreted by a physician approved by MBCG as a Medical Review Officer (MRO) before the results are reported to the MBCG. The MRO will make reasonable efforts to ascertain whether here may be a legitimate medical explanation for any positive test result by requesting information from the employee prior to administering the test(s).
- Upon notification of a verified positive result for drugs, the employee may request that the remaining portion of his/her (original) split specimen undergo a second confirmation test at his/her expense at a different DHHS laboratory. If the test conducted at the employee's request is negative for the presence of drugs, a third test may be made at MBCG's sole expense at a separate DHHS facility of its choosing. The results of the third facility will be determinative. If the results from the third facility are negative, all prior positive tests will be disregarded and shall not be the basis for any disciplinary or adverse action.
- The method of collecting, storing, and testing the split sample will be consistent with the procedures set forth in 49 CFR Part 40, as amended. The employee's request for a split sample test must be made to the Medical Review Officer (MRO) within 72 hours of notice of the original sample verified result. Requests after 72 hours will only be accepted if the delay in the request was due to documented facts beyond the control of the employee.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- The MBCG will make reasonable efforts to notify the employee of a positive drug test within five (5) days from the date it receives the test results. Because the results of a breath alcohol test are immediately available, this provision will not apply to alcohol tests conducted in such a manner.
- Any employee ordered to be tested based upon reasonable suspicion shall be immediately removed from duty, escorted to the testing facility, and taken home (unless other suitable arrangements have been made to transport the employee, including calling a cab). Under no circumstances will the employee be allowed to drive himself/herself home. The employee shall turn in keys to a MBCG vehicle, building, or office, as well as his/her identification badge or any other property belonging to MBCG.
- In any situation in which the employee has been ordered to be tested or tests positive and the employee refuses assistance in leaving the building or property or insists on leaving in his/her own vehicle, supervisors and/or department heads must document the situation and, depending on the circumstances, contact the Bibb County Sheriff's Office non-emergency line. Provide the sheriff's department with the employee's name, vehicle description and license plate number. However, if the employee is extremely agitated, violent, or is making threats of violence, leaves the premises in a MBCG vehicle, or if you believe the employee has violated the law, call 9-1-1.
- In the event that it is not reasonable under the circumstances to conduct an alcohol test based on a breath test, MBCG reserve the right to test for the presence of alcohol by a blood test analysis. If this procedure is used, MBCG will make reasonable efforts to notify the employee of the results within five (5) days after the results have been received. An MRO will not be used when a blood test for alcohol is administered.

Drug and Alcohol Treatment

An employee who voluntarily identifies himself/herself as a user of drugs or abuser of alcohol prior to being asked or required to take a drug/alcohol test(s) will not be subject to disciplinary action if the employee seeks immediate assistance and treatment through the MBCG's Employee Assistance Program or a similarly available treatment program.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Failure to comply with all requirements of a treatment program, or continued use of drugs or alcohol during or after completion of such a program, will result in an appropriate disciplinary action if such use results in a violation of this policy. Nothing in this policy is intended to discriminate against any person on the basis of addiction to drugs or alcohol or on the basis of an individual's medical history of addiction to drugs or alcohol pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). However, MBCG reserves the right to take into account, for purposes of employment or disciplinary action, any history of criminal activity related to such use to the extent that such may lead to disqualification from employment.

Proper Application of This Policy

The MBCG is dedicated to assuring fair and equitable application of its drug and alcohol free workplace policy. Supervisors, managers and department heads are required to use and apply all aspects of this policy in an unbiased and impartial manner. Any supervisor, manager or department head who knowingly disregards the requirements of this policy or who is found to deliberately misuse the policy in regard to subordinates shall be subject to termination.

Confidentiality

All reports of test results for drugs and alcohol, searches, or any employee referral to or participation in an EAP program or treatment program for addictive disorders will be maintained in strict confidence. Any person authorized to have access to such confidential information who, without authorization, discloses it to another person shall have engaged in gross misconduct and shall be subject to severe disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. The confidentiality of such information shall not apply to any use by or communication to the office of the MBCG Attorney, or where the information is relevant to the MBCG's defense in an administrative or civil action. Such information may also be disclosed to the extent required by any federal, state, or local law, statute, ordinance or regulation. All personal health information shall be maintained in accordance with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA); access to such information shall be limited to individuals who need the information to process claims under a MBCG program, or to individuals for whom the employee has signed a release form and presented the form to the administrator of such program.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

SECTION 7: COMPENSATION

POLICY	NUMBER
Anniversary Date and Bridging of Service	7.01
Compensatory Time	7.02
Compressed Work Week and Timekeeping	7.03
Deductions From Pay and Direct Deposit	7.04
Overtime Pay	7.05
Recording Hours Worked, Pay Periods	7.06
Wage and Salary Administration	7.07

ANNIVERSARY DATE AND BRIDGING OF SERVICE

An employee's anniversary date is defined as the date of hire for the latest period of employment with MBCG, City of Macon and Bibb County. The anniversary date is used as a benchmark in a variety of ways relating to qualification for various benefits, seniority, and the employee's performance evaluations.

Previous periods of service may be credited to the employee's service time under certain circumstances for pension purposes only. Employees who have already met their vesting period for pension, but have not yet met eligibility for drawing their vested pension will have their service time bridged after reemployment with MBCG. For non-vested employees rehired by MBCG, no more than five years may have elapsed between the last period of employment and the beginning of the latest period of employment for bridging of service time. (Refer to appropriate Pension Plan)

The Human Resources Department will determine whether an employee is eligible for bridging of service at the time of rehire. If the employee is granted credit, he/she will be given an adjusted hire date, which will then serve as the employee's Anniversary Date.

COMPENSATORY TIME

In order to comply with the Fair Labor Standards Act, MBCG will provide overtime pay in lieu of compensatory time to non-exempt and hourly-paid staff members whose employment status is full-time, part-time, or temporary for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in one week. All non-exempt staff members are subject to the overtime requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act and must be compensated accordingly (*Refer to Overtime Pay policy, Section 7.05.*)

Effective March 17, 2009, Bibb County ceased to offer compensatory time in lieu of overtime hours. Any accrued compensatory time on the books before March 17, 2009 will be available for the employee's use when scheduled with the approval of their department head.

The Mayor and County Commission may authorize compensatory time to be paid to exempt employees in the event of a declared emergency by Federal or State officials.

To avoid overtime, a non-exempt employee may be allowed time off from work during the same week as the overtime hours were worked, where department schedules and functions permit. Bibb County law enforcement personnel will have a two (2) week time frame within the pay period to make up for time worked above their regular scheduled work day instead of receiving overtime pay.

Holidays, annual leave, sick leave, and any other types of leave are not considered "hours worked" in calculating overtime pay. (Refer to Overtime Pay policy).

"Flex time" is not permitted.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

COMPRESSED WORK WEEK AND TIMEKEEPING

The MBCG permits some MBCG departments and offices to work a compressed work week consisting of four (4) ten-hour days per week upon approval of the Mayor or County Manager. The department head has discretion to determine whether his/her department will participate. Hours of operation for departments participating in the compressed work week are 7:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m., with one half-hour for lunch.

Individual employees within a department which offers the compressed work week may choose not to participate and to instead work the regular eight-hour, five (5) day work week. Department directors will work a five day work week.

Once an employee agrees to the compressed work schedule he/she may opt out or make changes to his/her work schedule approved by his/her department head on one occasion only. The employee's work schedule may be changed in the discretion of the department head to meet the needs of the department. No employee will be permitted to alter his/her work schedule back and forth from regular work hours to the compressed work week schedule at his/her convenience. The compressed work week schedule shall not be used as a "flex time" option for the convenience of individual employees. Each employee is expected to adhere to his/her chosen schedule once the schedule has been established.

If a department on a compressed work week schedule serves the public, the department's hours of operation are extended to include the compressed schedule hours to allow for availability of services to the public at all times on days when the MBCG facility is open to the public.

Compressed Work Week Timekeeping

Overtime will be paid to any non-exempt employee who works a compressed work week schedule and who works more than forty (40) hours in one week—just as with any other non-exempt employee of MBCG. (Refer to Fair Labor Standards Act section of this handbook). To record hours worked on time sheets, non-exempt employees who work a compressed work week schedule should enter "10, 10, 10, 10" if they work each scheduled day during the week.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Time off from work for all employees who work a compressed work week schedule should be entered according to MBCG payroll guidelines. If an employee who works a compressed work week schedule (both exempt and non-exempt employees) takes a full day off for sick leave, annual leave, or banked compensation time, he/she will be charged ten (10) hours against the respective account. If a non-exempt employee who works a compressed work week schedule is absent for a partial day, the precise amount of time absent from work will be charged against the employee's sick leave, annual leave, or banked compensation time account, if applicable.

If any of the following leave time is awarded by MBCG, the employee who works a compressed work week schedule will be paid for *eight (8) hours*:

Holiday Pay

Notes: Employees who work a compressed work week schedule will be scheduled for four (4) eight-hour days during the week in which the holiday falls. Department Heads will assign staggered work hours for employees in order to maintain employees' extended hours. All employees must be paid their last scheduled work day before the holiday and their first scheduled work day after the holiday to be eligible for holiday pay.

Funeral Leave

Notes: If bereavement leave would apply to a day which is the employee's regularly scheduled day off from work, bereavement leave will not be paid.

Jury Duty Leave

Notes: If an employee's call for jury duty occurs on a day which is the employee's regularly scheduled day off, jury duty leave will not be paid for that particular day.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

DEDUCTIONS FROM PAY AND DIRECT DEPOSIT

In accordance with federal, state, and local laws, the following deductions will be made from employee paychecks:

- Federal Income tax
- Social Security tax
- State Income Tax
- Garnishments, Bankruptcies and/or Liens
- Deductions mandate by local, state, or federal law

Authorized deductions will also be made for employee benefit programs--primary and supplemental--chosen by the employee and for any charitable contributions authorized by the employee. Any employee benefit program must be officially approved, adopted and implemented by the MBCG County Commission. Deductions for employee benefit programs may include health and dental insurance, life insurance, retirement plans and deferred compensation programs, and other approved savings programs.

Employees should contact the Human Resources Department for information regarding voluntary deductions from pay, including deduction of union dues. Questions concerning deductions for taxes, garnishments, bankruptcies or levies should be directed to the Finance Department.

Direct Deposit

- Newly hired employees will be informed that direct deposit is the desired MBCG's standard method of paying employees.
- Employees may choose to deposit into two (2) bank accounts. This may be two (2) accounts at one bank or separate accounts at two (2) different banks.
 - Employees at their discretion may elect to receive a check rather than direct deposit. Employees who are not currently using direct deposit may sign up to have their pay directly deposited by contacting the Finance or Human Resources Department.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- It will take approximately two (2) weeks from the time an employee signs up for his/her direct deposit to become effective.
- The entire amount of the paycheck must be direct deposited, along with all other payroll checks issued such as checks for incentive pay and longevity bonuses. Payment for any excess vacation time shall be by manual check issued by the Finance Department and is not subject to direct deposit.
- 3. If two (2) bank accounts have been chosen for direct deposit and the amount of the paycheck increases, the increase will be direct deposited into the primary account. If the amount of the check decreases and two (2) accounts have been chosen, the amount of the decrease will be deducted from the amount deposited into the secondary account.
- 4. Changes in any of the designated accounts will be handled by the Finance Department. The Finance Department must be notified five (5) days in advance of any changes in banking institutions or designated accounts.
- 5. All direct deposit enrollment forms and questions concerning direct deposit will be handled by the Finance Department/ Human Resources Department.
- 6. Any charges incurred by MBCG due to a returned direct deposit will be charged to the employee/retiree.
- 7. Individual information from direct deposit funds is available online on the Employee Page of the MBCG Website under "My MBCG." This information can be accessed by the employee by entering a secure user name and password, which will be provided to each employee.

OVERTIME PAY

From time to time, MBCG employees may be required to work overtime at the request of their immediate supervisor or department head. It is the policy of MBCG to comply with the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") with regard to overtime payment for non-exempt employees. All overtime hours must be approved in advance by the department head or his/her designee. An employee's base work week or work cycle for computing overtime compensation will be the actual hours worked. Annual leave, holidays, sick leave and other leave time will not count toward hours worked for overtime pay purposes.

Exempt employees and non-exempt employees are expected to work 40 hours per week. Exempt employees are not eligible for overtime pay and are expected to work whatever hours are necessary in order to meet the performance expectations outlined by their supervisors. Exempt and non-exempt employees are required to record and track time. All employees (exempt and non-exempt) are expected to discuss scheduling (including meetings off-site) with their supervisor in advance of absences, leaving early or coming in late.

Non-exempt hourly employees will be paid overtime at a rate of one and one-half times their regular hourly rate for all hours worked over forty (40) hours in a work week. For all employees, only actual hours worked count toward the computation of any weekly overtime.

Employees Excluded From Overtime

Exempt salaried employees do not receive overtime pay. Also excluded from the overtime pay requirements of the FLSA are:

- Elected officials--Includes holders of public elective office, members of the
 officeholder's personal staff, employees appointed by elective officials to
 policymaking positions, and employees who serve as immediate advisors to the
 constitutional or legal powers of the officeholder.
- **Executive personnel**--Includes employees who earn a salary of not less than \$455 per week and whose primary duties include management of an

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

organization or management of a subdivision of department of an organization; supervision of two (2) or more employees; and authority to hire and fire employees or the making of recommendations with respect to hiring, firing or advancement of employees.

- Administrative personnel--Includes employees who earn a salary of not less than \$455 per week and whose primary duties must include the performance of office or non-manual work directly related to the management or general business operations of the employer or the employer's customers; and the exercise of discretion and independent judgment with respect to matters of significance. In addition, administrative personnel must assist an executive or administrative employee; perform only general supervision along specialized lines; or execute specialized assignments under only general supervision.
- Professional personnel--Includes employees who earn a salary of not less than \$455 per week and whose primary duties include the performance of work requiring knowledge of an advanced type in a field of science or learning customarily acquired by a prolonged course of specialized intellectual instruction; or work requiring invention, imagination, originality or talent in a recognized field of artistic or creative endeavor.
- Computer worker--The FLSA describes these employees as a computer systems analyst, computer programmer, software engineer, or other similarly skilled worker in the computer field. Primary duties consist of: (a) the application of systems analysis techniques and procedures, including consulting with users, to determine hardware, software or system functional specifications; (b) the design, development, documentation, analysis, creation, testing or modification of computer systems or programs, including prototypes, based on and related to user or system design specifications; (c) the design, documentation, testing, creation or modification of computer programs related to machine operating systems; or (d) a combination of the aforementioned duties, the performance of which requires the same level of skills. A computer worker must be compensated on a salary or fee basis at a rate of not less than \$455 per week or receive compensation on an hourly basis at a rate not less than \$27.63 an hour.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Definition of "hours worked"

For purposes of FLSA compliance, "hours worked" includes all time that an employee is required to be on duty, or on the employer's premises, or at a prescribed workplace for the employer, and all time during which the employee is required or permitted to work for the employer. Hours worked have been established as at least all time spent in physical or mental exertion controlled or required by the employer and pursued necessarily and primarily for the benefit of the employer or his business. This term includes any work which the employee performs on or away from the premises, if the employer knows or has reason to believe that the work is being performed.

Time spent by an employee in waiting for and receiving medical attention at the direction of MBCG during the employee's normal working hours on days when he is working constitutes hours worked. This includes time spent traveling to and from and visiting the doctor's office for workers compensation physician and physical therapy appointments.

Annual leave, sick leave, worker's compensation time, and other leave time will not count toward the hours worked in the work cycle for overtime purposes.

In addition, the following categories of time associated with work are further defined under the FLSA:

- 1. **Waiting Time**—In cases where an employee is unable to use his/her time effectively, but waiting is an integral part of the job, such time is considered to be hours worked.
- 2. **Off Duty**—Periods during which an employee is completely relieved from duty and which are long enough to enable the employee to use the time effectively for his/her own purposes are not hours worked.
- 3. **Meal Periods**--Bona fide meal periods are not working time. Bona fide meal periods do not include coffee breaks or time for snacks. These are rest periods. The employee must be completely relieved from duty for the purposes of eating regular meals. Ordinarily thirty (30) minutes

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

or more is long enough for a bona fide meal period. A shorter period may be long enough under special conditions. The employee is not relieved if he is required to perform any duties, whether active or inactive, while eating.

4. Approval Required For All Overtime

The MBCG does not permit the working of overtime hours unless such is specifically approved by a MBCG official or department head. MBCG officials and department heads are accordingly responsible for ensuring that all overtime worked by their employees is approved before it is worked, and for maintaining daily and weekly records of each employee's "hours worked."

NOTE: The Bibb County Sheriff's Office personnel must adhere to the Bibb County Sheriff's Office standard operating procedures for approval of overtime hours.

Classification of Jobs

The Human Resources Department is responsible for administering this overtime policy and for classifying a job as exempt or non-exempt upon review of the job description and duties with the department head and with the counsel of the MBCG Attorney or his designee.

On Call (Standby) Policy

The MBCG may require certain employees to be placed on call (standby) for emergency response after normal duty hours. Employees who are placed on call in any department may be required to be on-call on a weekly rotation. On call status is assigned on a rotating basis and should be assigned by a supervisor with prior approval of the department head. Employees who are scheduled to be on leave (vacation, sick or other scheduled leave) cannot be scheduled for on-call (standby) duty.

When an employee is on call, MBCG will provide a pager and/or cell phone, which must be carried by the employee at all times inclusive of evenings, holidays and weekends. During the on call week, the supervisor will also be provided with a MBCG vehicle to drive to and from his/her residence; however, such MBCG vehicle may not be used for

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

any personal use other than transportation to and from work. In the event of a call, the employee should be able to respond to any occurrence within the territorial boundaries of Bibb County within thirty (30) minutes of the call being received.

The supervisor will be responsible for determining whether there is a need for additional employee assistance for a particular call, and for securing that assistance. However, the supervisor is not permitted to impose his/her requirement to be on call to other employees of his/her crew.

As for compensation for the on-call time, the employee will be paid as though he/she actually worked two hours for each day on which he/she is on call and four hours for each Saturday, Sunday or Holiday he/she is on call regardless of whether he/she is actually required to respond to a call.

The rate of pay for actual work time while on call shall be in accordance with MBCG pay policy regarding overtime pay. In the event the on-call employee must respond to a call during the on-call time, he/she will be paid for any time actually worked above and beyond the on-call listed above. Employees who have not met the threshold for required overtime shall be paid regular rate until he/she meets the required threshold.

Public Safety Activities (Sheriff, Fire)

Employees engaged in law enforcement activities, including correctional officers, on behalf of a public sector employer are subject to liberalized overtime standards under section 7(K) of FLSA.

Law enforcement personnel include an employee who:

- Is a uniformed or plain clothed member of a body of officers and subordinates who are empowered by State statute or local ordinance to enforce laws designed to maintain public peace and order and to protect both life and property from accidental or willful injury, and to prevent and detect crimes;
- Has the power to arrest;

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Is presently undergoing or has undergone or will undergo on-the-job training and/or a course of instruction and study which typically includes physical training, self-defense, firearm proficiency, criminal and civil law principles, investigative and law enforcement techniques, community relations, medical aid and ethics. Section 7(k) of the FLSA provides that for employees engaged in fire protection or law enforcement, the "work period" rather than the shift cycle, determines when overtime must be paid. For law enforcement personnel and correctional officers, a "work period" may be from 7 consecutive days to 28 consecutive days in length. For work periods of at least 7 but less than 28 days, overtime pay is required when the number of hours worked exceeds the number of hours that bears the same relationship to 212 (fire) or 171 (police) as the number of days in the work period bears to 28. For example, fire protection personnel are due overtime under such a plan after 106 hours worked during a 14-day work period, while law enforcement personnel must receive overtime after 86 hours worked during a 14-day work period.

NOTE: Law enforcement personnel does not include clerks, radio operators, or dispatchers in the Sheriff's Office.

Overtime pay is required to be paid to law enforcement and fire personnel in accordance with the following table:

Work Period (Days)	Max. Hours Standards (Law Enforcement)	Max. Hours Standard (Fire)		
28	171	212		
27	165	204		
26	159	197		
25	153	189		
24	147	182		
23	141	174		
22	134	167		
21	128	159		
20	122	151		
19	116	144		
18	110	136		
17	104	129		
16	98	121		
15	92	114		
14	86	106		
13	79	98		
12	73	91		
11	67	83		
10	61	76		
9	55	68		
8	49	61		
7	43	53		

Questions concerning application of this policy should be addressed to the Human Resources Department.

RECORDING HOURS WORKED, PAY PERIODS

MBCG employees must accurately record hours worked, time off from work, whether paid or unpaid; and any use of sick leave or banked compensatory time. Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

Pay Periods; Compensation Schedule

MBCG issues paychecks to all employees on a bi-weekly basis. When the pay day falls on a holiday, the employee will be paid the day before the holiday.

In the event of termination or resignation from employment, employees must return all MBCG property and participate in exit procedures prior to issuance of the final paycheck by a member of the Human Resources Department. Direct deposit of any final paycheck shall not be approved until these conditions have been satisfied.

Final payment for hours worked shall be paid on the normal pay schedule for the employee in question in the event of termination from employment or resignation. This payment shall be made by direct deposit where the employee's regular form of payment has been by direct deposit. Payment for accrued leave time, if any, shall be paid on the pay date after the pay period ends for hours worked, and shall be made by a hard check, i.e., not by direct deposit.

WAGE AND SALARY ADMINISTRATION

It is the policy of MBCG to maintain a wage and salary system which maintains internal and external equity. All wage and salary determinations are made based upon the duties of the position. The Human Resources Department is responsible for wage and salary determinations, job classification and re-classification, changes in job titles, and other compensation-related decisions, contingent upon approval by the MBCG County Commission. The purpose of this written policy is to define the MBCG's pay administration philosophy and to establish a uniform and consistent method for adjusting the compensation and pay received by the employees of MBCG.

Definitions

- Pay grade: Letter assigned to each position in the MBCG that identifies its position in the appropriate pay schedule. (Example: Pay Grade A, B, C, NN, OO, PP, etc.)
- Pay range: The minimum and maximum pay for the position and all steps in between.
- **Position**: A collection of duties and responsibilities performed by an employee that has been assigned a classification title and pay grade.
- Classification title: The approved title assigned to a position in the MBCG's organizational structure.
- Job code: A three-digit number assigned to all classification titles in the MBCG's organization for control and identification purposes.
- **Merit step increase**: Pay increase granted per schedule if work has met satisfactory performance standards if approved by the County Commission for that fiscal year.
- Starting salary or pay: Initial salary or pay received by a new employee at the beginning of his/her employment.
- **Promotional increase**: The increase received at the time an employee moves at least one pay grade to a different classification than his or her present pay grade.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- Demotion decrease: The decreased pay received after an employee has been demoted at least one pay grade to a different classification below his or her present pay grade.
- **Full-time employee**: An employee with regularly scheduled work hours of 30 hours or more per week.
- Part-time employee: An employee with regularly scheduled work hours of less than 30 hours per week.
- **Temporary employee**: An employee who is working full-time or part-time for a specific stated period. This type of employee knows when his or her job will begin and end before initial employment.

Responsibilities

County Commission

Reviews and approves compensation or reclassification recommendations from department heads.

Department Heads

- 1. Prepare compensation recommendations or reclassification recommendations for personnel under their direct supervision.
- 2. Assure that all supervisors and employees in the department are aware of the pay policy.
- 3. Recommend and/or approve promotions, merit step increases and demotions for employees.

Director of Human Resources

- Reviews all compensation decisions prior to their being announced and advises department heads and/or Human Resources Committee of the inconsistencies in decisions.
- 2. Reviews all compensation adjustments starting salaries or reclassifications before they are implemented and advises department heads and/or Human Resources Committee of inconsistencies in decisions.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

3. Reviews all merit step increases, promotions, demotions, compensations and adjustments for approval.

General Salary Administration

MBCG's employee compensation policy is to pay salaries commensurate with the value of service performed. Each position will be assigned a pay grade which reflects the level of duties and responsibilities performed.

The assignment of positions to pay grades is reviewed periodically to ensure that they correspond to competitive levels of compensation for similar positions in local government and industries.

Recommendations for pay adjustments will be made by the employee's immediate supervisor or department head, reviewed by the Human Resources Director and approved by the Human Resources Committee.

Hiring Range

The Mayor and County Commission has established the first three (3) steps of each grade as the hiring range for the positions associated with that grade in order to provide flexibility in the hiring of exceptionally qualified candidates. Hiring above step 3 in a particular pay grade shall be reviewed by the Human Resources Director and approved by the County Commission.

Compensation Program

A compensation evaluation study (salary survey) will periodically be made for the entire MBCG pay structure, with a goal of conducting such a study at least every three (3) years. Pay ranges and individual compensation may be adjusted as necessary by the MBCG to maintain a competitive compensation program.

• Merit Step Increases—Non-Promotional

New employees may be granted one (1) merit step increase at the end of six (6) months continuous service for satisfactory performance if merit increases have been approved by the County Commission for that fiscal year. This first six (6) months of employment is the new employee's probationary period.

Step dates will be adjusted to compensate for time loss through any unpaid leave of absence.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Merit step increases are not automatic and will only be approved for employees whose yearly written MBCG Review form identifies them as satisfactory or above performance. The written evaluation and review form are to be submitted to the Department Human Resources by the first day of the month in which the merit increase is due.

A new employee will be eligible for his or her first step increase after the completion of six (6) months of continuous service, if the County Commission has approved merit increases for that fiscal year and if the employee meets all performance and other requirements. A MBCG Performance Review form must be submitted on each employee whether they are recommended for the merit step or not. This review form must be signed by the employee, the supervisor and the department head and must be reviewed by the Human Resources Director.

Promotional Increases

- One pay grade promotion: Compensation or pay will be adjusted to the like step in the new pay grade.
- Two or more pay grade promotion: Compensation will be adjusted to the minimum
 of one step of a one-step increase in the pay grade held before promotion OR to the
 minimum of the new pay grade, whichever is higher.

NOTE: Employees promoted will have a new step date coinciding with the date of promotion.

Reallocation of Positions

- Reclassifications: Employees in positions reclassified to a higher pay grade or classification as a result of reclassification study will have their compensation adjusted a minimum of one step increase in their present pay grade or to the minimum of the new pay grade, whichever is greater.
- Realignment of positions: When positions are realigned to different pay grades or classifications for organization of pay plan purposes, the employees will be placed in the step in the new pay grade which continues his or her present hourly rate. If no pay step equals the hourly rate the employee presently receives, the employee will be placed in the step, which has the nearest hourly rate to that of the present rate received. Such a rate must receive concurrence of both the department head and the Human Resources Director.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

NOTE: Employees reclassified and placed above step one of a pay grade will retain the same step date held previously.

Demoted Employee's Pay

Employees demoted for cause to positions for which they are qualified will have their compensation adjusted to the hourly wage rate of the step in the lower pay grade which is equal to one step less than the step the employee holds in his or her present pay grade.

NOTE: Employees demoted for cause will have a new step date coinciding with the date of the demotion.

Transfers

An employee transferring from one position classification to another position classification will continue to be paid at their present rate of pay or at step one of the new position, whichever is higher.

NOTE: Transferred employees will retain their same step date.

Unsatisfactory Performance Pay

An employee whose performance is not satisfactory (after the employee has been appropriately counseled and warned) may have his or her pay decreased by one step in his or her present pay grade.

An employee whose pay is reduced should be given a maximum of 90 days to bring his or her performance to a standard at which time his or her pay will be returned to the level held prior to decrease. Employees who cannot or do not improve in the time period stipulated should be considered for demotion or possible termination.

When an employee's merit step increase is due and the employee is evaluated as an unsatisfactory performer, the employee is not eligible for an annual merit increase. Department heads must receive the concurrence of the Director of Human Resources before reducing employee's pay due to unsatisfactory performance.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Temporary Appointments

A temporary appointment to a position of a higher pay grade will be considered a training assignment if the appointment is for less than two (2) calendar months/60 days and no pay increase will be granted. Appointments for periods in excess of two (2) calendar months/ 60 days may receive a promotional increase per the pay administration guideline if the department head makes a written request to the Human Resources Department and the Human Resources Committee approves such action. All appointed positions of the MBCG are eligible for promotion immediately upon the approval of the Mayor and County Commission.

Other Provisions

Retroactive pay adjustments will not be permitted without the concurrence of the Human Resources Director.

Merit step increases shall be effective for the pay period in which the merit review date falls, if the MBCG Performance Review form is returned to the Human Resources Department by the first day of the month in which the merit review date falls. Annual merit review increases for all MBCG employees are subject to approval by the County Commission during budget hearings for each fiscal year.

SECTION 8: LEAVE

POLICY	NUMBER
Annual Leave	8.01
Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA)	8.02
Funeral Leave	8.03
Jury Duty Leave	8.04
Sick Leave Bank	8.05
Military Leave	8.06
Sick Leave	8.07
Request / Report Time Off	8.08

ANNUAL LEAVE

The MBCG employees in the full-time classification will receive an annual leave accrual, the amount of which is based upon tenure with MBCG. The total amount of annual leave hours accrued, less any annual leave used by the employee, will determine how much annual leave time the employee has available for use where time off from work has been approved by his/her supervisor, manager or department head. To receive the requisite accrual of vacation time the employee must be paid for at least twenty-four hours during the work week in question.

The MBCG recognizes that annual leave is important to an employee's morale, productivity, and well-being. Employees are encouraged to take their earned annual leave each year at the time best-suited to their department's work schedule. Due to seasonal operations of some departments, annual leave can be granted only during certain times of the year.

Annual leave will be scheduled at the convenience of the department involved, and longer service employees will be granted preference in the event of conflicting leave requests. Employees having more than forty (40) hours of annual leave accrued who wish to take the annual leave in separate weeks will receive seniority consideration for only the first selection of week(s). All other annual leave will be scheduled at the convenience of the department and will not displace less senior employees before those employees have had the opportunity to select their annual leave time unless the department head approves preference for the senior employee's remainder of annual leave. If an official holiday falls within an employee's vacation period, that day of leave will not be charged against the employee's annual leave.

Where possible, the employee should submit his/her annual leave request at least thirty (30) days prior to the date requested. The manager, supervisor, or department head has discretion as to whether the time off from work will be permitted, and as to whether annual leave will be awarded where less than thirty (30) days' notice has been provided by the employee.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Annual leave entitlement is paid at the rate of pay received at the time of the leave (normal hourly wage) but not including overtime pay. Employees (or their supervisor if the employee is unavailable) will record on the weekly time sheet any annual leave taken. Employees working on a compressed work week schedule will record ten (10) hours for each day of annual leave taken; all others will record eight (8) hours for each day of annual leave taken. This does not apply during a week in which a holiday recognized by MBCG falls; all employees work eight (8) hour days during holiday weeks.

If an employee records annual leave on his/her weekly time sheet and the employee does not have an annual leave balance to cover such leave, the leave will be charged to any banked compensatory time to cover the leave. If the employee has no accrued annual leave or banked compensatory time, the leave will be unpaid. Unpaid leave cannot be taken where an employee has an existing annual leave balance.

Negative balances of annual leave hours will not be allowed. Annual leave cannot be used until the week following the week in which the accrual was earned. No more than 480 hours of accumulated annual leave may be carried over into the next calendar year for all employees except firefighters. No more than 720 hours of annual leave may be carried over into the next calendar year for firefighters who work a 60 hours week. For employees participating in the Bibb County Pre May 2011 Pension Plan, all annual leave hours in excess of 480 hours on December 31st of each year will be credited toward "service time" when calculating the employee's pension benefit. Former City of Macon sworn employees hired prior to 1977 leave accumulation will remain the same. but will follow the new accrual rates. On December 31 of the requisite year, for employees not in the Bibb County Pre May 2011 Pension Plan, any hours over 480 (720 where applicable) will be lost. During the year an employee retires or terminates employment with MBCG, he/she will be paid for the full balance of hours, including any accrued over the 480 hours carried over from the previous year. No former City of Macon employee will have vacation leave applied to service time at retirement. Accrued annual leave may be used in lieu of sick leave when an employee's sick leave has been exhausted. For exempt employees, annual leave should not be used—or marked on the

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

employee time sheet--in less than full day increments in the absence of extenuating circumstances. If a non-exempt employee takes a full day off from work for annual leave, he/she is not permitted to "make up" the time by working additional hours during the work week or on the weekend.

Department heads have discretion to approve use of annual leave for employees to take immediate family members to a physician, or to care for immediate family members who are ill or hospitalized if the employee does not have banked compensatory time (where applicable). For purposes of this policy, immediate family members are parent, step-parent, spouse, child or step-child.

The MBCG appointed officials must request annual leave time from the County Manager or the Mayor, and must receive approval in advance of taking any such leave.

New full-time employees do not accrue annual leave for the first six (6) months of employment, but upon satisfactory completion of their probationary period will be awarded 40 hours of annual leave (1 week). Annual leave may not be taken during the first six (6) months of employment. Annual leave accrual for an employee who is rehired more than six (6) months following the date of termination of employment will be treated the same as annual leave accrual for any newly hired employee. Annual leave accrual for an employee reinstated to a position of employment with MBCG within six (6) months of the date of termination of employment will return to the rate of accrual previously in effect.

Each week after the first six (6) months of service, a full-time MBCG employee accumulates annual leave on the following schedule:

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Accrued Leave	Work Days	Hours Per Week	Hours Per Pay Period	Sworn Firefighter (60 hours per week)
6 months to 5 years	10	1.54	3.08	4.62
5 years to 10 years	12	1.85	3.70	5.55
10 years to 15 years	15	2.31	4.62	6.93
15 years to 20 years	20	3.08	6.16	9.24
20 years plus	25	3.85	7.70	11.55

The "20 years plus" accrual rate will not be available to former Bibb County and City of Macon employees hired after May 1, 2011.

Employees terminating employment with MBCG after six (6) months of service will be paid their annual leave entitlement in one lump sum, on the pay period following the final pay check. Part-time employees are not eligible for annual leave or accrual of annual leave.

FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE

The Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 ("FMLA") provides unpaid, job-protected leave to eligible employees for certain family and medical reasons, without loss of health insurance benefits. The existence of this policy shall not alter or expand the statutory requirements of the FMLA, and application of this policy is correspondingly limited based on the provisions of the FMLA.

In addition to the information on the form styled as "Employee Rights and Responsibilities" at the end of this policy, the following information is provided to explain the employee's rights and obligations when requesting a family or medical leave:

Eligibility for Leave and Amount of Leave

- To be eligible for leave under this policy, an employee must have been employed for a total of twelve (12) months, must have worked at least 1,250 hours during the 12-month period preceding the commencement of the leave.
- An eligible employee may take FMLA leave for up to 12 weeks of unpaid leave for one or more of the following reasons: (1) the birth of the employee's child; (2) placement of a child with the employee for adoption or foster care; (3) to care for a child, spouse, or parent who has a serious health condition; (4) when the employee is unable to perform the essential functions of his or her position because of a serious health condition, or (5) because of a qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that the employee's spouse, child, or parent is a covered military member on active duty (or has been notified of an impending call or order to active duty). An employee may take a total of 12 workweeks of unpaid leave for the reasons specified above during a rolling 12-month period measured backward from the date an employee uses any FMLA leave.
- An eligible employee may take up to twenty-six (26) weeks of unpaid, job protected leave in a single 12-month period (measured beginning on the date the leave begins) to care for a covered service member who has incurred an injury or illness in the line of duty while on active duty in the Armed Forces. FMLA leave to care for a seriously ill or injured service member runs concurrently with other

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

leave entitlements provided under federal, state, and local law. Leave that qualifies as both leave to care for a covered service member and leave to care for a family member with a serious health condition during a single 12-month period may not be designated and counted as both types of leave. Such leave will be designated first as leave to care for a covered service member.

- Unless otherwise required by law, no employee will be entitled to more than a combined total of 26 weeks of leave in a single 12-month period for any FMLAqualifying reason.
- The FMLA permits eligible employees to take leave intermittently or on a reduced-schedule leave when medically necessary for the serious health condition of the employee's or the employee's family member or to care for a covered service member with a serious injury or illness. In the case of planned medical treatment, the employee must attempt to schedule the intermittent or reduced-schedule leave so as not to unduly disrupt MBCG's operations. Intermittent leave is not available for the birth, adoption or placement of a child unless agreed to by MBCG. MBCG may transfer the employee temporarily to an alternative position with equal pay and benefits that better accommodates any recurring periods of intermittent leave.
- If an employee is entitled to paid leave under another benefit plan or policy, which includes, but is not limited to, short-term disability, unused paid vacation, sick leave, annual leave, or banked compensatory time, the employee must substitute the paid leave for FMLA leave. Such available paid leave will be counted against the unpaid FMLA leave entitlement. The employee is required to satisfy any procedural requirements for receiving payment under paid leave as provided in this Manual when substituting paid leave for FMLA leave.

Definition of Serious Health Condition

A serious health condition is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves either an overnight stay in a medical care facility, or continuing treatment by a health care provider for a condition that either prevents the employee from performing the functions of the employee's job, or prevents the qualified family

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

member from participating in school or other daily activities. Subject to certain conditions, the continuing treatment requirement may be met by a period of incapacity of more than three (3) consecutive calendar days combined with at least two (2) visits to a health care provider or one (1) visit and a regimen of continuing treatment, or incapacity due to pregnancy, or incapacity due to a chronic condition. Other conditions may meet the definition of continuing treatment.

Request For and Designation of Leave

- To request FMLA leave, the employee should inform the Human Resources Department, and a Human Resources representative will ensure that he or she receives the appropriate FMLA request form(s). When the need for FMLA leave is foreseeable, the employee must provide notice and submit the Request for Family and Medical Leave form at least thirty (30) calendar days in advance of the effective date of the leave. If thirty (30) days' notice is not practicable (such as if the employee is uncertain as to when the leave will begin or in the case of a medical emergency), the employee must provide notice as soon as practicable. If the need for leave is not foreseeable or in the case of a qualifying exigency, the employee must give the MBCG notice of the necessity for FMLA leave as soon as practicable under the particular circumstances.
- An employee must provide notice sufficient for the MBCG to determine that the leave is for an FMLA-qualifying event. In the case of unforeseeable leave, calling in "sick" without providing any additional information is not sufficient. When an employee seeks FMLA leave for a qualifying reason for which MBCG previously has granted FMLA protected leave, the employee must specifically reference the qualifying reason for leave or the need for FMLA leave. If the employee fails to provide the MBCG the reason for leave, leave may be denied.

The employee will be notified within five (5) business days of his or her request for FMLA leave whether the employee is eligible for FMLA leave, absent extenuating circumstances. At that time, employees will be provided written notice of their rights and responsibilities and the consequences for failure to meet these obligations. When the MBCG has sufficient information to determine whether the leave is for an FMLA-qualifying event, the employee will be notified within five (5)

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

business days whether the leave will be designated and counted as FMLA leave, absent extenuating circumstances.

- When scheduling elective medical treatment, the employee must consult with the MBCG in advance to ensure that their department's operations are not unduly disrupted by the employee's absence(s).
- Employees out of work due to an injury which is covered by worker's compensation for more than seven (7) days must utilize FMLA leave hours concurrent to time out of work for worker's compensation.

Certification and Recertification of Leave

- 1. MBCG requires that an employee provide a complete and sufficient certification of a serious health condition of the employee or the employee's family member, of a qualifying exigency, or of the need to care for a covered service member with a serious injury or illness. Certification forms are available from the Human Resources Department. The employee must submit the completed certification form to the Human Resources Department within fifteen (15) calendar days, unless it is not practicable to do so under the particular circumstances. Failure to provide such certification may result in the delay or denial of FMLA leave.
- 2. If the MBCG has reason to doubt the validity of a medical certification, the MBCG, at its own expense, may require a second medical opinion from a physician it chooses. If the first and second opinions differ, the MBCG, at its own expense, may require the opinion of a third health care provider that is approved jointly by the MBCG and the employee. The third opinion will be considered final and binding.
- 3. Where the employee's need for leave due to the serious health condition of the employee or the employee's covered family member lasts beyond a single leave year, the MBCG requires the employee to provide a new medical certification in each year the employee subsequently takes leave.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 4. Where leave is taken for the serious health condition of the employee or the employee's covered family member, the MBCG may require recertification of the leave every sixty (60) days, or on a more frequent basis in certain circumstances.
- 5. Employees returning from an approved FMLA leave due to their own serious health condition will be required to present a fitness-for-duty certification from their health care provider indicating that they are medically able to resume work. This certification specifically must address the employee's ability to perform the essential functions of his or her job. The MBCG may delay returning the employee to work until this certification is received. Failure to provide this certification may subject the employee to termination of employment.
- 6. In the case of intermittent FMLA leave for an employee's own serious health condition, employees are required to present a fitness-for-duty certification every thirty (30) days if the MBCG determines that reasonable safety concerns exist regarding the employee's ability to perform his or her duties because of the employee's serious health condition.

Employee Responsibilities While on Leave

• During an approved FMLA leave, employees are entitled to the same health insurance they had before the leave began. Employees who pay for some portion or their entire health insurance premium will be required to continue to pay the premiums in order to continue benefit coverage during the leave period. The employee is responsible for making arrangements to pay any premiums due during the leave period. If an employee fails to pay required premiums for more than two (2) months, health insurance coverage will be canceled and will not resume until the employee returns to work and premiums are deducted from the employee's pay. Employees who do not return to work following FMLA leave will be liable for the payment of any health insurance premiums paid by the MBCG during unpaid FMLA leave, unless the failure to return to work was due to the continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition or for other circumstances beyond the employee's control.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Employees will be required to periodically advise the MBCG of their status and intent to return to work at the conclusion of the FMLA leave. Employees also must provide notice to the MBCG at least two (2) business days prior to their return to work. If an employee unequivocally indicates his or her intent not to return to work after taking FMLA leave, the employee is subject to termination.

Return from Leave

Employees returning from FMLA leave will be restored to the same or an equivalent job. The FMLA does not entitle a restored employee to any right, benefit, or position of employment other than any right, benefit, or position to which the employee would have been entitled had the employee not taken leave.

FUNERAL LEAVE

The MBCG employees will receive their normal salary or wage rate for any awarded day with pay due to the death of an immediate family member. For purposes of this policy, an immediate family member is parent, step-parent, spouse, sibling, step-sibling, child, step-child, grandparent, parents-in-law, or in-law relations of the types herein named.

The employee's department head may grant funeral leave in the event of death of an employee's immediate family member from the date of the death to and including the day of the funeral, not to exceed three (3) days. Prior to taking funeral leave, the employee must notify his/her direct supervisor of the death or as soon as possible if notification were not possible at the time of the death.

The department head may authorize one (1) additional day of paid absence following the day of the funeral if the location of the funeral is beyond a 200-mile radius of Bibb County. Funeral leave for the death of some person other than those described as immediate family members in this policy may be approved in the discretion of the department head, but such leave, if approved by the department head, will be annual leave. If no annual leave is available, the leave will be unpaid. Such a leave, if authorized, shall not exceed one (1) working day, unless extenuating circumstances, or long-distance travel for the funeral, apply. Total Funeral Leave will not exceed four (4) days.

The employee must provide some form of documentation, such as an obituary program from funeral service, or death certificate, in connection with the approval of funeral leave.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

JURY DUTY LEAVE

Any full-time MBCG employee is eligible for a leave of absence for jury duty.

To receive a leave of absence for jury duty, the MBCG employee must present to his/her department head, official notification that he/she has been called for jury duty. Any employee who is released from jury duty, or who is dismissed early from jury duty, is responsible for reporting back to work as soon as possible. A copy of the Jury duty notice must be forwarded to payroll.

Employees serving jury duty during their regularly scheduled work hours will receive their regular salary for jury duty hours served, as long as the department head has confirmed the leave of absence for jury duty. The hours spent serving on jury duty will be considered hours worked. Additionally, the employee is entitled to keep his/her remuneration for serving on jury duty in addition to his/her pay from MBCG.

SICK LEAVE BANK

The Macon Bibb County Government (MBCG) offers a sick leave for non-probationary, full time employees to use in the event of a non-job related, catastrophic, personal injury or illness of the an employee of MBCG. Catastrophic injury or illness is defined as an illness or injury that requires a leave of absence from work of five (5) or more consecutive work days.

Membership

- 1. Any full-time non-probationary employee who has accumulated the equivalent of two (2) weeks of sick leave may become a member of the sick leave bank. An initial assessment of one workday of sick leave hours will be made at the time of membership with additional hours assessed as required to maintain the bank. Sixty (60) hour a week Fire Department employees will be assessed twelve (12) hours. All other employees will be assessed eight (8) hours as members. All sick leave hours will be deposited into the sick leave bank when an employee becomes a member.
- 2. Membership is voluntary and must be made by written application. Employees may apply during enrollment period which will be held once a year. Membership will continue until the employee resigns, terminates or provides a written request to the Human Resources Department. An employee who resigns membership may be eligible for re-enrollment application at the next enrollment period. All resignations of membership are effective the date of receipt of resignation notice by the Human Resources Department. Termination of employment will automatically terminate membership.
- 3. Membership automatically continues from year to year without application renewal.
- 4. When the balance of sick leave hours in the bank are exhausted, all members will be assessed the equivalent of one workday of sick leave. Members will be given written notice of the assessment, prior to the payroll in which it is to occur.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

If the member has not accumulated sick leave at the time of the assessment, the first accrued hours up to the equivalent of one workday will be assessed. Deposits into the sick leave bank are not refundable or transferable.

Eligibility for Sick Leave Bank Withdrawals

A member of the sick leave bank may request withdrawal of sick leave from the bank provided that:

- The member is absent due to a personal illness, non-job related injury or temporary disability that requires the employee to be absent from work for five (5) or more consecutive days. An employee's family illness does not qualify for withdrawal.
- 2. The member has exhausted all accumulated sick leave and banked compensatory time (where applicable).
- 3. Vacation leave balances do not have to be used unless needed after the withdrawal of bank hours.
- 4. The member is not receiving workers' compensation
- 5. The member has not received any disciplinary actions due to violations of the leave and attendance policies within the last twelve (12) months.

Procedure for Requesting Withdrawals

Requests for withdrawals must meet the following requirements:

1. The request for leave must be accompanied by a physician's statement verifying the member's illness, injury (non-job related) or temporary disability and attesting to the member's incapacity to performed assigned duties. The statement must be presented at the time of request for withdrawals of hours except in cases where the employee is confined to a hospital. In case of hospital confinement, a statement must be sent within ten (10 work days) of application. The member

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 2. Withdrawals from the bank are permitted only where a member will be absent more than five (5) workdays.
- 3. Members may withdraw up to a maximum of the equivalent of six (6) weeks of leave during the year. For forty hour a week employees the maximum withdrawal is 240 hours. For sixty (60) hour a week employees the maximum withdrawal is 360 hours. Members who withdraw the full six (6) weeks are not eligible for another withdrawal until twelve (12) months have passed from the initial withdrawal.
- 4. Withdrawals will be made only in increments necessary to cover the employee's normally scheduled work hours in a pay period.
- 5. All leave granted but not used by a member must be returned to the bank.
- 6. If a member is physically or mentally unable to make a request for withdrawal, a family member may file the request on the member's behalf.

Processing the Request

Requests for withdrawals will be processed as follows:

- 1. Employee must submit a Sick Leave Withdrawals Request Form along with attached Physician's statement to Human Resources payroll personnel.
- 2. The Department will forward request to Human Resources for eligibility review and verification.
- 3. Employees who meet all eligibility requirements shall be granted a withdrawal of sick leave. Sick leave granted from the bank to and used by a member does not have to be repaid. All members are subject to uniform assessments of sick leave hours as needed to keep the bank sound. Any member who obtains leave based

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

on misstated information, erroneous or false information will be required to repay MBCG for the time granted and will be subject to disciplinary action pursuant to the Conduct and Discipline Guideline. "Group Offense III #5, making false claims or misrepresentations in an attempt to obtain sickness benefits."

Administration

The Human Resources Director or his/her designee will administer the sick leave bank in accordance with the regulations contained herein. The Human Resources Director or his/her designee has the responsibility of receiving, verifying and acting on requests for membership and withdrawals.

MILITARY LEAVE

The Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA) protects the job rights of individuals who voluntarily or involuntarily leave employment positions to undertake military service or certain types of service in the National Disaster Medical System. USERRA also prohibits employers from discriminating against past and present members of the uniformed services, and applicants to the uniformed services.

USERRA is administered by the Veterans' Employment and Training Service (VETS), and applies to persons who perform duty, voluntarily or involuntarily, in the "uniformed services," which include the Army, Navy, Marine Corps, Air Force, Coast Guard, Public Health Service commissioned corps, and reserve components of each of these services. Federal training or service in the Army National Guard and Air National Guard also gives rise to rights under USERRA. In addition, under the Public Health Security and Bioterrorism Response Act of 2002, certain disaster response work (and authorized training for such work) is considered "service in the uniformed services."

Uniformed services include active duty, active duty training, inactive duty training (such as drills), initial active duty training, and funeral honors duty performed by National Guard and reserve members, as well as the period for which a person is absent from a position of employment for the purpose of an examination to determine fitness to perform any such duty.

USERRA covers nearly all employees, including part-time and probationary employees, and applies to virtually all U.S. employers, regardless of size.

Leave of absence generally - You may take a leave of absence while engaged in
the performance of ordered military duty and while going to and returning from such
duty. You must give a written request to the department head upon notification of
"ordered duty," so that leave to participate in the required training may be granted.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- Leave of absence while attending service schools If you are or become a voluntary member of any force of the organized militia or of any reserve force or reserve component of the armed forces of the United States, you may take a leave of absence while in attendance at any service school conducted by the armed forces of the United States for a period up to and including six (6) months, and while going to and returning from the school. However, you are not entitled to leave in excess of a total of six (6) months during any four-year period.
- **Employment rights** Time during which you are on military leave shall not constitute an interruption of continuous employment, and you will not be subject to any loss or diminution of time, service, increment (merit increase), vacation, holiday privileges, or any other right or privilege by reason of such absence.

You will be paid your full salary or other compensation for any periods of absence while engaged in the performance of ordered military duty and while going to and returning from duty, not exceeding a total of eighteen (18) days (144 hours total) in any one federal fiscal year.

In the event the Governor of Georgia declares an emergency and orders you to perform military duty as a member of the National Guard, you will be paid your full salary or other compensation during such military service for a period not exceeding thirty (30) days (240 hours total) in any one federal fiscal year.

NOTE: The military leave requirement does not apply to employees who are employed on a temporary basis.

- Reemployment rights You have the right to be reemployed in your civilian job if you leave that job to perform service in the uniformed service and:
 - 1. You ensure that your employer receives advance written or verbal notice of your service, unless such notice was precluded by military necessity or otherwise impossible or unreasonable;

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 2. You have five (5) years or less of cumulative service in the uniformed services while with that particular employer;
- You return to work or apply for reemployment in a timely manner after conclusion of the service or have submitted a timely application for reemployment, unless timely return or application was impossible or unreasonable; and
- 4. You have not been separated from service with a disqualifying discharge or under other than honorable conditions.

If you are eligible to be reemployed, you must be reemployed in the job that you would have attained had you not been absent for military service (the "escalator" principle), with the same seniority, status and pay, as well as other rights and benefits determined by seniority. Reasonable efforts (such as training or retraining) must be made to enable you to qualify for reemployment. If you cannot qualify for the "escalator" position, you must be reemployed, if qualified, in any other position that is the nearest approximation to the escalator position and then to the pre-service position.

While you are performing military service, you are deemed to be on a furlough or leave of absence and are entitled to the non-seniority rights accorded other similarly-situated individuals on non-military leaves of absence. The time limits for returning to work are as follows:

- Less than 31 days of service: By the beginning of the first regularly scheduled work period after the end of the calendar day of duty, plus time required to return home safely and an eight (8) hour rest period. If this is impossible or unreasonable through no fault of your own, then as soon as possible.
- 2. **31 to 180 days**: You must apply for reemployment no later than fourteen (14) days after completion of military service. If this is impossible or unreasonable through no fault of your own, then as soon as possible.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 3. **181 days or more**: You must apply for reemployment no later than ninety (90) days after completion of military service.
- 4. Absence for any length of time for purposes of an examination to determine your fitness to perform service in the uniformed services: By the beginning of the first regularly scheduled work period after the end of the calendar day of duty, plus time required to return home safely and an eight (8) hour rest period. If this is impossible or unreasonable through no fault of your own, then as soon as possible.
- 5. **Service-connected injury or illness**: Reporting or application deadlines are extended for up to two (2) years for persons who are hospitalized or convalescing.

If you fail to report or apply for employment or reemployment within the appropriate period, you do not automatically forfeit your entitlement to your rights and benefits, but will be subject to the MBCG's conduct rules, established policy, and general practices, pertaining to explanations and discipline with respect to absence from scheduled work.

USERRA establishes a five-year cumulative total for military leave with a single employer, with certain exceptions allowed for situations such as call-ups during emergencies, reserve drills, and annually scheduled active duty for training. However, an employee may complete an initial period of active duty that exceeds five (5) years.

An employer is not required to reemploy a person if:

- 1. The employer's circumstances have so changed as to make such reemployment impossible or unreasonable;
- 2. In the case of a person entitled to reemployment under 38 U.S.C. § 4313(a)(3), (a)(4), or (b)(2)(B), such employment would impose an undue hardship on the employer;
- The employment from which the person leaves to serve in the uniformed service is for a brief, non-recurrent period and there is no reasonable expectation that such employment will continue indefinitely or for a significant period.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- Right to be free from discrimination If you (1) are a past or present member of the uniformed service; (2) have applied for membership in the uniformed service; or (3) are obligated to serve in the uniformed service then an employer may not deny you initial employment, reemployment, retention in employment, promotion, or any benefit of employment, because of this status.
- Right to be free from retaliation An employer may not retaliate against anyone
 assisting in the enforcement of USERRA rights, including testifying or making a
 statement in connection with a proceeding under USERRA, even if that person has
 no service connection.
- Health insurance protection If you leave your job to perform military service of more than thirty (30) days, you may elect to continue your existing employer-based health plan coverage for you and your dependents for up to twenty-four (24) months while in the military. However, you may be required to pay up to 102% of the full premium. If you leave your job to perform military service of less than thirty-one (31) days, health care coverage is provided as if you had remained employed.

Even if you do not elect to continue coverage during your military service, you have the right to be reinstated under your employer's health plan when you are reemployed, generally without any waiting periods or exclusions (e.g., pre-existing condition exclusions) except for service-connected illnesses or injuries.

- Pension plan protection USERRA pension protections apply to defined benefit
 plans and defined contribution plans as well as plans provided under federal or state
 laws governing pension benefits for government employees. For purposes of
 pension plan participation, vesting, and accrual of benefits, USERRA treats military
 service as continuous service with the employer.
- **Enforcement** VETS, a division of the U.S. Department of Labor, is authorized to investigate and resolve complaints of USERRA violations.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

For assistance in filing a complaint, or for any other information on USERRA, contact VETS at **1-866-4-USA-DOL** or visit its **website at http://www.dol.gov/vets. An interactive online USERRA Advisor can be viewed at http://www.dol.gov/elaws/userra httm.**

If you file a complaint with VETS, and VETS is unable to resolve it, you may request that your case be referred to the Department of Justice or the Office of Special Counsel, as applicable, for representation.

You may also bypass the VETS process and bring a civil action against an employer for violations of USERRA.

 Penalties/Sanctions – A court may order an employer to compensate a prevailing claimant for lost wages or benefits. USERRA allows for liquidated damages for "willful" violations.

SICK LEAVE

Employees who are classified as full-time employees begin accruing sick leave at the end of the first full week of continuous employment with MBCG. An employee accrues 1.85 hours per week or eight (8) hours of sick leave each month. No more than 1040 hours accumulated sick leave may be carried over into the next calendar year. For employees participating in the Bibb County Pre May 2011 Pension Plan, all sick leave hours in excess of 1040 hours on December 31st of each year will be credited toward "service time" when calculating the employee's pension benefit. On December 31st of the requisite year, for employees not in the Bibb County pre may 2011 Pension Plan, any sick hours over 1040 will be lost.

To receive the requisite accrual of sick leave time, the employee must be paid for at least twenty-four (24) hours during the work week in question.

Sick leave can generally only be used for an employee's personal illness or physician visits. One exception applies in instances where an employee has applied for and been approved for leave time under the Family Medical Leave Act ("FMLA") to care for a sick family member, when sick leave may be used after the exhaustion of both annual leave and any compensatory time so that the employee can be paid during the period of FMLA leave. Sick leave may also be used to obtain preventative medical care. Sick leave cannot be used in advance of accrual or donation. If an employee does not have enough sick leave to cover the amount of time he/she is out of work, annual leave or compensatory leave, if available, may be used to pay for the time the employee is out of work.

Sick leave pay is calculated at the current rate of pay, exclusive of overtime pay. Prior sick leave entitlement is not re-credited to a rehired employee. A rehired employee begins accruing sick leave in the same manner as a new hire. Sick leave balances, upon retirement of the employee shall be added to the employee's service time for calculating pension for former Bibb County employees with an adjusted hire date prior to May 1, 2011 only. Employees hired on or after May 1, 2011 will not have sick leave balances added to their retirement benefit.

If an employee is sick and unable to come to work, he/she must contact his/her supervisor or manager within thirty (30) minutes of the start of the work day. Department

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

managers may develop policies for reporting absences which employees in that department are expected to follow. Employees who cannot come to work due to personal illness should inform their supervisor or manager that they are sick, and how long they expect to be out of work.

If an employee is out of work on sick leave for three (3) days or more, he/she must present a statement from a physician verifying the dates that he/she needed to be out of work due to illness. At the discretion of the department head, an employee may be requested to bring a statement from a physician for an absence of less than three (3) days.

Failure to report an absence at or before the start of the employee's shift as required may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment. Frequent absences, excessive use of sick leave, patterned absences, or failure to follow reporting requirements will result in an unsatisfactory attendance record which may be considered in the employee's performance evaluation, and may justify disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

Non-exempt employees (or the supervisor if the employee is unavailable) must record on the weekly time sheet all sick leave time taken. Employees who work on a compressed work week schedule should record ten (10) hours of sick leave for each day of sick leave taken. This does not apply during a week in which a holiday recognized by MBCG occurs, as all employees work eight (8) hour days during holiday weeks.

Supervisors and MBCG officials are responsible for ensuring that all sick leave utilization is properly used and recorded on the employee's weekly time sheet, and for ensuring that accrued sick leave entitlement is not exceeded. Sick leave is a privilege and benefit of employment provided by the County Commission to MBCG's full-time employees. Sick leave is not an absolute right, and it must be used for the purpose for which it was intended.

If an employee is awarded long term disability, any unused sick leave will remain in the employee's sick leave account. Sick leave will not be accrued while an employee is on unpaid leave for more than one (1) week.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

SECTION 9: USE OF MBCG PROPERTY

POLICY	NUMBER
Anti-idling	9.01
Computer Usage	9.02
Green Computing/Printer	9.03
Personal Hand-held Devices	9.04
Social Media	9.05
Telephone	9.06
Use of Vehicles	9.07

ANTI-IDLING

The MBCG has committed to conserve fuel and lessen pollutants that pose a detriment to the region's air quality. These pollutants include nitrogen oxide, carbon dioxide, particulate matter and volatile organic compounds.

- Vehicle idling gets zero miles per gallon of fuel.
- Unnecessary idling wastes fuel and pollute the environment.
- Running an engine at low speed also causes twice the wear on internal parts compared to driving at regular speeds.
- The break-even point for shutting off and restarting gasoline engines or leaving it to idle is 30 seconds – from the point of view of both emissions and fuel consumption.
- Idling of vehicles consumes approximately 17% of the fuel that a vehicle has on board.

Unless exempted in the following section, no MBCG vehicle or piece of equipment is to be idled in a non-emergency situation. The operator of the vehicle/equipment is to turn off the unit and the keys are to be removed from the ignition.

EXEMPTIONS

The following situations will allow idling, when necessary:

- Emergency vehicles at scenes where lights, PTOs and/or other accessories are needed to accomplish the mission
- Law Enforcement vehicles working traffic enforcement details
- Macon-Bibb County Fire Department, Public Works, Engineering, Lake Tobesofkee, Animal Welfare, and Buildings and Properties vehicles at job sites requiring the use of emergency lights, PTOs and/or other accessories to accomplish their assignment
- Inclement weather situations where use of the heater/defroster is authorized by a supervisor for the work crew's comfort according to the guidelines listed below:

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Temperature	Idling Time				
Outside temperature above 32 degrees	5 minute maximum idling time				
Outside temperature 10-32 degrees F	15 minutes maximum idling time				
Outside temperature below -10 degrees F	As necessary				

NOTE: Operators of vehicles/equipment and supervisors will be judicious in the idling of units at emergency scenes and job sites. If not all units at the scene/site need to be idling, those units must be turned off and the keys removed from the ignition.

Each vehicle/equipment operator will be responsible for the idling operation of their unit and will have the unit keys in their possession to ensure that crewmembers do not arbitrarily violate the policy without the operator's knowledge.

Supervisors in each department/division will be responsible for adherence to and enforcement of the anti-idling policy. Violations of this policy will be documented and disciplined in accordance with MBCG's policy for disciplinary action.

The vehicle/equipment operator will be informed of the violation by the supervisor at the time of the infraction.

COMPUTER USAGE

Introduction

This policy is set forth to communicate to users the accepted and appropriate use of computer systems and services. It is to ensure that the integrity of the systems is maintained at the highest level while establishing a standard which will create a professional work environment. In addition, this policy is in place to protect MBCG's technological resources and ensure that the rules and regulations set forth by the State of Georgia and the United States concerning the operation of local administrative and criminal justice computer systems are met.

Scope

This policy applies to every employee, contractor or remote user who is provided access to the system of MBCG computer and network resources, which encompasses: 1) computers provided by MBCG 2) users of computers provided by other sources, but housed in a MBCG Facility 3) any computer used by a MBCG employee in the course of their job responsibilities 4) users connected directly or indirectly to MBCG's network and/or who directly or indirectly use MBCG computer services 5) any electronic appliance (blackberry, iPhone, iPad, Smartphone, PDA, cell phone, etc.) that is connected to the MBCG network or associated with any MBCG telephone plan.

1. Ownership of computer and electronic files

All computer and electronic files belong to MBCG. Data created by a MBCG employee while working under the auspices of MBCG is owned exclusively by MBCG. Employees are prohibited from unauthorized removal or deletion of computer or electronic files or data compiled during the course of their employment which is considered vital to departmental operations as determined by the Department Director.

2. Unauthorized access to files and directories

Employees shall not engage in any activity intended to circumvent computer security controls. Employees shall not attempt to break passwords, uncover

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

protected files, or to decode encrypted files. This includes creating, modifying, or executing programs designed to surreptitiously penetrate computer systems. Employees shall not access the accounts of others with the intent to read, browse, modify, copy, or delete files and directories without specific authorization. Employees are prohibited from using software designed to destroy data, provide unauthorized access to computer systems, or that will disrupt computing processes in any other way. Using viruses, worms, Trojan horses, and other invasive software is expressly forbidden.

3. Electronic mail and text messages

The MBCG electronic mail ("e-mail") services and phone systems are provided to facilitate more effective communication related to employee job duties. Distribution of personal interest items, jokes, poems, and the like are prohibited.

Messages must not contain unnecessary graphics, fonts or attachments that increase the demand on server resources.

Messages must be of a professional nature and must never contain offensive or lewd statements. Email must be read and discarded on a regular basis. A minimal number (2 or 3 per day) of personal email messages to one or two recipients (not to a list of people) is acceptable as long as the messages adhere to the above guidelines.

If you receive messages from within MBCG that do not adhere to this policy, please advise Information and Technology Services (ITS) so that we may address the situation. If you receive messages from outside the MBCG system that do not adhere to this policy, please send a reply to the sender advising them not to send the violating messages. If the violating messages persist, please contact Information and Technology Services for assistance.

It is emphasized that the privacy and confidentiality of e-mail transmissions cannot be assured. E-mail transmissions may be subject to disclosure through legal proceeding or otherwise through various laws which may be held to apply to

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

such transmissions. Users are advised to use discretion in drafting e-mail messages, and are cautioned not to "say" things by e-mail that they would not want to be viewed by others.

The MBCG's computer systems shall not be used to harass anyone. This includes the use of insulting, sexist, racist, obscene, or suggestive electronic mail.

4. Electronic mail retention

Due to the substantial expense involved in an archive system, the MBCG Information and Technology Systems (ITS) Department does not own or manage an Email Archive System. The only emails that are retained are in the Microsoft Exchange files and the server backup system.

All users of MBCG electronic mail are responsible for maintaining their email boxes and any archives they may establish. ITS will assist with the creation of any archives that the user would like to manage. These archives may be created on one of the servers in the ITS department. The user is responsible for retention times and items on the Exchange server, and in their email archive.

ITS performs a backup of all servers on a weekly basis with incremental backups during the week. Up to thirty (30) days' worth of data may be stored on the backup tapes at any time they are needed, but ITS cannot guarantee that an email requested will be retrievable. The user may have deleted the email before any backups were run. In addition, depending on the amount of data backed up during any given week, tapes may cycle earlier than thirty (30) days.

Electronic mails retrieved for e-discovery requests will be provided as a PST file.

5. No expectation of privacy

Users have no expectation of privacy regarding e-mail, text message or anything else created, stored, sent or received using the MBCG's IT Network or phone plan. The IT Network is the property of MBCG and all e-mail messages and attachments created or transmitted on the MBCG's IT Network become the property of the MBCG, regardless of the subject matter or purpose. The MBCG

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

reserves the right to access, review, copy and delete all materials created, stored, sent or received through the IT Network or any MBCG Internet connection. The MBCG further reserves the right to disclose such materials to any party (inside or outside the MBCG), as the MBCG deems appropriate. This policy applies to personal messages and documents as well as work-related messages and documents. The fact that the MBCG's IT Network may allow users to designate messages as "confidential" or "private," or restrict access to documents with a password/access code, does not alter this Policy or confer upon Users any right to privacy regarding such messages or documents.

6. Public Records

Documents created, stored, sent or received using the MBCG's IT Network may constitute public records. Georgia law determines whether a document constitutes a public record. Nothing in this Policy shall be deemed to invalidate any exception to the public records laws, or to imply that all documents created, stored, sent or received using the MBCG's IT Network constitute public records.

7. Internet

Internet service is provided to certain personnel for job related research. It is **strictly prohibited** to access sites that would create an offensive or unprofessional work environment; inappropriate web sites are those hosting pornography, obscene materials, gambling enterprises, online games, or personal online shopping.

In addition, it is strictly prohibited to use the MBCG system to download and play personal interest items – music, video, screen views and items unrelated to job responsibilities (iTunes, Napster, Webshots, Webradio, Pandora, You Tube, etc). This is to include signing up for services that provide continuous real-time updates to your computer.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

The use of any element of the MBCG's computer system, including Internet access, for the receipt or transmission of information disparaging to others based on race, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, age, disability, genetic information, or religion is not permitted under any circumstances. When you are not using the internet, please close your browser (Internet Explorer/Netscape). Do not leave your browser minimized.

The MBCG reserves the right to monitor the user's history of web sites visited, and internet access use in order to ensure compliance with this policy. Employees are prohibited from blogging, i.e., keeping online journals that chronicle various aspects of the blogger's life such as problems on the job, issues in their personal life, politics, favorite television shows, etc. Prohibited under this policy is spending work time writing blogs or reading those created by others.

Many of the materials on the internet are protected by copyright laws. Though materials may seem to be freely accessible, intellectual property laws which apply to print media still apply to software and material published on the Internet. Copying or disseminating material which is copyrighted is prohibited.

8. Computer Software

Only software licensed to MBCG or provided to MBCG with proof of license may be installed on MBCG computers. Software must be procured by and installed by MBCG Information and Technology Services. Personal interest, free, shared or any other software of unknown source shall not be installed on any MBCG computer. Virus protection is crucial to the welfare of our system; therefore, under no circumstances is your virus protection software to be turned off.

9. Computer Hardware

All computer hardware and computer upgrades must be purchased and made by the MBCG Information and Technology Services (ITS) department. Unless there is a special need expressed to the ITS department, all computers purchased by MBCG will be a standard issue computer with Microsoft Office Software. Computer hardware, network hardware and network connections may not be

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

modified or relocated by personnel or vendors other than ITS and vendors they contract for service.

10. Security

ITS issues user names and passwords to individuals to provide controlled access to authorized systems, applications, documents and resources. User names and passwords *must not be shared* with anyone. Disclosure of employee user names and passwords is prohibited. If an employee discloses his/her user name and password to another person, the employee will be solely responsible for the actions that person takes using the user's name and password. Deletion, examination, copying, or modification of files and/or data belonging to another user without his/her prior consent is prohibited. If an employee feels that his/her password has been jeopardized, he/she should notify ITS to have the password reset.

Computers and/or equipment described in the scope of this policy shall not be connected to any phone line, modem or network connection other than those provided and installed by ITS. It is strictly prohibited to modify any network or computer component or provide information about any such items that may jeopardize any MBCG resource or compromise security of the same.

11. Violation of Policy

The following conduct is a violation of MBCG's computer usage policy:

- A. Forwarding or posting content that is abusive, slanderous, or defamatory or which is offensive, harassing, vulgar, obscene or threatening. (Offensive and abusive material includes sexual comments or images, racial slurs, jokes, remarks, profane language, inappropriate gender-specific comments, or any comments that would offend someone on the basis of his or her age, race, sex, color, religion, national origin, handicap, disability, genetic information or veteran status or any other protected classification.)
- B. Accessing, creating, posting, viewing, transmitting or otherwise using pornographic or other sexually explicit material.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- C. Placing confidential or proprietary information of MBCG or a third party on any Internet site without proper authorization or transmitting it to persons who are not permitted to receive such information.
- D. Broadcasting personal views on social, political, religious or other nonbusiness related matters.
- E. Creating or transmitting chain letters.
- F. Soliciting for commercial purposes unrelated to MBCG business.
- G. Sending electronic mail or other electronic communications in a manner which hides or misrepresents the identity of the sender.
- H. Gaining unauthorized access to another employee's user ID or electronic mail messages.
- I. Establishing Internet or other external network connections that would allow unauthorized persons to gain access to the MBCG's communications systems.
- J. Using non-licensed, pirated software.
- K. Transmitting without authorization any internal documents to external parties.
- L. Using MBCG computers in Internet scams or criminal activities.
- M. Doing anything else that conflicts with the intent of this policy or other policies of MBCG.
- N. Unauthorized transfer of MBCG files, data, or information to a home or other personal computer.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

12. Enforcement

MBCG will investigate any alleged abuses of its computer resources. MBCG reserves the right to monitor the computer system for signs of illegal or unauthorized activity. As a condition of employment and continued employment, employees and applicants who have accepted an offer of employment are required to sign an acknowledgement of receipt and review of this policy and to indicate whether their position and job duties provide them with access to MBCG's computer system and infrastructure. Employees in violation of this policy may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including suspension from work without pay or termination from employment.

13. Changes to policy

This policy does not constitute, nor is it intended as, a contract. MBCG reserves the right to change it at any time, with or without notice.

GREEN COMPUTING

In the interest of conservation of energy, reduction of MBCG's carbon footprint, and extending the life of computers and related equipment, this policy defines steps that employees should take to conserve the energy used by computers and shared-use equipment.

This policy applies to all employees, contractors, vendors, volunteers and other personnel who use, manage, or are responsible for the approval or procurement of computers and shared-use equipment, including servers, network devices, office printers, copy machines, and fax machines.

1. Overview

Computers and other office machinery consume power and generate heat whenever they are on. Employees should seek to optimize the power consumption of office machinery in order to reduce the waste, environmental impact, and energy costs associated with its use. Even small changes to the way we typically use and manage common devices can significantly reduce the amount of energy consumed by office machines.

To help reduce MBCG's carbon footprint, save costs related to energy consumption, and extend the life of computers and other equipment, MBCG requires employees to follow energy efficient computing strategies for the devices for which they have direct responsibility. Moreover, we encourage employees to apply the same principles of energy conservation to shared-use devices within office environments.

2. Policy

Desktop (Personal) computer usage and management

A. Comply with any MBCG remote power management systems. It will be possible to turn some computers on and off to suit an individual's work schedule.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- B. Turn off your computer monitor when it is not in use, such as during breaks, meetings, and other periods when you are away from your computer for 1 hour.
- C. Turn off peripherals such as printers, PDA devices, fax machines, and scanners when they will not be in use for more than three hours. Check with the MBCG IT Department to see if specific peripherals have "power saver" or "sleep" modes and configure devices to activate these modes at the minimal time that does not impede work performance.
- D. Please ensure that your PC is powered off over the weekend.
- E. Plug computers and other equipment into power strips instead of wall outlets, which allows the equipment to be more easily turned off.

Shared-use Office Device Management

- A. Use the "print preview" function for office applications to review documents before printing documents to public printers.
- B. Avoid printing e-mail messages and other electronic documents unless you have a specific need to retain or distribute a hard copy.
- C. If printers allow two-sided printing, use this option whenever possible.
- D. Reduce the font size on your document which will allow more information on each page.
- E. Do not print in color, unless it is entirely necessary. All color printers have an option to print as black and white.
- F. Keep your used printed documents to be used again. You should allow the paper to cool from previous printing before using. Print on the unused side for unimportant documents. If possible, load one tray of your printer with paper that has already been printed on one side and use that paper for your drafts.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- G. Use email or other electronic communication media whenever practical as an alternative to paper memos and faxes
- H. Copiers, faxes, and shared-use office devices should be turned on only when needed. On a daily basis, the first person who requires the use of a device should turn it on. Employees should turn off shared-use devices at the end of each work day or, on a daily basis, at whatever time it becomes unlikely that the equipment will be used again before the next day.
- I. Always use the most convenient shared printer/copier in your department.
- J. You can continue printing confidential documents at your desk.

Development, architecture, and infrastructure management

- A. IT, project, and development managers should factor energy-efficiency and utility cost savings into technology decisions. Virtualization technologies that optimize server use, for example, can improve the operating efficiency of server and data center environments.
- B. Development managers should consider the need for information availability in server allocation and selection. When possible, resources or processes that may be made periodically unavailable (e.g., overnight, on weekends, and over holidays) should be housed on servers that can be periodically shut down to reduce energy consumption.

Data Center Management

- A. The MBCG IT Department must review and document data center equipment use at least once every 2 years for:
 - 1. Excess numbers of data copies, indicating inefficient use of server resources
 - 2. Dormancy of information resources stored in the data center. Data that has not been accessed at least once in the previous 2 years should be marked for removal to offline storage media.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 3. Servers that do not support 24x7 operations and may be turned off after work hours, over weekends, and during holidays without interfering with normal business functions.
- B. As part of the MBCG energy policy, MBCG Buildings and Properties will measure, track, and document electrical consumption by all MBCG buildings:
 - 1. Measurements must be taken every year.
 - MBCG Buildings and Properties should track and maintain ongoing comparative metrics for energy consumption by the all MBCG buildings.
 - MBCG Buildings and Properties must note and report any anomalous energy consumption by any building that might indicate the impending failure of a machine or the need to replace a machine with a more energy-efficient alternative.
 - 4. MBCG Buildings and Properties will provide recommendations to the MBCG IT Department for specific actions to reduce electricity consumption in the data center, either by computing equipment or data center cooling systems.

3. Procurement Management

In general, office and procurement managers should review equipment requests for energy-efficient characteristics and seek energy-efficient and/or green-computing options for new purchases.

A. All technology procurement evaluations for equipment costing more than \$1,000.00 shall include an evaluation of energy efficiency and energy consumption costs related to long-term use of the equipment.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- B. Procurement should prefer equipment that is certified by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) "Energy Star" program at a Plus 80 rating or higher. Where the cost difference between a technology alternative rated at Plus 80 is less than ten (10) percent higher than an alternative rated at a lower energy efficiency (all other factors being equivalent), the more energy efficient alternative should be purchased.
- C. Flat-panel liquid crystal display (LCD) monitors should be preferred over conventional cathode-ray tube (CRT) monitors.
- D. Printers that can print on both sides of paper (duplex printing) should be preferred over single-side printers.
- E. Except in cases of a specific business or security need for the procurement of a dedicated printer assigned to a single individual, departmental management and procurement should encourage the use of network/shared printers.
- F. When procurement of a personal/dedicated printer is indicated, procurement should prefer more energy-efficient inkjet printers over laser printers.
- G. Procurement should actively seek and evaluate energy efficient and "green computing" offerings, noting computer vendors that offer resource-efficient machines designed for eventual recycling.

4. Equipment Reclamation, Recycling, and Disposal Management

- A. Employees who are *not* in charge of equipment disposal should not throw away computers or other equipment, even if they are non-functional. Employees should contact the MBCG IT Department to properly dispose of unused or unusable equipment.
- B. Employees who *are* responsible for equipment disposition should seek, whenever possible and always in compliance with secure disposal policies, to recycle, reallocate, or reuse reclaimed equipment.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- C. In cases where the entirety of a machine cannot be reused, it must be designated as surplus in accordance with MBCG policy.
- D. CRT monitors contain hazardous materials and must be disposed of in accordance with MBCG's disposal policy.

5. Printer policy

The MBCG has many shared network printer/copiers in its facilities, and at least one of these devices is located in most departments. The cost of operation of shared printers is far less than inkjet printer supplies and the quality of printing is considerable better.

Inkjet cartridges are expensive and the number of copies from even a new cartridge (not recycled) is not very satisfactory. Inkjet printers have a very short life span and can become very messy and unreliable at the end of that life. Even by using MBCG's cartridge recycling program, the process is still expensive and environmentally wasteful.

Inkjet printers at individual desks will not be replaced unless the department head can provide a compelling reason for the replacement. Any printer that is purchased will be charged as a capital expenditure item. MBCG will apply the same policy to the purchase of inkjet cartridges for individual ink jet printers, whereby the department head must provide a compelling reason for purchase of inkjet cartridges for individual desk printers. This policy will apply in tandem with MBCG's green computing policy.

MBCG expects each employee to adhere to the following guidelines:

- A. Use the "print preview" function for office applications to review documents before printing documents to public printers.
- B. Avoid printing e-mail messages and other electronic documents unless you have a specific need to retain or distribute a hard copy.
- C. If printers allow two-sided printing, use this option whenever possible.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- D. Reduce the font size on your document which will allow more information on each page.
- E. Do not print in color, unless it is entirely necessary. All color printers have an option to print as black and white.
- F. Keep your used printed documents to be used again. You should allow the paper to cool from previous printing before using. Print on the unused side for unimportant documents. If possible, load one tray of your printer with paper that has already been printed on one side and use that paper for draft documents.
- G. Use email or other electronic communication media whenever practical as an alternative to paper memos and faxes
- H. Copiers, faxes, and shared-use office devices should be turned on only when needed. On a daily basis, the first person who requires the use of a device should turn it on. Employees should turn off shared-use devices at the end of each work day or, on a daily basis, at whatever time it becomes unlikely that the equipment will be used again before the next day.
- I. Always use the most convenient shared printer/copier in your department.
- J. You may continue printing confidential documents at your desk.

6. Enforcement

Willful violation of this policy may result in disciplinary action which may include performance sanctions, termination of employment for employees and temporary employees, termination of employment relations in the case of contractors or consultants, or dismissal for interns and volunteers. Additionally, individuals may be subject to restriction or suspension of MBCG electronic mail privileges.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

PERSONAL HAND-HELD DEVICES

The MBCG provides personal hand-held device access to some MBCG network resources for MBCG employees. This service will provide certain exempt employees with access to their Microsoft Outlook files (mailbox, calendar, contacts, etc.) Access to these resources through a personal hand-held device is and should be viewed as an optional benefit; making use of this benefit is not a requirement for employment with MBCG.

Users who choose to make use of this optional benefit are responsible for setting up their end of the service with their service provider. If remote connection issues occur, those issues should be addressed with the user's service provider.

Users must understand that use of any personal hand-held device has attendant security risks. MBCG's Information and Technology Services Department ("ITS") and MBCG administrators are aware of many potential risks. Remote access provided by MBCG has been equipped with the highest level of security that current, commercially-available technology can provide. While MBCG will keep the original data safe, these security measures do not protect against physical access to the user's hand-held device. The user must not leave his or her device unattended while Outlook access provided by MBCG is open and active. ITS will make a strong effort to secure the connection between the remote user and MBCG's network, but it is the user's responsibility to ensure the physical security of the device itself. The user alone is responsible for any security breach arising from misuse or inadequate protection.

In accordance with MBCG's Computer Usage Policy, any MBCG employee who uses a personal hand-held device is responsible for ensuring that the MBCG Outlook data in his/her possession is managed and protected. This means that the employee may be required to install encryption solutions, and employees are strictly prohibited from allowing any non-MBCG employee unlocked access to the device. Where any MBCG Outlook data resides on a personal hand-held device, it should only be backed up to a MBCG-owned device.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

In the event that an employee's personal hand-held device becomes subject to a legal hold or electronic discovery requests, the employee must surrender the device if asked to do so. All files on the device may be subject to copying, and relevant files may be used in a MBCG legal proceeding. The ITS Department has no obligation to provide a replacement device during the period of legal hold. By utilizing personal hand-held device access to MBCG network resources, the employee specifically agrees to allow the MBCG Attorney or his designee to review and copy information on the personal device at any time the MBCG Attorney deems it necessary.

In the event of a legal event hold affecting an employee's device, the ITS Department will inform the employee of any restrictions on services which may be used on a particular device.

SOCIAL MEDIA

The MBCG recognizes that social media presents both new possibilities and obstacles. MBCG embraces this challenge and believes that the use of social media can help broaden its audience and further the mission of its departments.

The MBCG has an overriding interest and expectation in deciding what is "spoken" on behalf of the MBCG on social media sites. This policy provides guidance on the implementation and use of social media applications in order to:

- Prevent violation of MBCG policies such as the computer usage policy, electronic mail policy, retention of public records, personnel information, and protection of the MBCG logo/seal.
- 2. Demonstrate how technology can support MBCG's communication needs; and
- 3. Ensure proper designation of MBCG spokespersons and/or subject matter experts.

Administration

- A. All MBCG social media sites posted by MBCG departments will be subject to approval by the Information Technology Services Department ("ITS") and the Mayor. Department directors for departments wishing to implement a social media site for the department must provide the following information:
 - 1. Goals and objectives of the site or application, and the reason(s) why these cannot be accomplished through the MBCG website alone;
 - 2. Identify the strategic purpose for use of social media. The social media effort should support a larger communication strategy with identification of audiences, messages, and other tactics.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 3. Implementation plan, as well as process for managing site accounts such as frequency and protocol associated with posting information. While social media sites do not entail a direct financial cost, they do require human resources. The department is responsible for tasks such as updating, monitoring content, and fulfilling public information requests.
- B. MBCG's web site will remain MBCG's primary and predominant Internet presence. MBCG's best and most appropriate use of social media tools falls generally into two (2) categories:
 - 1. As channels for disseminating time-sensitive information as quickly as possible (e.g., emergency information).
 - 2. As marketing/promotional channels to increase the MBCG's ability to broadcast its messages to the widest possible audience.
- C. Wherever possible, content posted to MBCG social media sites will also be available on the main MBCG web site.

Wherever possible, content posted to MBCG social media sites should contain links directing users back to the official MBCG web site for in-depth information, forms, documents, or online services necessary to conduct business with MBCG.

D. As is the case for MBCG's web sites, a designee of the department director may be responsible for the content and upkeep of any social media sites their department may create.

All social media sites shall comply with all appropriate MBCG policies and standards, including, but not limited to:

- 1. Computer usage policy
- 2. Personal hand held device usage policy
- 3. Electronic correspondence policy

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Any exceptions must be approved by the Assistant Director of the ITS Department, and are subject to review by the Director of the ITS Department and/or the Mayor.

- E. The MBCG will approach the use of social media tools as consistently as possible.
 - 1. All new social media tools proposed for MBCG use must be approved by the Director of the ITS Department.
 - 2. The ITS Department will maintain a list of social media tools which are approved for use by MBCG departments and staff.
 - 3. The ITS Department will maintain a list of all MBCG social media sites, which must be set up through MBCG's e-mail system. Department directors or designated social media site administrators must inform the ITS Department of any new social media sites or administrative changes to existing sites.
 - 4. The ITS Director and the Mayor reserve the right to restrict or remove any content that is deemed in violation of this social media policy or any applicable law, with the knowledge of the department director.
- F. For each social media tool approved for use by MBCG, the following documentation must be developed and adopted:
 - 1. Operational and usage guidelines
 - 2. Standards and processes for managing accounts on social media sites
 - 3. MBCG and departmental branding standards
 - 4. Standards for the administration of social media sites

Public Records and Retention

The MBCG social media sites are subject to Georgia's public records laws, including the Georgia Open Records Act. Any content maintained in a social media format which is

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

related to MBCG business, including a list of subscribers and posted communication, may be subject to production under the Open Records Act. The department maintaining the site will be responsible for providing records in response to any request for records on social media made pursuant to the Open Records Act. Content related to MBCG business shall be maintained in an accessible format and so that it can be produced in response to such a request. Wherever possible, such sites shall clearly indicate that any articles and any other content posted or submitted for posting are subject to public disclosure. Users shall be notified that open records requests must be directed to the relevant departmental information officer.

Georgia state law and relevant MBCG records retention schedules apply to social media formats and social media content. Unless otherwise addressed in a specific social media standards document, the department maintaining a site shall preserve records required to be maintained pursuant to a relevant records retention schedule for the required retention period on a MBCG server in a format that preserves the integrity of the original record and is easily accessible.

Social Media Use By MBCG Employees

- 1. Social media will only be used as a vehicle for communicating MBCG's message.
- When utilizing social media activities for MBCG business, those activities are considered an extension of MBCG's information network and are governed by the computer usage policy, electronic mail policy, and personal hand-held device usage policy.
- 3. Outside the workplace, your rights to privacy and free speech protect online activity conducted on your personal social networks with your personal e-mail address. However, what you publish on such personal online sites should never be attributed to MBCG, and should not appear to be endorsed by or originated from MBCG. If you choose to list your work affiliation on a social network, then you should regard all communication on that network as you would in a professional network. Online lives are ultimately linked, whether you choose to mention MBCG in your personal online networking activity or not.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

4.	Empl	oyees	who	activel	y partici _l	pate	online	by	bloggii	ng o	r postin	g comm	ents
	online may want to add the following disclaimer: Views expressed are strictly my												
	own	and	do	not re	present	the	officia	al '	views	of	MBCG	and/or	the
	Department.												

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

TELEPHONE USE

The MBCG telephones are intended to be utilized for conducting MBCG business. Employees who make or receive personal calls must limit them to short conversations. Excessive use of telephones for personal calls not only interferes with completion of work duties by employees, but also ties up telephone lines that are intended for citizens and for MBCG business. Continued excessive or frequent use of telephones for personal calls is grounds for disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

Use of Cellular Telephones

The MBCG cellular telephones are provided to employees who, due to the nature of their jobs, have a routine and continuing **business** need for use in performing **official MBCG business**. The MBCG expects appropriate and responsible use of MBCG cellular telephones.

Elected officials and department heads will apply the following guidelines in issuing MBCG cellular telephones and in regulating use of such phones by employees:

- 1. Ensure that the need for and utilization of cellular telephones are clearly justified for MBCG business purposes.
- 2. Consider alternative solutions for work production and communication prior to issuance of a MBCG cellular telephone.
- 3. Ensure that employees provided with cellular telephones understand the purpose and limitations of usage.
- 4. Terminate cellular telephone accounts when no longer justified by MBCG business needs or when an employee has demonstrated disregard for the policy.
- 5. Ensure that employees are responsible for understanding and following all policies relating to use of MBCG cellular telephones.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Users of a MBCG provided cellular telephone should not make any call which could reasonably be made from a standard telephone that is available at a lower cost.

MBCG provided telephones should not be used for any personal business, or for anything that does not relate to MBCG business. Making any call for the purpose of personal entertainment is strictly prohibited.

Each user of a MBCG provided cellular telephone will be allotted a certain number of minutes which, in the opinion of the department head, should be adequate to conduct that employee's MBCG business. In the event of usage in excess of allotted minutes, the department head must certify in writing that the extra minutes were related to MBCG business.

If the department head does not certify that the extra minutes were related to MBCG business, there will be an automatic payroll deduction for charges for the usage in excess of allotted minutes. Other deductions may be made for unauthorized calls, roaming fees, directory assistance calls, and long distance calls. The employee shall be responsible for replacement costs in the event of loss or destruction of the cellular telephone. Where a payroll deduction occurs, an administrative fee of five percent (5%) shall also apply.

To avoid the payroll deduction, the department head or elected official responsible for authorizing cellular telephones for the employees in his/her department or office must submit a form (provided by the Finance Department) stating that the costs at issue resulted from legitimate MBCG business or expenses. The form must be submitted to the Finance Director by 12:00 p.m. on the fifth (5th) day of the month following the month in which the report detailing the charges is submitted to each department. The form must be the original form, not a faxed copy, and must be signed by the department head or elected official or his/her designee. Failure to submit this form by the stated deadline will result in the requisite payroll deduction from the employee's pay on the fifteenth (15th) day of that month. Reimbursement to an employee will not be made where submission of the form has been untimely.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

USE OF MBCG-OWNED VEHICLES

General Policy

The MBCG-owned vehicles are assigned to individual full-time employees of departments for the purpose of facilitating MBCG-oriented and authorized activities of full time employees or the department. Operation of MBCG vehicles on MBCG's streets and roadways is constantly under the watchful eye of the public, so it is imperative that the use and operation of MBCG vehicles be lawful and in complete accordance with this policy. Departure from the terms of this policy not only brings discredit to MBCG and to the individual driver, but also increases the potential for liability on the part of the MBCG, which directly affects taxpayer funding of MBCG. Violation of the terms of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

Use of MBCG Vehicles

Vehicles owned by, titled to or otherwise controlled by MBCG are authorized for use in the performance of all essential, MBCG-related travel and transportation duties. Unless specifically excluded under this policy, use is not authorized for unofficial travel, unofficial duties or tasks, the transport of unauthorized persons or items, or the performance of tasks outside the rated capabilities of the vehicle. If an employee is uncertain as to whether use of a MBCG vehicle constitutes an authorized use, he/she should evaluate the nature of the travel task to determine whether it is directly related to MBCG business, and should also consider the extent to which the task would be defensible in the event of public criticism or questioning of the task by some higher authority.

Authorized and unauthorized uses of MBCG vehicles are categorized as follows:

Authorized Uses

- 1. Performance of law enforcement duties
- When on official travel status, between place of official business and place of temporary lodging

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 3. When on official travel status and not within reasonable walking distance between either of the above places and:
- 4. Places to obtain meals
- 5. Places to obtain medical assistance, including pharmacy
- 6. Transport of officers, officials, full time employees, clients or guests of MBCG
- 7. Transport of consultants, contractors, or commercial firm representatives when in the direct interest of MBCG
- 8. Transport of materials, supplies, equipment, parcels, baggage or other items belonging to or serving the interest of the MBCG
- 9. Transport of any person or item in an emergency situation
- 10. Commute between the location(s) of dispatch or between place of performance of official business and personal residence, when specifically authorized by the provisions stipulated herein
- 11. "De minimis" personal uses such as lunch or an occasional stop for a personal errand on the way between a business delivery location and the full time employee's home

Unauthorized Uses

- Travel or task performance of a personal nature, except for commuting and "de minimis" personal use, not connected with the accomplishment of official business
- 2. Travel or task performance beyond the stated capabilities of the vehicle
- Transport of families, friends, associates or other person who are not full-time employees of the MBCG or serving the interest of the MBCG, except for vehicles deemed "Exclusive Assignment-Unrestricted"

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 4. Transport of hitch-hikers, except in the case of law enforcement personnel
- 5. Transport of items or cargo having no relation to the conduct of official business
- 6. Transport of acids, explosives, weapons, ammunition or highly flammable material except in an emergency police situation or performance of an authorized task in the normal performance of duties
- 7. Transport of any item, equipment or cargo projecting from the side, front or rear of any vehicle in such a manner as to constitute a hazard to safe driving
- 8. Extending the length of dispatch beyond that required to complete the official business purpose of the trip
- 9. Transportation between place or residence and place of employment, other than is specified in this policy
- 10. Outings except planned official MBCG activities
- 11. Loan of vehicle for use in non-MBCG authorized functions
- 12. Use of MBCG vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs

Unless approved by the Mayor or his/her designee, no one other than an employee operating within the scope of his or her employment is permitted to operate a MBCG vehicle.

Vehicle Assignments

The department head is responsible for approving all vehicle assignment within his/her department. A written record of all vehicle assignments will be maintained by the Risk Management staff. In addition, the department head for the affected employee will maintain a similar record. All vehicles shall be clearly identified as required by the MBCG Coed of Ordinances.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Vehicle assignments for business purposes may be categorized in the following manner:

A. Exclusive Assignment-Restricted

Exclusive Assignment-Restricted is defined as the authorized use of a MBCG vehicle by a designated full time employee/position for the purposes of efficiently and effectively performing MBCG business. This assignment encompasses commuting to and from work and "de minimis" personal use of the vehicle.

Exclusive assignment of a vehicle is expressly prohibited except with special approval. Due consideration must be given to the wide diversity of functions and responsibilities of various MBCG personnel.

Exclusive assignments authorized after October 3, 2006 shall not be granted to individuals whose commute to their residence is outside the territorial limits of Bibb County, unless specifically approved by the Mayor or the appropriate independent elected official or Constitutional Officer.

Effective May 1, 2011, only employees classified as first responders shall be authorized to drive Bibb County owned vehicles to their personal residences. A first responder is defined as the first person to an accident, disaster, or life-threatening medical situation who can provide medical assistance or assist with emergency care given. Bibb County specifically recognizes emergency medical services personnel, those handling or dealing with explosives, fire and/or hazardous materials personnel, law enforcement personnel, State Court Solicitor-General and Probation Office personnel, investigators employed by the District Attorney's office, search and rescue personnel, personnel of the Bibb County Civil Court, and public works personnel as first responders. In addition, due to the nature of responsibilities for maintaining County property and ensuring effective communication between City of Macon and Bibb County operations via technology applications, the County Commission also recognizes Buildings and Properties personnel and Information Technology Services personnel as first responders for purposes of this policy.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Minimally, the following guidelines shall be observed in approving exclusive assignment-restricted vehicle assignments:

- 1. Full-time employee is subject to call for work at any hour due to emergencies. (Also applies to emergency standby vehicles driven home on a rotating basis by more than one full-time employee).
- 2. Full-time employee must report to a project or work site rather than to his/her assigned office, provided such practice is in the best interest of the MBCG and the function being performed.
- 3. Full-time employee is a law enforcement officer or assigned to special investigation work and routinely called out for public safety reasons.
- 4. Full-time employee is on temporary assignment outside his normal assigned area.
- 5. Full-time employee is a key administrative person who is responsible for projects requiring calling back or is routinely required to attend and participate in various functions/meeting after normal working hours and on weekends, and is a supervisory person not reimbursed for overtime work. Justification for assignment of vehicle to such a key administrative person must include evaluation of nature of employee's work, type of meetings or functions the employee is required to attend, and the frequency of same.
- 6. Full-time employee is a field technician and/or supervisor required to carry large quantities of tools, equipment or materials that cannot be conveniently loaded and unloaded each day and appropriate security measures to protect tools and equipment are not available.
- 7. Critical shortage of secured parking facilities.
- 8. Other circumstances not anticipated herein where the elected official or department head determines that exclusive vehicle assignment is in the best interest of the MBCG and approval is given by the Mayor.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

B. Exclusive Assignment-Unrestricted

Exclusive Assignment-Unrestricted is defined as the assigned, unrestricted use of a MBCG vehicle on and within the MBCG area; assignment is limited to specific positions in law enforcement whose response time to urgent and immediate needs for law enforcement or public safety duties and responsibilities are essential.

Unrestricted use of law enforcement vehicles by specifically authorized personnel is allowed. Such unrestricted use must be based upon an urgent and immediate need to respond to law enforcement duties and responsibilities where response time is essential.

Assignments of this nature are restricted to use within the territorial limits of MBCG. Individuals to whom these vehicles are assigned must, at all times, be able to communicate with their respective department by radio or telephone and are considered to be on duty twenty-four (24) hours per day, although relieved of the routine performance or duties when not scheduled to be at work. All such assignments must be justified and/or recommended by the respective department and approved by the Mayor.

The following uses of MBCG vehicles are specifically authorized for employees with Exclusive Assignment—Unrestricted vehicle assignments:

- 1. Travel of a personal nature within the territorial limits of Bibb County
- 2. Transportation of family members, friends, associates, or other persons, except when responding to or performing official MBCG business or duties
- 3. Transporting items or cargo not related to MBCG business

C. Eight-Hour Assignment

Eight-Hour Assignment is defined as the assigned use of a MBCG vehicle by a designated full- time employee/position for the efficient and effective performance of MBCG business during the respective full-time employee's normal work

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

schedule. Such assignment allows for use of the MBCG vehicle for all authorized uses with the exception of commuting between work site and personal residence.

- 1. An Eight-Hour Assignment of MBCG vehicle may be approved when:
- 2. A vehicle is needed and used extensively each working day
- The need for a vehicle or use of a vehicle does not meet the criteria of Exclusive Assignment
- Expense associated with furnishing a vehicle for the employee's use is less than expense associated with reimbursement of the employee for mileage based on the number of miles traveled
- 5. The nature of the employee's work may result in unusual depreciation and wear on a personal vehicle
- 6. A vehicle other than a passenger car is required due to the need for hauling or handling construction or other specialty equipment

D. Pool Assignment

Pool assignment is defined as the assigned use of a MBCG vehicle by full-time employees of one or more specific departments for the efficient performance of MBCG business on an "as needed" basis.

MBCG vehicles not assigned to a specific full-time employee/position are designated as Pool Assignment vehicles. These vehicles are to be utilized by department personnel as directed by the department head or elected official. Pool assignment vehicles may be used by any department personnel for out-of-town travel on MBCG business, or as Eight-Hour Assignment vehicles on a temporary basis when approved by the department head. For purposes of this policy, "temporary basis" shall refer to a period not to exceed one (1) week.

E. Personal Vehicle Assignment

Personal vehicle assignment is allowed for the performance of MBCG business when a MBCG vehicle is not otherwise appropriate or available.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

The following requirements shall govern use of personal vehicles for conducting MBCG business:

- An approved official or full time employee who uses his/her personal vehicles for MBCG business may be reimbursed on a per mile basis. Mileage for transit between home and work and between work and lunch does not qualify for reimbursement.
- 2. A full time employee or official who is regularly required to use and consistently uses his/her private vehicle in carrying out day-to-day assignments may be compensated for the use of his/her private vehicle at the approved rate.
- 3. Accurate and substantiated mileage must be maintained and submitted to the Finance Department for reimbursement.
- 4. The mileage reimbursement request must be signed by the full time employee requesting the reimbursement and the department head/elected official. All mileage reimbursement requests shall be filed with the Finance Department. The Finance Director may employ any reasonable means of checking the validity of the mileage reimbursement requests.
- Personal Vehicle Assignment shall be considered when a vehicle is needed occasionally and other types of vehicle assignments are not available.
- 6. The Mayor shall be responsible for assessing functional needs for vehicles and for approving vehicle assignments within the regulations established by this policy. All Exclusive Assignments, Eight-Hour Assignments, and Pool Assignments shall be evaluated annually by the Risk Management Committee for compliance with this policy.

All vehicle assignments, including use of personal vehicles for MBCG business, are subject to financial constraints imposed by the MBCG County Commission as part of the annual budgeting process.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Driver Responsibilities

All drivers who operate vehicles owned by, titled to or otherwise controlled by the MBCG are responsible for proper care, use and safety of MBCG property. Drivers must adhere to the following minimum responsibilities:

- Possess and maintain valid Georgia driver's license approved for the vehicle class appropriate for the MBCG vehicle operated by the employee
- 2. Exercise best judgment in obeying all traffic rules, regulations, and laws
- 3. All drivers and all passengers must wear seat belts at all times when the vehicle is in operation
- 4. Ensure that vehicles are used for authorized purposes only
- 5. Ensure that vehicles are maintained within the manufacturer's safe standards of operation
- 6. Report to the supervisor any damage or breakdown of vehicular equipment immediately
- 7. Report any and all accidents or motor vehicle collisions to the supervisor as soon as possible following the accident
- 8. Accept legal responsibility for violations and fines resulting from actions of the driver
- 9. Attend MBCG's defensive driving course at least once every three (3) years. New hires whose job duties require operation of a MBCG vehicle must attend the defensive driving course within ninety (90) days of the date of hire. Other employees must attend the defensive driving course before operating a MBCG vehicle where possible, but in no circumstance shall more than sixty (60) days elapse between the time the employee

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

begins operating a MBCG vehicle in the course of job duties and the employee's participation in the defensive driving course

- Refrain from transporting excessive loads or unsecured equipment or movable items
- 11. Refrain from operating a MBCG vehicle when the employee has consumed alcohol or used illegal drugs or improperly used legal drugs
- 12. Adhere to any guidelines which may be set forth by the Mayor and/or County Commission for purposes of fuel conservation, air quality or other initiatives established in the Green Policies and Practices Manual
- 13. Adheres to MBCG's Anti-Idling Policy

Motor Vehicle Record

Full-time employees hired in positions requiring use of a MBCG vehicle will be asked to sign a release, giving the MBCG Department of Human Resources permission to obtain a copy of their motor vehicle driving record.

Full-time employees whose job duties do not require use of a MBCG vehicle, but who are asked to drive a MBCG vehicle by their supervisor or department head, will be asked to sign a release, giving the MBCG Department of Human Resources permission to obtain a copy of their motor vehicle driving record.

The Risk Management staff will obtain motor vehicle records on full-time employees every two (2) years if their job duties require use of a MBCG vehicle or if they may occasionally be asked to drive MBCG vehicles by their superior.

Driving Under the Influence

Any MBCG employee arrested for driving under the influence of alcohol or any substance shall automatically have privileges to drive or operate any MBCG vehicle suspended for a period of three (3) years.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Use of Seat Belts

All persons, while riding in or while operating a MBCG vehicle or motoring equipment, must wear seat belts at all times while the vehicle is in operation. For purposes of this policy, a vehicle or motorized equipment is in operation when the engine is on.

Texting while driving

Texting while driving is illegal in the State of Georgia and is also in violation of this policy. MBCG employees are strictly prohibited from using a wireless telecommunications device to write, send, or read any text based communication, including, but not limited to, a text message, instant message, electronic mail, or any internet data while operating a motor vehicle. This prohibition applies even when the vehicle is stopped at a traffic light. In accordance with Georgia law, these activities may be conducted only when the vehicle is legally parked and the engine is turned off.

Commercial Vehicle Use

A commercial vehicle is identified by class, weight and/or use. Operation of a commercial vehicle requires a valid Commercial Driver's License (CDL). No MBCG employee shall be permitted to operate any commercial vehicle without a valid CDL.

A CDL is required to operate any of the following vehicles:

- 1. A single vehicle with a Gross Vehicle Weight Rating ("GVWR") of more than 26,000 pounds
- 2. A trailer with an OVWR of more than 10,000 pounds if the gross combination weight rating (for both vehicle and trailer) is more than 26,000 pounds.
- 3. A vehicle designed to transport more than fifteen (15) people (including the driver).
- 4. Any size vehicle which requires hazardous materials placards.

Use of Commercial Equipment

1. Any time a commercial truck is parked, the brakes must be set and the wheels chocked.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

- 2. Dump beds on trucks having dump beds will not be raised during idle time.
- 3. Drivers must perform a pre-trip inspection on both truck and equipment before leaving the yard. Functionalities which must be checked include lights, turn signals, air brake check, safety equipment, tires, air hoses and connections.
- 4. Drivers must keep the cab free of debris such as paper, rags and loose objects such as tools.

Use of Off-Road Equipment

- 1. All off-road equipment must have appropriate fire extinguisher.
- 2. If equipment is left at a work site, the same must be left in a lighted area whenever possible to deter vandalism or theft.
- 3. Full-time employees must be properly trained and certified, where certification is required, before operating any heavy equipment.

Use of Vehicle Containing Hazardous Materials

The MBCG vehicles containing equipment, materials, or supplies which may be classified as hazardous materials are strictly prohibited from being outside the assigned or dispatched work area or route. Vehicles containing hazardous materials shall not travel or be parked on private property without specific authorization from the property owner and with the prior knowledge of the department supervisor or director. Unauthorized use of MBCG vehicles containing hazardous materials is strictly prohibited. Violation of this policy will result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

Safety Review Board Ordinance

The rules, regulations and penalties set forth in the Safety Review Board provisions of the MBCG Code of Ordinances must be followed, where applicable. These provisions are codified in Sections 2-311 through 2-319 of the MBCG Code of Ordinances.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

Violations

Any person violating these vehicle regulations must appear before the Mayor and will be held accountable for his or her actions. Violations of this policy may result in disciplinary action.

Tax Consequences

The taxable benefit received by full-time employees from the personal use of MBCGowned vehicles shall be reported pursuant to the following Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") valuation methods:

- A. Lease Value Rule. The value of an automobile provided to a full-time employee is determined by using its annual lease value, based upon the IRS published Annual Lease Value Table. The annual lease value is applicable for a four-year period. At the end of the fourth year, the lease value must be recalculated. The annual lease value does not include the value of fuel, which must be calculated separately. Pursuant to IRS Announcement 85-113, a special accounting period may be utilized for calculating and reporting the benefit. The MBCG utilizes the annual reporting period of November 1 through October31.
- B. Commuting Rule. The value of a vehicle provided to a full-time employee for use is determined by multiplying each one way commute by \$1.50, which includes the cost of fuel. The calculated amount must be included in the full-time employee's wages or reimbursed by the full-time employee. This rule can be used if all the following requirements are met:
 - 1. The vehicle is provided for use in the trade or business and, for bona fide non-compensatory business reasons, the employer requires the full-time employee to commute in the vehicle.
 - 2. The employer establishes a written policy under which full-time employees are not allowed to use the vehicle for personal purposes other than commuting or de minimis personal uses.
 - 3. The full-time employee does not use the vehicle for personal purposes other than commuting and de minimis personal use.

Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013

4. If the vehicle is an automobile (any four wheeled vehicle, such as a car, pickup truck, or van), the full-time employee who uses it for commuting is not a control full-time employee.

Employees who have questions concerning the tax consequences of personal use of MBCG-owned vehicles should contact a representative of the Finance Department.

SECTION 10: ANNEXES

10.01
10.02

ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

RESERVED

REQUEST/REPORT FOR TIME OFF

NAME:	DATE OF REQUEST:					
FULL DAY(S) REQUESTED OFF						
Date(s) / Time Red	quested Off:					
# Annual Leave Hours		# Sick Leave Hours	# Uı	npaid Hours		
 Time off arou Coverage iss time off. 	und holidays will not ues, who worked oth airline tickets or rer	ned in to your supervisor as be approved until everyone ner holidays, and in the even ntal down payments, etc. will	in the department t of a tie, seniority, v	has made their will determine wl	requests known. no gets approved	
□ Approved						
☐ Denied	Employee Signature Authorization Signature					
Reason for time a	quested Off:	QUEST TO BE TARDY Sick Leave Annual	☐ Unpaid Leave	□ Make Up	□ Exempt	
 While exempt employees do not have to record hours worked, the positions are designed for at least 40 hours per week. Excessive time away from work during regularly scheduled hours may result in corrective action. Unless there is an emergency situation, approval must be given in advance to allow time to arrange for coverage of position while employee is away. If there is an emergency situation, employees should call their Department Head to report their tardiness, and when they might be expected. If employees are incapacitated and cannot call, they should have someone call on their behalf to inform HR. 						
□ Approved						
☐ Denied	Employee Signa	ature	Authorization	on Signature		
Approved and Adopted, December 31, 2013 MBCG Policies and Procedures						